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PARTI

Ttem 1. Business.

Eldorado Resorts, Inc., a Nevada corporation, is referred to as the “Company,” "ERL " or the "Regisitrant, * and together With its
: Y,
subsidiaries may also be referved to as “we,” “us” or “our.”

Overview

We are a geographically diversified gaming and hospitality company. As of December 31, 2018, we owned 28 gaming facilities in 13 states.
Our properties, which are located in Ohio, Eounisiana, Nevada, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Colorado, Flerida, Towa, Mississippi,
Tilinois, Indiana and Missouri, feature approximately 30,000 slot machines and video totiery terminals (“VLTs”), approximately 800 table games and
approximately 12,600 hotel rooms. Our primary source of revenue is generated by gaming operations, and we utilize our hotels, restaurants, bars,
entertainment, racing, retail shops and other services to attract customers to our properties.

We were founded in 1973 by the Carano family with the opening of the Eldorado Hote} Casino in Reno, Nevada. In 1993, we partnered with
MGM Resorts International to build Sitver Legacy Resort Casino (“Silver Legacy™), the first mega-themed resort in Reno. Tn 2005, we acquired our
firs property outside of Reno when we purchased a casino in Shreveport, Louisiana, now known as Eldorado Shreveport. In September 2014, we
merged with MTR Gaming Group, Tne. and acquired its three gaming and racing facilities in Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia. The following
year, in November 2015, we acquired Circus Circus Reno (“Circus Reno™) and the 50% membership interest in the Silver Legacy that was owned by
MGM Resorts International. On May 1, 2017, we completed our acquisition of Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc, (“Isle” or “Isle of Capri™), adding 13
gaming properties to our portfolio. On August 7, 2018, we acquired the Elgin Riverboat Resort — Riverboat Casino dfb/a Grand Victoria Casing
{(“Elgin™) (“Elgin Acquisition”). On October 1, 2018, we completed our acquisition of Tropicana Entertainment, Inc. (“Tropicana”), adding scven
properties to our portfolio (the “Tropicana Acquisition”).

We own 22 of our casinos and lease or manage our remaining casinos, including five casinos that are subject to a master leasc with GLP
Capital, L.P., the operating partnership of Gaming and Leisure Properties, Inc. (“GLPIT™), that we entered into in connection with the Tropicana
Acquisition on Qctober 1, 2018 (the “Master Lease™). (See fulf description under “Master Lease™),
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Properties

The foliowing table sets forth certain information regarding our properties (listed by
and for the year ended December 31, 2018:

West Region:
Eldorado Resort Casino Renoe
Silver Legacy Resort Casino
Circus Circus Reno
MontBlen Casino Resort & Spa
Tropicana Laughlin Hotel and Casino
Tske Casino Hotel - Black Hawk
Lady Luck Casino - Black Hawk
Midwest Region:
Isle Casino Waterloo
Isle Casino Bettendorfl
Isle of Capri Casino Boonville
Isle Casino Cape Girardeau
Lady Luck Casino Caruthersville
Islé of Capri Casino Kansas City
South Region: )
1sle Casino Racing Pompano Park
_Eldorado Resort Casino Shreveport
Isle of Capri Casino Lula
Lady Luck Casino Vicksburg

Iste of Capri Casino Hotel Lake Charles

‘Belle of Baton Rouge Casino & Hotel

"Trop Casino Greenviile
East Region: o
Presque Isle Downs & Casino (1)
Lady Luck Casino Nemacolin (1)
Eldorado Gaming Scioto Downs
Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack &
Resort

Tropicana Casiho and Resort, Atia;}tic_ ]

Crty
Central Region:
Grand Victoria Casino
Lumiére Place Casino
“Tropicana Evansville
Total

{1} We sold Presque Iste Downs & Casino in January 2019 and have entered into an agreement to sell Lady

the segment in which each property is reported) as of

Slot Approximate
Year Machines Table and Hotel Casino Square
Acquired and VLTs Polier Games Rooms Footage
NiA 1,117 36 814 71,500
2015 1,119 61 1,685 90,100
2015 722 WA 1,571 65,500
2018 474 .17 438 45,000
2018 295 20 1,487 53,700
2017 966 38 238 28,900
2017 442 7 164 14,900
2017 939 23 194 39,300
2017 969 15 509 36,700
2017 881 20 140 26,600
2017 863 - 24 WA 41,500 -
2017 507 9 N/A 21,000
2017 938 13 NiA 39,800
2017 1,596 39 N/A 45,000
2005 1,388 60 403 80,600
2017 262 25 486 57,000 -
2017 607 N/A 89 25,000
2017 1,164 45 493 26,200
2018 773 14 288 28,500
2018 590 10 40 22,800
2014 1,596 39 N/A 59,400
2017 600 28 N/A 24,700
2014 2,238 “N/A N/A 130,000
2014 1,486 46 357 75,500
2018 2,464 125 2,366 128,000
2018 1,088 30 N/A 36,700
2018 1,401 58 494 75,000
2018 1,128 41 338 45 400
29,813 843 12,504 1,434,300

Luck Casino Nemacolin sale is expected to close in the first quarter of 2019.

West Region

The West segment consists of seven properties in Nevada and Colorado.
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Eldorado Resort Casino Reno

Fidorado Resort Casino Reno (“Eldorado Reno™) is a premier hotel, casino and entertainment facility. The interior of the hotel is designed to
create a Furopean ambiance where hotel guests enjoy panoramic views of Reno’s skyline and the majestic Sierra Nevada mountain range. Eldorado
Reno is centrally located in downtown Reno, Nevada. Eldorado Reno includes a casine, 11 restaurants, a showroom, VIP room, retail shops,
convention center and an outdoor plaza located diagonal to Eldorado Reno which hosts a variety of special evenis. Eldorado Reno is connecied
with our other two Reno properties, Silver Legacy and Circus Reno, in a “seamless” manner by enclosed climate controlled skywalks (branded as
<the Row”). The Row draws from residents of the Reno area as weil as tourist visitation from porthern California and the Pacific Northwest.

Silver Legacy Resort Casino

Silver Legacy is the taliest building in northern Nevada consisting of 37-, 34- and 3 1-floor tiers. Silver Legacy’s opulent interior showcasesa
casino built around Sam Fairchild’s 120-foot tall mining rig, which appears to mine for silver. The rig is situated benecath a 180-foot diameter dome,
which is a distinctive landmark on the Rene skyline. The Silver Legacy is centrally located in downtown Reno, Nevada and offers a casine, six
restaurants, including the recently opened Ruth’s Chris Steak House, a 21,000 square-foot spa which opened in the fourth quarter of 2018, The Spa
at Silver Legacy, an outdoor swimming pool and sundeck and retail shops.

Cireus Circus Reno

Circus Reno is an iconic, circus-themed hotel-casino and entertainment complex with two hotel towers. It is conveniently located as the first
casino directly off Interstate 80 when entering downtown Reno, Nevada. Circus Reno offers a casino, eight dining venues including a recently
renovated food court, a midway featuring over 150 games, live circus acts, an arcade and a full service wedding chapel.

Isle Casino Hotel-Black Hawk

Tsle Casino Hotel-Biack Hawk (“Isle Black Hawk™) is one of the first gaming facilities reached by customers arriving from Denver via
Highway 119, the main theroughfare connecting Denver to Black Hawk. Black Hawk is located approximately 40 miles east of the Denver, Colorado
metropolitan area which serves as Isle Black Hawk’s primary feeder market. The property includes a casino, hotel, three dining venues,
approximately 5,000 square feet of flexible space that can be used for meetings and special events, along with numerous surface parking spaces and
an attached parking garage. Isle Black Hawk is connected to our Lady Luck Casino-Black Hawk property via sky bridges.

Lady Luck Casino-Black Hawk

Lady Luck Casino-Black Hawk (“Lady Luck Black Hawk™) is located across the intersection of Main Street and Mill Street from the Isle Black
Hawk. The property consists of a easino, hotel, a restaurant, approximately 2,250 square feet of flexible space that can be used for meetings and
special events, along with numerous surface parking spaces. Lady Luck Black Hawk is connected to our Isle Casino Hotel-Black Hawk property via
sky bridges. The Denver, Colorado metropolilan area also serves as Lady Luck Black Hawk’s primary feeder market.

Tropicana Laughtin Hotel and Casino

Tropicana Laughlin Hotel and Casino ("Tropicana Laughlin") is located on an approximately 31-acre site on Casino Drive, Laughlin,
Nevada's principal thoroughfare. Amenities include a hotel, a heated outdeor swimming pool, seven restaurants, an entertainment lounge with live
music, a premium lounge for high-end players, an 800-seat muiti-purpose showroom and concert hall, meeting and convention space, retail stores,
an arcade and a covered parking structure, Tropicana Laughlin primarily draws customers from southern California and Arizona.

MontBleu Casino Resort & Spa

MontBleu Casino Resort & Spa (“MontBleu”) is situated on approximately 21 acres in South Lake Tahoe, Nevada surrounded by the Sierra
Nevada Mountains. In addition to the casino, the property offers hotel, three restaurants and various non-gaming amenities, including retail
shops, two nighteiubs, a 1,300-scat showroom, approximately 14,000 square feet of meeting and convention space, 4 parking garage, & full-service
health spa and workout area, an indeor heated lagoon-style pool with whirkpool and a 110-seat wedding chapel. MontBleu’s primary feeder markets

include Northern California, the Reno area and the Pacific Northwest.




Midwest Region

The Midwest segment consists of six properties, four of which are dockside casinos and two land-based casinos, located in Towa and
Missouri.

Isle Casino Waterloo

Isle Casino Waterloo (“Waterloo™) is Jocated in fowa adjacent to Highway 218 and US 20. The property consists ofa single-level land-based
casino and offers a wide variety of non-gaming amenities including a hotel and three restaurants. Waterloo primarily draws customers from within a
twenly-five mile radius of the property. The property also attracts custormers from Cedar Rapids and Mason City, Iowa.

Isle Casino Bettendorf

Isle Casino Bettendorf (“Bettendorf”) is located in lowa off Interstate 74, an interstate highway serving the Quad Cities metropolitan area,
which consists of Bettendorf and Davenport, lowa and Moline and Rock Island, fllinois. Bettendorf consists of a land-based casino, three dining
venues, two hotel towers and 40,000 square feet of convention and banquet space. The Quad Cities metropolitan area currently has threc gaming
operations, including our gaming facility, and is the main feeder market for Bettendorf,

Isle of Capri Casino Boonville

Isle of Capri Casino Boonville (“Boonville™) is located in Missouri three miles off Interstate 70, approximately halfway between Kansas City
and St. Louis. It is the only gaming facility in central Missouri. The property consists of a single {evel dockside casino, three dining venues and
offers a 32,400 square foot pavilion and entertainment center. Boonville attracts customers primarily from the Columbia and Jefferson City areas.

Isle Casino Cape Girardeau

Tsle Casino Cape Girardeau (“Cape Girardeau™) is located three and a half mikes from Interstate 55 in Southeast Missouri, approximately 120
miles south of St. Louis, Missouri. Cape Girardeau consists of & dockside casino, three dining venues and a pavilion and entertainment center with
a wide variety of non-gaming amenities, including an events center, and overlooks the Mississippi river. Cape Girardeau primarily attracts
customers from within a fifty-mile radius of the propetty.

Lady Luck Casino Caruthersville

Lady Luck Casino Caruthersvilie (“Caruthersville”} is a riverboat casino located in Missouri along the Mississippi River in Southeast
Missouri. Caruthersville consists of a dockside casino, two dining venues, a 40,000 square foot pavilion and a 28-space RV park. Cape Girardeau is
located approximately 85 miles north of Caruthersville. Caruthersville draws a significant amount of customers from the state of Tennessee
including the communities of Dyersburg and Jackson. The property also attracts customers from Blytheville, Paragould and Jonesboero, Arkansas.

Isle of Capri Casine Kansas Cily

Isle of Capri Kansas City ("Kansas City™) consists of 2 dockside casino and two dining venues. It is the closest gaming facility to
downtown Kansas City, Missouri. Kansas City aftracts customers primarily from the Kansas City metropolitan area.

South Region

The South segment consists of seven properties, including five dockside casinos in Louisiana and Mississippi, one land-based casine in
Mississippi and one racino in Florida.

Isle Casino Racing Pompano Park

Isle Casino Racing Pompano Park (“Pompano™), 2 casino and harness racing track located in Pompano Beach, Florida, is located off
Interstate 95 and the Florida Turnpike on a 223-acre owned site, near Fort Lauderdale, midway between Miami and West Palm Beach. Pompano
offers four dining venues and is the only racetrack licensed to conduct harness racing in Flerida. Tn April 2018, we announced the formation ofa
joint venture with the Cordish Companies (“Cordish™) to master plan and develop a mixed-use entertainment and hospitality destination expected
to be located on unused land adjacent to the casino and racetrack, Pompano primarily attracts custorers from with a 25-mile radius of the property.
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Eldorado Resort Casino Shreveport

Fldorado Resort Casino Shreveport (“Eldorado Shreveport”) is a premier resort with a tri-level riverboat casino and an all-suite art deco-style
hotel located in Shreveport, Louisiana adjacent to Interstate 20, a major highway that connects the Shreveport market with the atiractive feeder
markets of East Texas and Dallas/Fort Worth, Texas. The property offers five restaurants, including a pourmet steakhousc, and a 380-seat grand
ballroom. The principal target markets for Eldorade Shreveport are patrons from the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex and East Texas, which provides
Eldorado Shreveport access to a large customer base within approximately 200 miles of Shreveport.

Isle of Capri Casino Lula

Isle of Capri Casino Lula (“Lula”} is located off of Highway 49, the only road crossing the Mississippi River between Mississippi and
Arkansas for more than 50 miles in either direction. Lula consists of two dockside casinos, three dining venues arid 2 tand-based pavition and
entertainment center, Lula draws a significant amount of business from the Litile Rock, Arkansas metropolitan area, which is located approximately
120 miles west of the property. Lula is aiso located approximately 60 miles southwest of Memphis, Tennessee.

Lady Luck Casine Vicksburg

Lady Luck Vicksburg (“Vicksburg™) is located off Intcrstate 20 and Highway 61 in western Mississippi, approximately 50 miles west of
Jackson, Mississippi, and consists of a dockside casino, hotel and four dining venues. Vicksburg’s customers are drawn, primarily from within a 60-
mile radius of the property.

Isle of Capri Casino Hotel Lake Charles

Isie of Capri Casino Hotel Lake Charles (“Lake Charles™ is located on a 19-acre site along Interstate 10, the main thoroughfare connecting
Houston, Texas to Lake Charles, Louisiana. Lake Charles offers a dockside casino, three dining venues and a 14,750 square foot entertainment
center comprised of a 1,142-seat special events center designed for concerts, banquets and other events, meeting facilities and administrative
offices. Lake Charles is the closest gaming market to the Houston metropolitan area, which is focated approximately 140 miles west of Lake Charles.
Lake Charles attracts customers primarily from southeast Texas and from local residents.

Trop Casino Greenville

Trop Casino Greenville {(“Greenville™), located in Greenville, Mississippi, is a Jand-based gaming facility with slot machines and table games,
two restaurants, a bar and 734 onsite parking spaces. The property also leases and operates the Greenville Ina & Suites, located less than a mile
from the casino, and offers free shuttle service to and from Greenville. The property draws custorners primarily from the local market and, to some
extent, from the Little Rock, Vicksburg and Tunica markets,

Belle of Baton Rouge Casino & Hotel

Belle of Baton Rouge Casino & Hotel (“Baton Rouge”) is a dockside riverboat situated on approximately 23 acres on the Mississippi River
in the downtown historic district of Baton Rouge, Louisiana. Amenities include a hotel, 25,000 square feet of meeting space, an outdoor pool, 2
fitness center, three dining venues and an enfertainment venue inside a 56,000-squarc-foot glass atrium. The majority of Baton Rouge’s customers
are drawn from within a 50-mile radius of the property.

East Region

The East segment consists of five preperties, including three racinos located in Pennsylvania, Ohio and West Virginia, and two casinos in
Pennsylvania and New Jersey.

Presque Isle Downs & Casino

Presque Isle Downs & Casino (“Presque Isle Downs™) is a casino and live thoroughbred horse racing facility located along Interstate 90 in
Erie, Pennsylvania. The property offers live thoroughbred horse racing conducted from May through September and on-site pari-mutuel wagering
and thoroughbred and harness racing simulcast from other prominent tracks, as well as wagering on Presque Isle Downs’ races. Additionalty, the
property offers four dining venues. Presque Isle Downs’ primary customers are locals or customers who reside within shorter distances from the
property.



Lady Luck Casina Nemacolin

Lady Luck Casino Nemacolin ¢“Nemacolir”) is a casino tocated on the 2,000-acre Nemacoiin Woodlands Resort in Western Pennsylvania.
Nemacolin is the only casino in Fayette County, Pennsylvania. The property offers one dining eption. Nemacotiin attracts customers staying af the
Nermacolin Woodiands Resort as well as from the 2.5 million people who reside within 60 miles of the property.

Eldorade Gaming Scioto Downs

Eldorado Gaming Scioto Downs (“Scioto Downs™) is a modern “racino” located in the heart of central Ohio, off Highway 23/South High
Street, approximately cight miles from downfown Columbus. Sciolo Downs is one of only two licensed gaming facilities in the Columbus area.
Scioto Downs racino offers live standard bred hamess horse racing conducted from May through mid-September and on-site pari-mutuel wagering
and thoroughbred, harness and greyhound racing simuicast from other prominent tracks, as well as wagering on Scioto Downs’ races. Scioto
Downs also offers three dining venues and a 118-room third party hotel connected to the casino. Scioto Downs atiracts customers primarily from
the greater Columbus area.

In addition, Scioto Downs, through its subsidiary RacelineBet, Inc., also operates Racelinebet.com, a national account wagering service that
offers online and telephone wagering on horse races as a marketing affiliate of TwinSpires.com, an affiliate of Churchill Downs Incorporated.

Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack & Resort

Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack & Resort (“Mountaineer™) is a hotel, casino, entertainment and live thoroughbred horse racing facility
located on the Ohio River af the northern tip of West Virginia's northwestern panhandle approximately thirty miles from the Pittsburgh
International Airport and a one-hour drive from downtown Pittsbureh. Mountaineer is a diverse gaming, entertainment and convention complex
offering live thoroughbred horse racing conducted from March throngh December and on-site pari-mutuef wagering and thorou ghbred, harness
and greybound racing simuicast from other prominent tracks as well as wagering on Mountaineer’s races. Additionally, the property offers five
dining venues. Mountaineer attracts customers primarily from the greater Pittsburgh arca.

Tropicana Casino and Resort, Atlantic City

Tropicana Casine and Resort, Atlantic City (“Trop AC™) is situated on approximately 15 acres with approximately 660 feet of ocean frontage
in Atlantic City, New Jersey. Located within driving distance from the densely populated New York-to-Washington D.C. corridor, the Atlantic City
market typically attracts day-izip and overnight customers from within a 300-mile radius. Trop AC is one of the larger propertics in Atlantic City
featuring four hotel towers and the adjacent Chelsea Hote! in addition to approximately 124,800 square feet of gaming space. The property also
features The Quarter, a Havana-themed, Las Vegas-style, approximately 200,000 square-foot indoor entertainment and retail center, 23 restaurants,
nightclubs, shops and an IMAX theatre. Other amenities include a 2,000-seat showroom, an up-scale Disco themed nightelub, a full-service spa
and salon, a health club and indoor pool, a beach and pool bar and approximately 99,000 square feet of meeting and convention space.

Central Region

The Central segment consists of three propetties located in Indiana, Tinois and Missouri.

Tropicana Evansville

Tropicana Evansville (“Evansville”) is a Jarge casino hotel and entertainment complex and a popular attraction in Evansville, the third largest
city in the state of Indiana. The property serves customers in the tri-state region of southern Indiana, southeastern Illinois and western Kentucky
and is the onty full-service casino within an 83.mile radius. The land-based complex, which is anchored on each end by two hotels and
encompasses approximately 79,000 square feet of enclosed space, includes approximately 45,000 square feet of casino floor, four dining venues, an
entertainment lounge and back of house space.



Lumiére Place Casino

Lumiére Place Casino (“Lumiére”) is located on approximately 20 acres in historic downtown St. Louis, Missouri near business and
entertainment districts and overlooks the Mississippi River. Its location provides significant foot traftic from nearby venues inciuding The [Dome at
America's Center, a multi-purpose stadium and convention center which is connected to Lumiére viaa pedestrian tunnel, the Gateway Arch and
Busch Stadium. In addition to the casino, the Lumiére complex inctudes the all-suites HoteLumiére, the luxury Four Seasons Hotel St. Louis, three
full service restaurants, retail shops, indoer pool and fitness center, full service spa and 28,000 square feet of meeting and convention space.

Grand Victoria Casino

The Elgin Riverboat Resort — Riverboat Casino d/b/a Grand Victoria Casino (“Elgin™) is located in Elgin, Tlinois approximately 40 miles west
of downtown Chicago along the banks of the Fox River. The property features a dock-side casino and four dining venues. H also offers
approximately 7,500 square feet of meeting, event and banquet space, a 1,450-space parking garage and additional surface parking for 600 vehicles.

Master Lease

The Master Lease provides for the lease of land, buildings, structures and other improvements o1 the land (including barges and
riverhoats), easements and similar appurienances to the land and improvements relating to the operation of the Jeased properties. (ur properties
that are currently subject to the Master Lease are Trop AC, Laughlin, Greenville, Baton Rouge and Evansville. The Master Lease provides for an
initial term of fifteen years with no purchase option. At our option, the Master Lease may be extended for up to four five-year renewal terms
peyond the initial 15-year term. If we elect o renew the term of the Master Lease, the renewal will be effective as to all, but not less than all, of the
leased property then subject to the Master Lease. We do not have the ability to terminate its obligations under the Master Lease prior to its
expiration without GLPE's consent. The obligations of the tenant under the Master Lease are guaranteed by ERL

The rent payable under the Master Lease is comprised of “Base Rent” and “Percentage Rent.” Base rent is the sum of:

. Building Base Rent: a fixed component equal to $60.9 million during the first year of the Master Lease, and thereafler escalated annuaily
by 2%, subject to a cap that would cause the preceding year’s adjusted revenue to rent ratio for the properties in the aggregate notto
fall below 1.20:1.00 for the first five years of the Master Lease and 1.80:1.60 thereafter; plus

. Land Base Rent: & fixed component equal to $13.4 million, subject to adjustment in the event of the termination of the Master Lease with
respect to any of the leased propetties.

The percentage rent payable under the Master Lease is adjusted every two years based on the actual net revenues of the leased properties
during the two-year period then ended. The initial variable rent percentage, which is fixed for the first two years, is $13.4 miilion per year. The actual
percentage increase is based on actual performance and may changs materially.

The Master Lease is commonly known as a triple net lease, Accordingly, in addition to rent, we are required to pay the following, among
other things: (i) lease payments to the underlying ground lessor for properties that are subject to ground leases; (ii) facility maintenance costs; (iit)
all insurance premiums for insurance with respect to the leased properties and the business conducted on the leased properties; (iv) taxes levied on
or with respect to the leased properties (other than taxes on the income of the lessor): and (v) all utilities and other services necessary or
appropriate for the leased properties and the business conducted on the leased properties.

The foregoing summary of the Master Lease is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Master Lease, which has been filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. It was determined that the Master Lease did not meet the requirements of & normal leaseback under
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 840 “Leases” due to prohibited forms of continuing involvement and is therefore accounted foras a
financing obligation.




Business Strengths and Strategy
Personal service and high-qualily amenities

We focus on custemer satisfaction and delivering superior guest experiences. We seek to provide our customers with an extraordinary level
of personal service and popular gaming, dining and entertainment experiences designed to exceed customer expectations in a clean, safe, friendly
and fan environment. Our senjor management is actively involved jn the daily operations of our properties, frequently interacting with gaming,
hotei and restaurant patrons to ensure that they are recciving the highest level of personal atiention. Management believes that personal service is
an integral part of fostering customer loyalty and generating repeat business. We continually monitor our casino operations to react to chan ging
market conditions and customer demands. We target both premium-play and value-conscious gaming patrons with differentiated offerings at our
state-of-the-art casinos, which feature the latest in game technology, innovative bonus options, dynamic signage, customer-convenient features
and non-gaming amenities ata reasonable value and price point. As we acquire properties, we have the ability to connect systems and market to
our new customers by offering the benefits of eur One Club player loyalty program which allows players to earn and redeem rewards across our
portiolio,

Diversified portfolio across markets and customer segrents

We are geographically diversified across the United States, with no single property accounting for more than 14% of our net revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2018 after giving pro forma effect to the Elgin Acquisition and Tropicana Acquisition, Our customer pool draws from a
diversified base of both local and out-of-town patrons. We have also impiemented changes to our marketing strategies to reach more potential
customers through targeted direct mail, expanded electronic communications and cross-property marketing initiatives. We believe we have
assembled a platform on which we can continue to grow and provide & differentiated customer experience.

Muanagement team with deep gaming industry experience and strong local relationships

We have a management team that includes senior executives with significant experience in the gaming and finance indusiries. Our extensive
management experience, ability to identify attractive acquisition opportunitics and implement cur operating sirategies to realize synergics and
unwavering commitment to our team members, guests and equity holders have been the primary drivers of our strategic goals and success. We
take pride in our reinvestment in our properties and the communities we support along with empbasizing our family-style approach to build loyalty
among our team members and guests. We will continue to focus on the future growth and diversification of our company while maintaining our

core values and striving for operationat excellence.

Betting, Ouline Gaming and Development Opportunities
William Hill

In September 2018, we entered into a 25-year agrecment, which became effective January 2019, with William Hill PLC and William Hilt US, its
U.S. subsidiary (together, “William Hill”) pursuant to which we (i) granted to William Hill the right to conduct betting activities in retail channels
and under our first skin and third skin for online channels with respect to our current and fufure properties located in the United States and the
territories and possessions of the United States, including Puerto Rico and the U.8. Virgin Tslands and (ii) agreed that William Hill will have the
right to conduct real money online gaming activities utilizing our second skin available with respect to properties in such territory. Pursuant to the
terms of the agreement, in January 2019 we received a 20% equity stake in William Hilt US as well as 13.4 million ordinary shares of William Hili PLC,
and we will Teceive a revenue share from the operation of retail betting and online betting and paming activities. “Gkin” in the context of this
agreement refers to Eldorado’s ability to grant to William Hill an enline channel that allows William Hill to operate online casino and sports gaming
activities in reliance on, and utilizing the benefit of, any licenses granted {0 Eldorado or its subsidiaries.

The Stars Group

n November 2018, we entered into a 20-year agreement with The Stars Group Ine. (“TSG”) pursuant to which we agreed to provide TSG with
options to obtain access to our second skin for online sports wagering and third skin for real money online gaming and poker, in each case with
respect to our properties in the Unpited States. Under the terms of the agreement, we will receive a revenue share from the operation of the
applicable verticals by TSG under our licenses. Pursnant to the terms of the TSG agreement, we received 1.1 million TSG common shares and we
may receive an additional $5.0 mitlion in TSG comumon shares upon the exercise of the first option by TSG. We may also receive additional TSG
common shares in the future based on TSG net gaming revenue generated in our markets.
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Pompano

In April 2018, we entered into a joint venture with Cordish to master pian and develop a mixed-use entertainment and hospitality destination
expected to be located on unused land adjacent to the casino and racetrack at our Pompano property. As the managing member, Cordish will
operate the business and manage the development, construction, financing, marketing, leasing, maintenance and day-to-day operation of the
various phases of the project. Additionally, Cordish wilf be responsible for the development of the master plan for the project with our input and
will subrmit it for our review and approval. We and Cordish have made initial cash contributions of $250,000 each and could be required to make
additional contributions to a maximum of $2.0 million ($1.0 million per member) at the request of the managing member. We have agreed o
contribute land to the joint venture for the project. We will participate evenly with Cordish in the profits and losses of the joint venture.

Competition

The gaming industry is characterized by an increasingly high degree of competition and competition is intense in most of the markets in
which we operate. We compete with a variety of gaming operations, including Jand-based casinos, dockside casinos, riverboat casinos, casinos
located on racing tracks and casinos located on Native American reservations as well as other forms of legatized gaming such as video gaming
terminals (VGTs) at bars, restaurants and truck stops. We also compete, to a fesser extent, with other forms of legatized gaming and entertainment
such as online gambling, bingo, pull tab games, card parlors, sports books, fantasy sports websites, “cruise-to-nowhere”™ operations, pari-mutuel or
telephonic betting on horse racing and dog racing, state-sponsored lotteries, jai-alai, and, in the future, may compete with gaming at other venues.
In addition, we compete more generally with other forms of ertertainment for the discretionary spending of our customers. Certain of our
competitors are large gaming companies with greater narne recognition and marketing and financial resources. In some instances, particularly in the
case of Native American casinos, our competitors pay lower taxes or no taxes. These factors create additional challenges for us in competing for
customers and accessing cash flow or financing to fund improvements for our casino and entertainment product that enable us to remain
competitive.

Governmental Gaming Regulations

The gaming and racing industries are highly regulated, and we must maintain our licenses and pay gaming faxes to continue our operations.
We are subject to extensive regulation under laws, rules and supervisory procedures primarily in the jurisdictions where our facilitics are located or
docked. These laws, rules and regulations generally concern the responsibility, financial stability and characters of the owners, managers, and
persons with financial interests in the gaming operations. If additional gaming regulations are adopted in a jurisdiction in which we operate, such
regulations could impose restrictions or costs that could have a significant adverse cffect on us. From time to time, various proposals have been
introduced in legislatures of jurisdictions in which we have operations that, if enacted, could adverscly affect the tax, regulatory, operational or
other aspects of the gaming industry and us. We do not know whether or when such legislation will be enacted. Gaming companies are currently
subject o significant state and local taxes and fees in addition to normai federal and state corporate income taxes, and such taxes and fees are
subject to increase af any time. Any material increase in these taxes or fees could adversely affect us.

Some jurisdictions, including those in which we are iicensed, empower their regulators to investigate participation by licensees in gaming
outside their jurisdiction and require access 1o periodic reports respecting those gaming activities. Violations of laws in one jurisdiction could
result in disciplinary action in other jurisdictions.

Under provisions of gaming laws in jurisdictions in which we have operations, and under our organizational documents, certain of our
securities are subject to restriction on ownership which may be imposed by specified governmental authorities. The restrictions may require a
holder of our securities to dispose of the securities or, if the holder refuses, or is unable, to dispose of the securities, we may be required to
repurchase the securities. .

A more detailed deseription of the regutations to which we are subject is contained in Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-X,
which is incorporated herein by reference.




Reporting and Record-Keeping Requirements

We are required periodically to submit detailed financial and operating reports and furnish any other information about us and our
subsidiaries that gaming authorities may require. We are required to maintain a current stock ledger that may be examiaed by gaming authorities at
any time. If any securities arc held in trust by an agent or by a nominee, the record holder may be required to disclose the identity of the beneficial
owner to gaming authorities. A failure to make such disclosure may be grounds for finding the record holder unsuitable. Gaming authorities may,
and in certain jurisdictions do, require certificates for our securities to bear a legend indicating that the securities are subject to specified gaming
laws.

Taxation

Gaming companies are typically subject to significant taxes and fees in addition to normal federal, state and local income taxes, and such
taxes and fees are subject to increase at any time. We pay substantial taxes and fees with respect to our operations. From time {0 time, federal, state,
local and provinciat legislators and officials have proposed changes in tax laws, or in the administration of such laws, affecting the gaming
industry. It is not possible to determine with certainty the likelihood of changes in tax laws or in the administration of such laws.

Internal Revenue Service Regulations

The Internal Revenue Service requires operators of casinos Jocated in the United States to file information returns for {.S. citizens, including .
names and addresses of winpers, for keno, bingo and slot machine winaings in excess of stiputated amounts. The Internal Revenue Service also
requires operators to withhold taxes on some keno, bingo and slot machine winnings of nonresident aliens. We are unable to predict the extent to
which these requirements, if extended, might impede or otherwise adversely affect operations of, and/or income from, the other games.

Regulations adopted by the Fin ancial Crimes Enforcement Network of the Treasury Department {(“FINCEN"} and the Nevada Gaming
Authorities require the reporting of currency transactions in excess of $10,000 occurring within a gaming day, including identification of the patron
by name and social security number. This reposting obligation began in May 1985 and may have resulted in the loss of gaming revenues o
jurisdictions outside the United States which are exempt from the ambit of these regulations. In addition to currency transaction reporting
requirements, suspicious financial activity is also required to be reported to FINCEN.

Other Laws and Regulations

Our businesses are subject to various federal, state and local laws and reguiations in addition to gaming regulations. These laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, restrictions and conditions concerning alcoholic beverages, food serv ice, smoking, environmenial
matters, employees and employment practices, currency transactions, taxation, zoning and building codes, and marketing and advertising, Such
laws and regulations could change or could be interpreted differently in the future, or new laws and regulations could be enacted. Material
changes, new laws or regulations, or material differences in interpretations by courts or governmental authorities could adversely affect our
operating results.

The sale of alcoholic beverages is subject {o Heensing, control and regulation by applicable local regulatory agencies. All licenses are
revocable and are not transferable. The agencies involved have fult power to limit, condition, suspend or revoke any ficense, and any disciplinary
action could, and revocation would, have a material adverse effect upon our operations.

Intelectnal Property

We use a variety of trade names, service marks, trademarks, patents and copyrights in our operations and believe that we have all the
licenses necessary to conduct our continuing operations. We have registered several service marks, trademarks, patents and copyrights with the
United States Patent and Trademark Office or otherwise acquired the licenses to use those which are material to conduct our business. We also

own patents relating to unique casino games. We file copyright applications to profect our creative artworks, which are often featured in property
branding, as well as our distinctive website content.
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Seasonality

Casine, hotel and racing operations in our markets are subject to seasonat variation. Seasonal weather conditions can {requently adversely
affect transportation routes to each of our propertics and may cause flooding and other ffects that result in the closure of our properties. Asa
result, unfavorable seasonal conditions could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Environmental Matters

We arc subject to various federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and re gulations, including those relating to the use,
storage, discharge, emission and disposal of hazardous materials and solid, animal and hazardous wastes and exposure to hazardous materials.
Such laws and regulations can impose lability on potentially responsible parties, including the owners or operators of real property, to clean up, or
contribute to the cost of cleaning up, sites at which hazardous wastes or materials were disposed of or released. In addition to investigation and
remediation liabilities that could arise under such laws and regulations, we could also face personal injuzy, properiy damage, fines or other claims
by third parties concerning environmental compliance or contamination or exposure to hazardous matesials and could be subject to significant fincs
ot penalties for any vielations. We have from time to time been responsible for investigating and remediating, or contributing to remediation costs
related to, contamination located at or near certain of our facilities, including contamination related to underground storage tanks and groundwater
contamination arising from prior uses of land on which certain of our facilities are located. In addition, we have been, and may in the future be,
required to manage, abate, remove of costain manure and wastewater generated by concentrated animal feeding operations due to our racetrack
operations, mold, lead, ashestos-containing materials or other hazardous conditions found in or on our propertics. Although we have incurred, and
expect that we will continue fo incur, costs related to the investigation, identification and remediation of hazardous materials or conditions known
or discovered to exist at our properties, those costs have not had, and are not expected to have, a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
resulis of operations or cash flow.

Employees and Labor Relations

As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately 18,700 employees. As of such date, we had 21 collective bargaining agreements covering
approximately 3,400 employees. Two coliective bargaining agrecinents are scheduled to expire in 2019, and we are currently renegotiating three
collective bargaining agreements that expired in 2018, There can be no assurance that we will be able to extend or enter into replacement
agreements. [f we are able to extend or enter into replacement agreements, there can be no assurance as to whether the terms will be on comparable
terms to the existing agreements.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our strategies,
objectives and plans for future development or acquisitions of properties or operations, as well as expectations, future operating results and other
information that is not historical information. When used in this report, the terms or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “projects,” “plans,”
“intends,” “expects,” “might,” “may,” “estimates,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “will likely continue,” and variations of such words or similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-focking statements. Specifically, forward-locking statements may include, among others, statements
concerning:

. projections of future results of operations or financial condition;

. expectations regarding our business and results of operations of our existing casino properties and prospects for future development
and expansion of sposts betting and online betting and gaming;

. expectations regarding trends that wili affect our market and the gaming industry generally and the impact of those frends on our
business and results of operations;

. our ability to comply with the covenants in the agreements governing our outstanding indebtedness;

. our ability to meet our projected debt service obligations, operating expenscs, and maintenance capilal expenditures;

. expectations regarding availabiiity of capital resources;
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. our intention to pursue development opportunities and acquisitions and our ability to obtain {inancing for, and realize the anticipated
benefits, of such development and acquisitions; and

- the impact of regulation on our business and our ability to receive and maintajn nccessary approvals for our existing properties and
future projects.

Any forward-looking statements are based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by us, is
inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control, and
are subject to change. Actual results of operations may vary materially from any forward-looking statements made herein. Forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we assume no duty to update forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that the forward-looking statements will be achieved. Undue reliance should
not be placed on any forward-looking statements. Some of the contingencies and uncertainties to which any forward-looking statement contained
herein is subject include, but are not limited to, the following:

. our substantial indebtedness and significant financial commitments, including our ebligations under the Master Lease, could adversely
affect our results of operations and our ability to service such obligations, react to changes in our markets and pursue development
and acquisition opportunities;

. restrictions and limitations in agreements governing our debt could si gnificantly affect our ability to operate out business and our
liquidity;

. risks relating to payment of a significant portion of cur cash flow as debt service and rent under the Master Lease;

. financial, operational, regulatory or other potential challenges that may arise as a result of leasing of a number of our propetties from a
single lessor;

. our facilities operate in very competitive environments and we face increasing competition, including through legalization of online
betting and gaming;

. uncertainty regarding legalization of betting and online gaming in the jurisdictions in which we operaie and conditions applicable to
obtaining the licenses required to enable our betting and online gaming partners to conduct betting and gaming activities;

. the ability to identify suitable acquisition oppertunities and realize growth and cost synergics from any future acquisitions;

. future Tnaintenance, development or expansion projects will be subject to significant development and construction risks;

. our operations are particulasly sensitive to reductions in discretionary consumer spending and are affected by changes in general
economic and market conditions;

. our gaming operations are hi ghly regulated by governmental authorities and the cost of complying or the impact of failing to comply
with such regulations;

. changes in gaming taxes and fees in jurisdictions in which we operate;

. risks relating 1o pending claims or future claims that may be brought against us;

. changes in interest rates and capital and credit markets;

. our ability to comply with certain covenants in our debt documents and the Master Lease;

. the effect of disruptions to our information technology and other systems and infrastructure;

. our ability to attract and retain customers;

. weather or road conditions limiting access to our properties;

. the effect of war, terrorist activity, acts of violence, natural disasters and other catastrophic events;

. the intense competition (o attract and retain management and key employces in the gaming industry; and

. Other factors set forth under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”
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In Jight of these and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this report might not occur. These
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, even if subsequently made available on our website or
otherwise, and we do not intend to update publicly any forward-looking staterment to reflect events or circumstances that occur after the date on
which the statement is made, except as may be required by law.

ou should also be aware that while we from time to time communicate with securities analysts, we do not disclose to them any material
non-public information, internal forecasts or other confidential business information. Therefore, you shou 1d not assume that we agree with any

statement or report issued by any analyst, irrespective of the content of the statement or report. To the extent that reports issued by securities
analysts contain projections, forecasts or opinions, those reports are not our responsibility and are not endorsed by us.

Available Information

We are required to file anmual, quarierly and other current reports and information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Recause we submit filings to the SEC electronicaily, access to this information is available at the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov). This site contains
reports and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

We make our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterty Reports on Ferm 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K, and alt amendnents to
these reports, available free of charge on our corporate website (www.eldoradoresorts.com) as s00n as reasonably practicable after such reports
are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. In addition, our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee, and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are available on our website. We will provide reasonable quantities of
clectronic or paper copies of filings free of charge upon request. Tn addition, we will provide a copy of the above referenced charters to
stockholders upon request.

References in this document to our website address do not incorporate by reference the information contained on the website into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors.
Risk Factors Relating to our Operations

Our business is sensitive fo reductions in discretionary consumer spending as a result of downturns in the economy amd other factors outside
our control

Consumer demand for casino hotel and racetrack properties such as ovrs is particularly sensitive to downturns in the economy and the
associated impact on discretionary spending on leisure activities. Changes in discretionary consumer spending or consunier preferences brought
about by factors such as perceived or actual general economic conditions, effects of declines in consumer confidence in the economy, the impact
of high energy and food costs, the increased cost of travel, the potential for continued bank failures, decreased disposable consumer income and
wealth, or fears of war and future acts of terrorism could further reduce customer demand for the amenities that we offer. In addition, increases in
gasoline prices, including increases prompted by global political and economic instabilities, can adversely affect our operations because most of
our patrons travel o our properties by car or on airlines that may pass on increases in fuel costs to passengers in the form of higher ticket prices.
Further, security concerns, lerrorist attacks and other geopolitical events can have a materjal adverse effect on leisure and business travel,
discretionary spending and other areas of econontic behavior that directly impact the gaming and enteriainment industries in general and our
business in particular. Economic downturns, geopolitical events and other related factors which impact discretionary consumer spending and other
economic events that are beyond our controt have had direct effects on our business and the tourism industry in the past and could adversely
affect us in the future.
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We face substantiol competifion in the hotel and casino industry and expect that such competition will continite

The gaming industry is characterized by an increasingly high degree of competition and competition is intense in most of the markets in
which we operate. We compete with a variety of gaming operations, including {and-based casinos, dockside casinos, riverboat casinos, casinos
[ocated on racing tracks and casinos located on Native American reservations and other forms of legalized gaming such as video gaming terminals
(VGTs) at bars, restaurants and truck stops. We also compete, to a lesser extent, with other forms of legalized gaming and entertainment such as
online gambling, bingo, pull tab games, card parlors, sports books, fantasy sports websites, “cruise-to-nowhere” operations, pari-muatuel or
telephonic betting on horse racing and dog racing, state-spensored lotteries, jai-alai, and, in the future, may compete with gaming at other venues.
In addition, we compete more generally with other forms of entertainment for the discretionary spending of our customers. Certain of our
competitors are large gaming companies with greater name recognition and marketing and financial resources. In some instances, particularly in the
case of Native American casinos, our competitors pay lower taxes or no taxes. These factors create additional challenges for us in competing for
customers and accessing cash flow or financing to fund improvements for our casino and entertainment product that enable us to remain
competitive.

In addition, states that already have legalized casino gaming may further expand gaming, and other states that have not yet legalized gaming
may do so in the future. Legalized casino gaming in these states and on Native American reservations in or near our markets or changes to gaming
laws in states in which we have operations and in states near our operations could increase competition and could adversely affect our operations.
There has been significant competition in our markets as a result of the expansion of facilities by existing market participants, the entrance of new
gaming participants inlo a market or legislative changes in prior years and expanded gaming is under consideration in certain of our markets, For
example, gaming facilities in Ohio that commenced operations in recent years present significant competition for Mountaineer, Presque Isle Bowns,
Nemacolin and Scioto Downs. In addition, the Governor of Pennsylvania signed legislation in October 2017 expanding gaming to allow foruptoten
additional casino locations, video gaming terminals (VGTs) at truck stops, interactive gaming (iGaming), gaming at airports and potentially sports
wagering. In Missouri, there are two proposals pending before the Missouri General Assembly for the expansion of gaming in the state. The
Missouri sports betting bill would allow Class B gaming licensees and daily fantasy sporis licensees to conduct sports wagering including on
mobile devices so long as such devices are located within the state of Missouri. The Missouri video lottery terminal bill would allow the state
lottery to operate video gaming terminals, similar to slot machines, at various locations distributed across the state including bars, restaurants,
veterans and fraternal organizations and convenience stores throughout the state. Each of these Bills ave in the earty stages of the law making
process and subject to st gnificant changes in proposed statutory language prior to enactment. Any such expansion of legalized gaming could
adversely impact our properties.

Casino gaming is currenily prohibited in several jurisdictions from which the Shreveport/Bossier City and Lake Charles markets draw
customers, primarily Texas. The Texas legislature has from time to time considered proposals to legalize gaming, and there can be no assurance that
casino gaming will not be approved in Texas in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on Eldorado Shreveport and Lake Charles.
Additionally, since visiters from California comprise a significant portion of our customer base in Reno, we also compete with Native American
gaming operations in California. Native American tribes are allowed to operate slot machines, lottery games and banking and percentage games on
Native American lands. A number of Native American tribes have established larpe-scale gaming facilities in California. Additionally, from time to
time the State of Florida has entered into or amended gaming compacts with Native American casinos or enacted, amended or discussed possible
changes in gaming laws which could have positive or negative impacts on out Pompano operations. In addition, various forms of internet gaming
have been approved in Nevada, New Jersey, Delaware, and Pennsylv ania, and legislation permitting internet gaming has been proposed by the
federal government and other states. The expansion of internet gaming in Nevada and ether jurisdictions could result in significant additional
competition. ’

Increased competition may require us to make substantial capital expenditures to maintain and enhance the competitive positions of our
properties to increase the atractiveness and add to the appeal of our facilities. Because a significant portion of our cash flow is required to pay
obligations under our outstanding indebtedness and the Master Lease, there can be no assurance that we will have sufficient funds to undertake
these expenditures or that we will be able to obtain sufficient financing to fund such expenditures. Tf we are unable to make such expenditures, our
competitive position could be negatively affected.
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Our operations in certain jurisdictions depend on agreements with tiird parties

Qur operations in several jurisdictions depend on agreements with third parties. If we are unable to renew these agreements on satisfactory
terms as they expire, our business may be disrupted and, in the event of disruptions in multiple jurisdictions, could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations. For example, lowa law requires that cach gambling venue in lowa must have a licensed
“Qualified Sponsoring, Organization,” or QSO, which is a tax-cxempt non-profit organization. The QSO must donate the profits it receives from
casino operations to educational, civic, public, charitable, patriotic or religious uses. Both of our Iowa properties have an agreement with a local
QS0. We have the right to renew our agreements for Rettendorf and Waterloo when they expire in 2025 and 2021, respectively.

The Federal Interstate Horse Racing Act and the state racing laws in certain jurisdictions where we have racetracks require that, in order to
simulcast races, we have written agreements with the horse owners and trainers at those racetracks or that we share proceeds of slot machines at
the applicable racetrack. If we fail to maintain operative agreements with the horsemen at our racetracks, we will not be permitted to conduct live
racing and export and import simu fcasting, and may not be permitted to continue our gaming operations, at the applicable racetrack at those
facilities, which could have material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Some af our casines are located on leased property. If we default on one or more leases, the applicable lessors could terminate the affected
Jeuses and we could lose possession of the affected casino.

We currently lease certain parcels of land on which several of our properties are located, including five of the properties that we acquired in
the Tropicana Acquisition. Asa ground fessee, we have the right to use the leased land; however, we do not hold fee ownership of the underlying
land. Accordingly, we have no interest in the leased land or improvements thereon at the expiration of the ground leases. Moreover, since we do
not completely contro] the land underly ing the property, a landowner could take certain actions to disrupt our rights in the land leased under the
long-term leases which are beyond our control. If the entity owning any Jeased land chose to disrupt our use either permanently or fora significant
period of time, then the value of our assets could be impaired and our business and operations could be adversely affected, Our leases provide that
they may be terminated for a aumber of reasons, including failure to pay rent, taxes ot other payment obligations or the breach of other covenants
contained in the leases. In particular, the Master Lease requires initial annual rent payments of at least $87.6 million, which is subject to escalation
anmually, and obligates us to make specified minimum capital expenditures with respect to the leased properties. If our business and properties fail
to generate sufficient earnings, the payments required to service the rent obligations under the Master Lease could materially and adversely limit
our ability to react to changes in our husiness and make acquisitions and investments in our properties, If we were to default on any one or more of
these leases, the applicable lessors could terminate the affected leases and we could lose possession of the affected land and any improvements on
the land, including the hotels and casinos. A termination of our ground leases or the Master Lease could result in a default under our debt
agreements and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condiiion and resuits of operations. Further, in the event that any
lessor of our leased properties, including properties that are subject fo the Master Lease, encounters financial, operational, regulatory or other
challenges, there can be no assurance that such lessor will be able to comply with its obligations under the applicable lease.

Certain of our leases, including the Master Lease, are “triple-net™ leases. Accordingly, in addition to rent, we are requirced to pay, among
other things, the following: (1) lease payments to the underlying ground lessor for properties that are subject to ground leases; (2) facility
maintenance costs; (3) all insurance premiuvins for insurance with respect to the leased properties and the business conducted on the leased
properties; (4) taxes levied on or with respect to the leased properties (other than taxes on the income of the lessor); and (5) all utilities and other
services necessary or appropriate for the leased properties and the business conducted on the leased properties. We are responsible for incurring
the costs described in the preceding sentence notwithstanding the fact that many of the benefits received in exchange for such costs shail in part
accrue to the Jessor as the owner of the associated facilities. In addition, we remain obligated for lease payments and other obligations under the
Master Lease and other ground feases even if one or more of such leased facilities is unprofitable or if we decide to withdraw from those locations.
We could incur special charges relating to the closing of such facilities including lease termination costs, impairment charges and other special
charges that would reduce our net income and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to extensive Federal, state and local regulation and licensing, and gaming anthorities have significant control over outr
operations, which could have an adverse effect on our business

Licensing Requirements. The ownership and operation of casino gaming, riverboat and horse racing facilities are subject to extensive
fedesal, state, and local regulation, and regulatory authorities at the federal, state, and local levels have bread powers with respect to the licensing
of gaming businesses and may revoke, suspend, condition or limit our gaming or other licenses, impose substantial fines, and take other actions,
each of which poses a significant risk to our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We currently hold all state and local licenses
and related approvals necessary to conduct our present gaming operations, but we must periodically apply to renew many of our licenses and
registrations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain such renewals. Any failure to maintain or renew our existing licenses,
registrations, permits or approvals would have a material adverse effect on us. Furthermore, i# additional laws or regulations are adopted or existing
laws or regulations are amended or interpreted differently, these regulations could impose additional restrictions or costs that could have a
significant adverse effect on us.

Gaming authorities with jurisdiction over our operations may, in their discretion, require the holder of any securities issued by us to file
applications, be investigated, and be found suitable to own our securities if they have reason to believe that the security ownership would be
inconsistent with the declared policies of their respective jurisdictions. Further, the costs of any investigation conducted by any of the Gaming
Authorities under these circumstances must be paid by the applicant, and refusal or failure to pay these charges may constitute grounds for a
finding that the applicant is unsuitable to own the securities. I any of the Gaming Authorities determines that a person is unsuitable to own our
securities, then, under the applicable gaming or horse racing laws and regulations, we can be sanctioned, including the loss of approvajs that are
required for us to continue our gaming operations in the relevant jurisdictions, if such unsuitable person does not timely sell cur securities.

Our officers, directors, and key employees are also subject to a variety of regulatory requirements and various Heensing and related
approval procedures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate gaming facilities. If any of the applicable Gaming Authorities were to {ind an
officer, director or key employee of ours unsuitable for licensing or unsuitable to continue having a relationship with us, we would have to sever all
relationships with that person. Furthermore, the Gaming Authorities may require us to terminate the employment of any person who refuses to file
appropriate applications. Either result could materially adversely affect our gaming operations.

Applicable gaming laws and regulations restrict our ability to issue securities, incur debt and undertake other financing activities. Such
transactions would generally require approval of applicable Gaming Authorities, and our financing counterparties, including Jenders, might be
subject to various licensing and related approval procedures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate gaming facilities. If state regulatory
authorities were to find any person unsuitable with regard to his, her or its relationship to us or any of our subsidiaries, we would be required to

sever our relationships with that person, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Compliance with Other Laws. We are also subject to a variety of other federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances that
apply to non-gaming businesses, including zoning, environmental, construction and land-use laws and regulations governing smoking and the
serving of alcoholic beverages. Legisiation in various forms to ban indoor tobacco smoking has been enacted or introduced in many states and
local jurisdictions, including several of the jurisdictions in which we operate, If additional restrictions on smoking are enacted in our jurisdictions,
we could experience a significant decrease in gaming revenue and, particularly if such restrictions are not applicable to alf competitive facilities in
that gaming market, our business could be materially adversely affected. Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations, an owner oF
operator of real property may be held Habie for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substanees or wastes located on its
property, regardless of whether or not the present owner or operator knows of, or is responsible for, the presence of such substances or wastes.
We have not identified any issues associated with our properties that could reasonably be expected fo have a material adverse effect on us or the
results of our operations. However, several of our properties are focated in industrial areas or were used for industrial purposes for many years. As
a consequence, it is possible that historical or neighboring activities have affected one or more of our properties and that, asa result,
environmental issues could arise in the future, the precise nature of which we cannot now predict, The coverage and attendant compliance costs
associated with these laws, regulations and ordinances may result in future additional costs.
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Regutations adopted by FINCEN require us to report currency transactions in excess of $10,000 occurring within & gaming day, including
identification of the patron by name and social security number. U.S. Treasury Department regulations aisorequire us to report certain suspicious -
activity, including any {ransaction that exceeds $3,000, if we know, suspect or have reason to believe that the transaction involves funds from
illegal activity or is designed to evade federal regulations or reporting requirements. Substantial penaltics can be imposed if we fail to comply with
these regulations. FINCEN has recently increased its focus on gaming COMpanies.

We are required to report certain customer’s gambling winnings via form W-2G to comply with current Fnternal Revernue Service regulations.
Should these regulations change, we would expect to incur additional costs to comply with the revised reporting requirements.

Taxation and Fees. In addition, gaming companies are generally subject to significant revenue-based taxes and fees in addition 1o normal
federal, state, and local income taxes, and such iaxes and fees are subject to increase at any time. We pay substantial taxes and fees with respect to
our operations. From time to fime, federal, state, and local legislators and officials have proposed changes in tax laws, or in the administration of
such laws, affecting the gaming industry. In addition, worscning econotiic conditions could intensify the efforts of state and local governments to
raise revenues through increases in gaming taxes andfor property taxes. It is not possible to determine with certainty the likelihood of changes n
tax laws or in the administration of such laws. Such changes, if adopied, could have a materia} adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. The large number of state and local governments with significant cutrent or projected budget deficits makes it more likely
that those governments that currently permit gaming will seek to fund such deficits with new or increased paming taxes andfor property taxes, and
worsening economic conditions could intensify those efforts. Any material increase, or the adoption of additional taxes or fees, could have a
material adverse effect on our future financial results.

Tncome Texes. We are subject to tax in rultiple 1.8, tax jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for
income laxes, deferred tax assets or liabilities and in evaluating our tax positions. While we believe our tax positions are consistent with the tax laws
in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our business, it is possible that thesc positions may be overturned by jurisdictional tax authorities, which
may have a significant impact on our provision for income taxes.

Tax laws are dynamic and subject to change as new laws are passed and new interpretations of the law are issued or applied. The U.S.
recently enacted significant tax teform, and certain provisions of the new law may adversely affect us. In addition, governmental tax authorifies are

increasingly scrutinizing the tax positions of companies. If 1.S. or state tax authorities change applicabie tax laws, our overall taxes could increase,
and our business, financial condition or resuits of operations may be adversely impacted.

We have partnership agreemenis 10 expand our sporisbook business and engage in online sporisbook, casino gaming and poker. There can be
no assurance that regulations authorizing such activities will be approved in the [jurisdictions in which we operate or that the market for such
gaming activities will develop as expected.

During the second quarter of 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court overturned the Federal ban on sports betting. Asaresult, several jurisdictions
in which we operate legalized sports betting and additional jurisdictions may do so in the future. We currently accept wagers on sporting events in
Nevada, New Jersey and West Virginta and anticipate accepling wagers on sporting events during the first quarter of 2019 at our casinos located in
Pennsylvania and Mississippi. However, our ability to expand our sports betting and online operations is dependent on adoption of regulations
permitting sports betting in the Uniied States and may be negatively impacted by a recent opinion of the U.S. Justice Department’s Office of Legal
Counsel relating to the Testrictions on online gaming under existing Federal statutes. There can be no assurances when, or if, regulations enabling
sports betting and online sportsbook, casino gaming and poker will be adopted, or the terms of such regulations, in certain of the jurisdictions in
which we operate.
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Following the repeal of the Federal ban on sports betting, we entered into a definitive agreement with William Hili pursuant to which William
Hill has agreed to-operate as our sports betting operator; including with respect to mobite and online sports wagering, for aperiod of 25 years. We
also entered into a 20-year agreement with TSG pursuant 1o which we agreed to provide TSG with options to obtain access to certain of our
licenses for online sports wagering and real moncy online gaming and poker. We received equity interests in William Hill US, William Hill PLC and
TSG in consideration for the execution of these agreements and we may in the future receive additional consideration, including revenue sharing
based on the betting and gaming operations conducted under the authority of our licenses or in our markets. To the extent permitted under our
agreements with William Hill and TSG, we will continue to cvaluate options for additional parinerships to operate online betting and gaming
activities under the authority of our licenses and may in the future enter into additional partnership agreements with respect to such operations.

The market for sports betiing and online gaming is rapidly evolving and highly competitive with an increasing nusmber of competitors. The
success of our sportsbook and online betting and gaming partners, the value of our equity interests in Wiltiam Hill and TSG and the results of
operations from sports betting and online sportsbook and gaming conducted at our properties or under the authority of our licenses are dependent
on & number of factors that are beyond our control, including:

. the timing of adoption of regulations authorizing such betting and gaming activities and the restrictions contained in such regulations;
. the tax rates and license fees applicable to such activities;

. our ability to gain market share in a newly developing market;

. the potential that the market does not develop at all or does not develop as we anticipate;

. our ability to compete with new entrants in the market;

. changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences; and

. the availability and popularity of other forms of entertainment.

There can be no assurapce as to the returns that we will receive from our current and anticipated sports betting and onling gaming
operafions or our partnerships with Wiliiam Hilt and TSG or future similar arrangements with other market service providers.

We rely on our key personnel and we may face difficulties in attracting and retaining gualified employees for oir casinos and race tracks

Our future success will depend upon, among other things, our ability 10 keep our senior executives and highty qualified employces. We
compete with other potential employers for employees, and we may not succeed in hiring or retaining the executives and other employees that we
need. A sudden loss of or inability to replace key employees could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operation.

In addition, the operation of our business requires qualified executives, managers and skilled employees with gaming and horse racing
industry experience and gualifications who are able to obtain the requisite licenses and approval from the applicable Gaming Authorities. There has
from time to time been a shortage of skilled labor in our markets. In addition to limitations that may otherwise exist in the supply of skilled labor, the
continued expansion of gaming near our facilities, including the expansion of Native American gaming, may make it more difficult for us to attract
qualified individuals, While we believe that we will continue to be able to attract and retain qualified employees, shortages of skilled labor will make
it increasingly difficult and expensive to attract and retain the services of a satisfactory number of qualified employees, and we may incur higher
costs than expected as a result.

Work stoppages, organizing drives and other labor problems could negatively impact our future profits

As of December 31, 2018, we had 21 collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 3,400 employees. A fengthy strike or other
work stoppages at any of our casino properties could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Given the large number of
employees, labor unions are making a concerted effort to recruit more employees in the gaming industry, inciuding at some of our properties. As a
result, we cannot provide any assurance that we will not experience additional and more successful union organization activity in the future.
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Because we own real properiy, we will be subject to extensive environmental regulation,
environmental expenditures and liabilities

which creates uncertainfy regarding future

We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and reguiations that govern activities that may have
adverse environmental effects, such as discharges to air and water, as wetl as the use, storage, discharge, emission and disposal of solid, animal
and hazardous wastes and exposure to hazardous materials. These laws and regulations are complex and frequently subject to change. In addition,
our horse racing facilities are subject to laws and regulations that address the impacts of manure and wastewater generated by Concentrated
Animal Feeding Operations (“CAFC”) on water quality, including, but not limited to, storm water discharges. CAFO regulations inchzde permit
requirements and water quality discharge standards. Enforcement of CAFO regulations has been receiving increased governmental attention.
Compliance with these and other environmental laws can, in some circumstances, require significant cap ital expenditures, We have from time to
time been responsible for investigating and remediating, or confributing to remediation costs refated to, contamination located at or near certain of
our facilities, including contamination related to underground storage tanks and groundwater contamination arising from prior uses of land on
which certain of our facilities are located. In addition, we have been, and may in the future be, required fo manage, abate, remove or Contaln manure
and wastewater generated by concentrated animal feeding operations due to our racetrack operations, mold, lead, asbestos-containing materials or
other hazardous conditions found in or on our properties. Moreover, violations ean result in significant fines or penalties and, in some instances,
interruption or cessation of operations .

We are also subject to Jaws and regulations that create liability and cleanup responsibility for releases of regulated materials into the
environment. Certain of these taws and regulations impose strict, and under certain circumstances joint and several, iiability on a current or
previous owner o eperator of property for the costs of remediating regulated materials on or emanating from its property. The costs of
investigation, remediation or remov al of those substances may be substantial.

An earthquake, hurricane, flood, other natural disaster, act of terrorism or othter casualty events could adversely affect our business and we
may not have sufficient insurance ceverage to cover such losses

The operations of our facilities are subject to disruption or reduced patronage as a result of severe weather conditions, natural disasters and
other casualty events, including acts of terrorism or violence. The Reno area has been, and may in the future be, subject to carthquakes and other
natural disasters and certain of our other properties are located in flood zones or are otherwise subject to significant disruption based on adverse
weather conditions. Because many of our gaming operations are located on or adjacent to bodies of water, these facilities are subject to risks in
addition to those associated with other casinos, inciuding loss of service due to casualty, forces of nature, mechanical failure, extended or
extraordinary maintenance, flood, hurricane or other severe weather conditions and other disasters. For example, flooding along the Mississippi
River can impact eight or more of our properties and result in them being closed for differing periods of time. Our properties in Florida, Mississippi,
Louisiana and New Jersey ate particutarly vulnerable to hurricanes, wind and storm Surge. Our Pompano property was closed for four days in 2017
because of storms. In addition, severe weather such as high winds and blizzards occasionally limits access to our land-based facilities in Colorado
and Reno. Inadequate insurance or lack of available insurance for these and other certain types ot levels of risk could expose us O significant
losses in the eveni that a catastrophe occurred for which we are underinsured. Further, if properties subject to the Master 1ease are impacted by a
casualty event, the Master Lease requires us to repair or restore the affected properties even if the cost of such repair or restoration exceeds the
insurance proceeds that we receive. Under such circumstances, the rent under the Master Lease is required to be paid during the period of repair of
restoration even if all or a portion of the affected property is not operating. In addition to the damage caused to our properties by a casualty loss,
we may suffer business disruption as a result of the casualty event or be subject to ciaims by third parties that may be injured or harmed. While we
carry general liability insurance and business interruption insurance, there can be no assurance that insurance will be available or adequate to
cover all loss and damage to which our business or our assets might be subjected. In addition, certain casualty events, such as labor strikes,
nuclear events, loss of income due to terrorisma, violence, deterioration or corrosion, insect or animal damage and poilution, may not be covered
under our policies. Any losses we incur that are not adequately covered by insurance may decrease our future operating income, require us to fund
replacements or repairs for destroyed property and reduce the funds available for payments of our obligations. Further, we renew ouf jnsurance
policies on an annual basis. The cost of coverage may hecome so high that we may need to further reduce our policy limits or agree to certain
exclusions from coverage. Among other factors, it is possible that regional political tensions, homeland security concermns, other catastrophic
events or any change in government legistation governing insurance coverage for acts of terrorism could materially adversely affect available
insurance coverage and result in increased premiums on available coverage (which may cause us to elect to reduce our policy limits), additional
exclusions from coverage or higher deductibles. Among other potential future adverse changes, in the future we may elect to not, or may not be
able to, obtain any coverage for losses due to acts of terrorism.
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We are subject to risks relating to mechanical failure, forces of nature, easualty, extraordinary maintenance and other causes

All of our facilities will generally be subject to the risk that operations could be halted for a temporary ot exiended period of time, as the
result of casuaity, forces of nature, mechanical failare, or extended or extraordinary mainienance, among other causes. In addition, our gaming
eperations could be damaged or halted due {o extreme weather conditions. These risks are particularly pronounced at our riverboat and dockside
facilitics because of their locations on and adjacent to water.

Our reliance on our computer systems and software cou Id expose us (o great Sfinancial harm if any of our compuier systems or software were
subject 1o any material disruption or corruption.

We rely significantly on our compuler systems and software 10 receive and properly process internal and external data, including data
related to our player loyalty program. A disruption or corruption of the proper functioning of our compuier systems or software could cause us to
lose data ot record erroneous data, which could result in material losses. We cannot guarantee that our efforts to maintain competitive computer
systems and software will be successful. Our computer systems and software may fail or be subject to bugs or other errors, resulting in service
interruptions or other unintended consequences. If any of these risks materialize, they could have a material adverse effect on our business,

financial condition, and results of operations.

We are or may become involved in legal proceedings that, if adversely adiudicated or settled, could impact our business and financial
condition

From time to time, we are named in lawsuits o1 other legal proceedings relating to our respective businesses. In particular, the nature of our
business subjects us to the risk of lawsuits filed by customers, pastand present employees, competitors, business partners and others in the
ordinary course of business. As with all legal proceedings, no assurances cai be given as to the outceme of these matters. Moreover, legal
proceedings can be expensive and time consuming, and we may not be successful in defending or prosecuting these lawsuits, which could result in
settlements or damages that could significantly impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our information fechnology and other systems are subject to cyber security risk including misappropriation of customer information or other
breaches of informaiion security

We collect information relating to our guests and employees for various business purposes, including marketing and promotionai purposes.
The collection and use of personal data are gov erned by privacy laws and regulations enacted in the United States. We rely on information
technology and other systems to maintain and transmit this personal and financial information, credit card settlements, credit card funds
{ransmissions, mailing lists and reservations information. Our information and processes are subject o the ever-changing threat of compromised
security, in the form of a risk of potential breach, system failure, computer virus, or authorized or fraudulent use by customers, company
employees, or employees of third-party vendors. We face cybersecurity threats, which may range from uncoordinated individual attempts to
sophisticated and targeted measures directed at us. Cyber-attacks and security breaches may include, but are not limited to, attempts to access
information, including customer and company information, computer malware such as viruses, denial of service, ransomware aitacks that encrypt,
exfiltrate, or otherwise render data unusable or snavailable in an effort to extort money or other consideration as a condition to purportedly
returning the data to a usable form, operator errors ot misuse, or inadvertent releases of data, and other forms of electronic security breaches. The
steps we take to deter and mitigate these risks may not be successful, and any resulting comprosnise or loss of data ot systems could adversely
impact, operations or regulatory compliance and could result in remedial expenses, fines, litigation, and loss of reputation, potentially impacting our
financial results.

In addition, third party service providers and other business partners process and maintain proprictary business information and data
related to our puests, suppliers and other business partners. Our information technology and other systems that mainiain and transmit this
information, or those of service providers or business partners, may also be compromised by a malicious third-party penetration of our network
security or that of a third party service provider or business partner, or impacted by intentional or unintentional actions or inactions by our
employees ot those of a third party service provider or business partner. Asa resule, our business information, guest, supplier, and other business
partner data may e lost, disclosed, accessed or taken without their consent.
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Any such loss, disclosure ot misappropriation of, or access to, guests’” or business partners’ information or other breach of our information
security can result in legal claims or legal proceedings, including regulatory investigations and acfions, may have a serious impact on our
reputation and may adversely affect our businesses, operating resutts and financial condition. Furthermore, the loss, disclosure or misappropriation
of our business information may adversely affect our reputation, businesses, operating results and financial condition.

Our operations have h istorically been subject (0 seasonal variations and quarterly fluctuations in operating results, and we can expect 10

experience such variations and fluctuations in the future

Historicalty, our operations have typically been subject to seasonal variations. Our strongest operating results for our Reno properties have
generally oceurred in the second and third quarters and the weakest results have generally sccurred during the period from November through
February when weather conditions adversely affected operating results. Winter conditions can frequently adversely affect transportation routes to
Reno, where a significant of our visitors arrive by ground transportation, and certain of our other properties and cause cancellations of live horse
racing. For example, the Reno-Tahoe area experienced exceptionalty high levels of snowfall in the first quarter of 2017, with certain resorts in the
Tahoe area reporting over 50 feet of snowfall during such time, which adversely affected visitation to our Reno properties and adv ersely affected
our results of operations for the first quarter of 2017. As a result, unfavorable seasonal conditions could have a material adverse effect on our
operations.

The concentration and evolution of the slot machine manufacturing industry could impose ndditional costs ont us

There are a limited number of slot machine manufacturers servicing the gaming industry and a large majority of our revenues are derived
from slot machines at our casinos. It is important, for competitive reasons, that we offer the most popular and up-to-date slot machine games with
the latest technology to customers.

In recent years, slot machine manafacturers have frequently refused to sell slot machines featuring the most popular games, instead
requiring participating lease arrangements. Generally, a participating leasc is substantially more expensive over the long-term than the cost to
purchase & new slot machine.

For competifive reasons, we may be foreed to acquire new slot machines, slot machine systems or gaming and hotel technology and
equipment, of enter into participating lease arrangements, that are more expensive than our ¢osts associated with the continued operation of aur
existing slot machines, equipment and software. If the newer slot machines, equipment or software do not result in sufficient incremental revenues
to offset the increased investment, or if we are unable to successfully implement new software or technology, it could adversely affect our
operations and profitability.

We face risks associated with growth and acquisitions

As part of our business strategy, we regularly evaluate opportunities for growth (hrough development of gaming operations in existing or
new markets, through acquiring other gaming entertainment facilities or through redeveloping our existing gaming facilities. In the future, we may
also pursue expansion opportunities, including joint ventures, in jurisdictions where casino gaming is not currently permitted in order to be

prepared to develop projects upon approval of casino gaming.

Although we only intend to engage in acquisitions that, if consummated, will be accretive to us and our stockholders, we cannot be sure
that we will be able to identify atiractive acquisition oppostunities or that we will experience the return on investment that we expect. In particular,
while we currently anticipate that the acquisitions of Tropicana and Elgin will be accretive to our earnings per share in 2019, this expectation is
based on estimates and assumes certain synergies expected to be realized over a 12-month period following the completion of the acquisitions.
Such estimates and assumptions could materially change due to factors beyond our control and could delay, decrease or eliminate the expected

accretive effect of the acquisitions and cause resulting dilution to our earnings per share or negativety impact the price of our commeon stock.

In addition, acquisitions require significant management attention and resources to integrate new properties, businesses and operations.
Potential difficulties we may encounter as part of the integration process include:

. the inability to successfully incorporate acquired assets in a manner that permits us to achieve the full revenue and other benefits
anticipated to result from the acquired operations;

. complexities associated with managing the combined business, including difficulties addressing possible differences in cuitures and
management philosophies and the challenge of integrating complex systerns, technology, networks and other assets of each of the

companies in a seamless anner that minimizes any adverse impact on customers, suppliers, employees and other constituencies; and
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. potential unknown liabilitics and unforeseen increased expenses associated with acquired properties.

In addition, it is j)ossible that the integration process could result in:

. diversion of the attention of our management;
. the disruption of, or the Joss of momentum in, cur ongoing businesses; and
. inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies,

any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain retaiionships with customers, suppliers, employees and other constituencies or
our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits, or could reduce our earnings or otherwise adversely affect our business and financial results.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to identify, acquire, develop or profitably manage additiona! companies or operations or
successfully integrate such companies ot operations, into our existing operations without substantial costs, delays or other problems.
Additionally, there can be no assurance {hat we will receive gaming or other necessary licenses or approvals for new projects that we may pursue
or that gaming will be approved in jurisdictions where it is not currently approved.

We may experience consfruction delays or cost overruns during our expansion or development projects that could adversely affect our
operations

Trom time to time, we may commence development and construction projects o new properties or at our current properties. We also
evaluale other expansion opporiunities as they become available and may in the future engage in additional construction projects. As an example,
we recently formed a joint venture with Cordish to master plan and develop a mixed-use entertainment and hospitality destination expected to be
located on unused land adjacent to the Pompano casino and racetrack. The anticipated costs and construction periods for development and
construction projects are based upon budgets, conceptual design documents and construction schedule estimates prepared by us of, in the case
of Pompano, our joint venture partner, in consultation with our architects, all of which are subject to assumptions that may be subject to change
basged on unforeseen circumstances. Developmeni and consiruction projects entail significant risks, which can substantially increase costs or
delay completion of a project. Such risks include shortages of materials or skilled labor, unforeseen enginecring, envivonmental or geological
problems, work stoppages, weather interference and unanticipated cost increases. Most of these factors are beyond our control. In addition,
difficulties or delays in obtaining any of the requisite entitlements, licenses, permits or authorizations from regulatory authorities can increase the
cost or delay the completion of an expansion or development. Significant budget overruns or delays with respect to expansion and development
projects could adversely affect our results of operations.

Qur planned capital expendifures may not resuli in our expecled improvements in our business

We regularly expend capital to construct, maintain and renovate our properties to remain competitive, maintain the value and brand
standards of our properties and comply with applicable laws and regulations. Our ability to realize the expected returns on our capital investments
is dependent on a mumber of factors, including, general economic conditions; changes 1o construction plans and specifications; delaysin
obtaining or inability to obtain necessary permits, licenses and approvals; disputes with contractors; disruptions to our business caused by
construction; and other unanticipated circumstances or cost increases.

While we believe that the overall budgets for our planned capital expenditures are reasonable, these costs are estimates and the actual costs
may be higher than expected. In addition, we can provide no assurance that these investments will be sufficient or that we will realize our expected
returns on our capital investments, or any returns at all. A failure to realize our expecied returns on capital investments could materiaily adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may incur impairments {0 goodwill, in definite-lived intangible assets, or long-lived assets, which could negatively affect our aperating
results

As of December 31, 2018, we had $2.4 billion of geodwill and other intangible assets, We perform annual impajrment testing for goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets as of Octeber 1 of each fiscal year, or on an interim basis if indicators of impairment exist. For properties with
goodwill and/or other intangible assets with indefinite lives, these tests could require the comparison of the implied fair value of each reporting unit
to carrying value. In conjunction with the classification of Vicksburg’s aperations as assels held for sale at March 31, 2018 as a result of the
announced sale to Churchill Downs Tncorporated, an impairment charge totafing $9.8 million was recorded due to the carrying value exceeding the
estimated net sales proceeds. The impairment reduced the value of goodwill. Additionally, in conjunction with the agreement to selt our rights and
obligations to operate Nemacolin, an impairment charge totating $3.8 million was recorded in 2018 due to the carrying value of the property and

equipment being sold exceeding the estimated net sales proceeds,

During the fourth quarter of 2017, we recorded an impairment charge toialing $38.0 million to reduce the carrying value of goodwill and/or
trade names related to our Lake Charles, Lula and Vicksburg reporting units.

We must make various assumptions and estimates in performing our impairment testing. Our qualitative assessments including
assumptions regarding market and industry conditions and our financial performance. Our quantitative assessment relies on estimates of future
cash flows that are based on reasonable and supportable assumptions which represent our best estimates of the cash flows expected to result from
the use of the assets including their eventual disposition and by a market approach based upon valuation multiples for similar companies. Changes
in estimates or market conditions, increases in our cost of capital, reductions in transaction multiples, operating and capital expenditure
assumptions or application of alternative assumptions and definitions, could produce significantly different results.

We also evaluate long-lived assets for impairient if indicators of impairment exist. In assessing the recoverability of the carrying value of
such property, equipment and other long-lived assets, we make assumptions regarding future cash flows and residuat values.

Future cash flow estimates are, by their nature, subjective and actual results may differ materially from our estimates. If our ongoing
estimates of future cash flows are not met, we may have to record additional impairment charges in future accounting periods. Our estimates of
cash flows are based on the current re guiatory, social and econontic climates, recent operating infotmation and budgets, and current operafing
plans of the various properties where we conduct operations. These estimates could be negatively impacted by changes in federal, state or jocal
regulations, economic downturns, internal operating decisions, or other events affecting various forms of travel and access to our properties.

Risks Related to our Capital Structure and Equity Ownership
Our obligations under our indebtedness and Muaster Lease are significant

As of December 31, 2018, we had $3.3 billion of total indebtedness outstanding consisting of $956.8 million outstanding under our term loan
facility (the “Term Loan Facility” or “Term Loan™), $600 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding 6.0% senior notes due 2026 (the “6%
Senior Notes due 2026™), $875.0 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding 6.0% senior notes due 2025 (the “6% Senior Notes due 2025™),
$375.0 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding 7.0% senior notes due 2023 (the “7% Senior Notes due 2023") and $246.0 million of
principal outstanding under our loan to fund the purchase of Elgin {(“Lumiere Loan”). As of December 31, 2018, we had §245.0 outstanding under
our $500.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the Term Loan, the “Credit Facility™). In addition, our
armual rent payment under the Master 1ease is at least $87.6 million and is subject to annual escalation. These financial obligations may have
important negative Consequences for us, including:

. limiting our ability to satisfy our obligations;

. increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the markets in which we operate;

. placingus ata competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that have less debt;

. increasing our vulnerability to, and limiting our ability to react to, changing market conditions, changes in our industry and economic
downturns;
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. Hiniting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund working capital requirements, cap itai expenditures, debt service, acquisifions,
general corporate or other obli gations;

. subjecting us to a number of restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit our ability to pay dividends and distributions, make
acquisitions and dispositions, borrow additional fupds, and make capital expenditures and other investments;

. restricting our and our wholly-owned subsidiaries ability to make dividend payments and other payments;

. limiting our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business because we must dedicate a significant portion of these
funds to make principal and/or interest payments on our outsianding debt;

. exposing us to interest rate risk due to the variable interest rate on borrowings under our Credit Facility,

. causing our failure to comply with the financial and restrictive covenants contained in our current or future indebtedness, which could

cause a default under such indebtedness and which, if not cured or waived, could have & material adverse effect on us; and

. affecting our ability to renew gaming and other licenses necessary to conduct our business.

In addition, the Master Lease requires us to make specific minimum investments in capital expenditures and, subject to certain caps, the rent
escalations under the Master Lease will continue to apply regardless of the cash flows generated by the properties subject to the Master Lease and
the obligations under the Master Lease are guaranteed by ERJ. If the cash flows generated by the jeased properties decrease, or do not increase at
the same rate as the rent escalations, the rent payable under the Master Lease and required capital expenditures could constitute a higher
percentage of cash flows generated by the teased properties, which could materiaily exacerbate the consequences described above.

Despite our current indebltedness levels, we and our subsidiaries may still incur significant additional indebtedness. Incurring more
indebtedness conld increase the risks associated with our substantial indebtedness

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur snbstantial additional indebtedness, including additional secured indebtedness, and may
enter into financing obligations similar to the Master Lease in the future. As of December 31, 2018, we had $242.3 miilion of borrowing capacity,
after consideration of $12.7 million in outstanding letters of credit, under our Credit Facility. Our cxisting debt agreements currently permit, and we
expect that agreements governing debt that we incur in the future will permit, us to incur certain other additional secured and unsecured debt.
Further, we may incur other liabilities that do not constitute indebtedness. The risks that we face based on our outstanding indebtedness may
intensify if we incur additional indebtedness or financing obligations in the future.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and pay rent under the Master Lease and may be forced to
take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be suceessful

Qur ability to satisfy our rent obligations under the Master Lease and make scheduled payments on or 1o refinance our debt obligations
depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain
financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other faciors beyond our control. We cannot assure you that we will maintain a level of cash flows
from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay rent under the Master Leuse and the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our
indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service and rent obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay
investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. These alternative
measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduted debt service and rent obligations. If our operating results and
available cash are insufficient to meet our debt service and rent obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to
dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or
{o obtain the proceeds that we could realize from them, and these proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.
Additionally, the agreements governing our existing debt restrict sales of assets and limit the use of the proceeds from any disposition and our
Master Lease limits our ability to dispose of leased properties; asa result, we may not be allowed, under these documents, to dispose of certain of
our properties and use proceeds from such dispositions to satisfy all current debt service obligations.
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The agreements governing our debt and the Master Lease impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries,
which may prevent us from capitalizing on business opporfunities

The agreements governing our existing debt impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us. These resirictions limit our ability,
among other things, to:

. incur additional debt;

. create liens or other encumbrances;

. pay dividends or make other restricted payments;

. agree to payment restrictions affecting our restricted subsidiaries;

. prepay gubordinated indebtedness;

. make investments, loans or other guarantees;
. sell or otherwise dispose of a pertion of our assets; or
. make acquisitions or merge or consolidate with another entity.

Tn addition, the credit agreement governing the Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants, including minimum interest coverage
ratio and maximum total Jeverage ratio covenants.

A failure to comply with the covenants confained in the agreements governing our existing or futurc indebiedness could result in an event
of default, which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of the indebtedness and have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. If our indebtedness were to be accelerated, there can he 1o assurance that our assets would be
sufficient to repay such indebtedness in full, Moreover, in the cvent that such indebtedness is accelerated, there can be no assurance that we will

be able to refinance it on acceptable terms, or at afl.

In addition, our Master Lease imposes restrictions on the business activities of the tenant, inciuding restrictions on transfers of leased
properties, requirements 1o make minimum specified levels of capital expenditures and limitations on the operation of the leased properties. The
Master Lease also restricts payments of dividends if the tenant does not meet the specified minimum adjusted revenue to rent ratio,

As a result of these covenants and restrictions, we are limited in how we conduct our business and we may be unable to raise additional
debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. The restrictions caused by such covenants
could also place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors.

The market price of our common sfock could fluctuate significantly

The U.S. securities markets in general have experienced significant price fluctuations in recent years. The market price of our commont stock
may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the trading volume of our common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price
vatiations to occur. Some of the factors that could cause fluctuations in, or have a material adverse effect on, the stock price or trading volume of
our common stock include:

. general market and economic conditions, including market conditions in the hotel and casino industries;

. actuat or expected variations in operating results;

. differences between actual operating resuits and those expected by invesiors and analysts;

. changes in recommendations by securities analysts;

. operations and stock performance of competitors;

. accounting charges, including charges relating to the impairment of goodwill;

. significant acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or by competitors;

. sales of our common stock or other securities in the future, including sales by our directors and officers or significant investors;
. recruitment or departure of key personnel;
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. conditions and trends in the gaming and entertainment industries;
. changes in the estimate of the future size and growth of our markets; and
. changes in reserves for professional Hability claims.
We cannot assure you that the stock price of our common stock wiil not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. In addition, the stock
market in general can experience considerable price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated to our performance. 1f the market price of our

common stock fluctuates significantly, we may become the subject of securities class action litigation which may result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resources.

We have not historically paid dividends and may not pay dividends in the future

We do not currently expect to pay dividends on its common stock. Any defermination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion
of our board of directors and will depend upon among other factors, our earnings, cash requirements, financial condition, requirements to comply
with the covenants under its debt instruments, legal considerations, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant, In addition, the
agreements governing our indebtedness restrict its ability to pay dividends. If we do not pay dividends, then the return on an investment in is
common stock will depend entirely upon any future appreciation in its stock price. There is no guarantee that our comman stock will appreciate in
value or maintain its value.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Ttem 2. Properties.

Information relating to the location and generat characteristics of our properties is provided in Part I, Item 1, Business, Properties.

As of December 31, 2018, our facilities focated on property that we awn or lease, were as follows:

. We lease approximately 30,000 square feet on the approximately 159,000 square foot parcel on which Eldorado Reno is located, in Reno,
Nevada.

. We own two parcels of property totaling approximately 38,000 square feet across the street from Fldorado Reno and two adjacent
parcels totaling approximately 18,700 square feet.

. We own five acres of land in Reno, Nevada where the Silver Legacy is located.

. Circus Reno leases approximately 36,000 square feet on the approximatety 10 acres on which Circus Reno is located, in Reno, Nevada.

. We lease approximately nine acres of land in Shreveport, Louisiana on which Eldorado Shreveport is located.

. Mountaineer is located on approximately 1,680 acres of land that we own in Chester, Hancock County, West Virginia, Included in the
1,680 acres of land is approximately 1,290 acres of land that are considered non-operating real properties.

. Scioto Downs is Jocated on approximately 208 acres of land that we own in Colembus, Ohio.

. Presque Isle Downs is located on 272 acres of land that we own in Summit Township, Erie County, Pennsylvania. In addition, we own

two other parcels of Jand: a213-acre site in McKean Township, Pennsylvania and a six acre gite in Summit Township that formerly
housed an off-track wagering facility, each of which are considered non-operating real properties.

. We own approximately 10 acres of land in Black Hawk, Colorado for use in connection with our Black Hawk operations. The property
leases an additional parcel of land adjoining the Isle Black Hawk where the Lady Luck Hotel and parking lot are located. We own of
lease approximately seven acres of land in Black Hawk, Colorado for use in connection with the Lady Luck Black Hawk. The property
leases an additional parcel of land near the Lady Luck Black Hawk for parking as described above.
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. We own approximately 223 acres of land at Pompano. We have agreed to contribute a portion of this land to our joint venture project
with Cordish.

. We own approximately 2.7 acres and lease approximately 16.2 acres of land in Calcasieu Parish, Louvisiana for use in connection with our
Lake Charles operations.

. We own approximately 24.6 acres of land in Bettendorf, Towa used in connection with the operations of our Bettendorf property. We
also operate under a long-term lease with the City of Bettendorf, the QC Waterfront Convention Center that is adjacent to our
porthernmost hotel tower. We also lease approximately eight acres of land on a month-to-month basis.

. We own approximately .54 acres of land in Waterloo, lowa used in connection with the operation of our Waterloo property.

- We lease approximately 1,000 acres of land in Coahoma County, Mississippi and utitize approximately 50 acres in connection with the
operations in Lula, Mississippi. We also own approximately 100 acres in Coahoma County, which may be utilized for future
development.

. We own approximately 60 acres in Vicksburg, Mississippi which are used in conneetion with the operations of our Vicksburg property.

. We lease our 27-acre casino site in Boonviile, Missouri.

. We own approximately 22 acres in Cape Girardeau, Missouri which are used in connection with the operations of our Cape Girardeau
property.

. We own approximately 37 acres, including our riverboat casino in Caruthersville, Missouri.

. We lease approximately 28 acres of land in connection with the operation of our Kansas City property.

. We operate under a lease for 30 acres of land and building in which we operate our Nemacolin casino.

- We lease approximately 18 acres of land and our casine and hotel in Atlantic City under the Master Lease.

. We lease approximately 29 acres of land and our casino and two hotels in Evansville, Indiana under the Master Lease,

. We lease approximately 94 acres of land, our casino and hotel in Laughtin, Nevada under the Master Lease.

. We lcase approximately seven acres, our riverhoat and land side casino and hotel in Greenville, Mississippi under the Master Lease.

- We lease approximate 18 acres of land, our dockside gaming facility and a hotet in Baton Rouge, Louisiana. Approximately 14 acres are

feased under the Master Lease, while the remainder our leased from unrelated third parties.

. We own approximately 19 acres of land and our gaming facility and hotels in St. Louis, Missouri related to our Lumiére casino. The
purchase of this real property was financed under the Lumiére Loan.

. We lease approximately 21 acres of land in South Lake, Tahoe, Nevada, on which our casino and hotel facilities and velated parking lot
are located.

. We lease our corporate offices in Reno, Nevada, Creve Coeur, Missouri and Las Vegas, Nevada.

We own additional properly and have various property leases and options to either lease or purchase property that are not directly related

to our existing operations and that may he utilized in the future in connection with expansion projects at our existing facilities or development of
new projects.

Substantially all of our assets ar¢ pledged to secure our outstanding indebtedness under the senior notes and credit obligations.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are a party to various legal and administrative proceedings, which have arisen in the normal coursc of our business. Estimated losses
are accrued for these proceedings when the loss is probable and can be estimated. The current Liability for the estimated losses associated with
these proceedings is not material to our consolidated financial condition and those estimated losses are not expected 1o have a material impact on
our results of operations. In addition, we maintain what we helieve is adequate insurance Coverage 1o further mitigate the risks of such
proceedings. However, such proceedings can be costly, time consuming and unprediciable and, therefore, no assurance can be given that the final
outcome of such proceedings may not materially impact our consolidated financial condition or results of operations. Further, no assurance can be
given that the amount of scope of existing insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover losses arising from such mater.

Ttem 4, Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART I

Ttem 5. Market for Registrants’ Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our Common Stock is queted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “ERI”. On February 25, 2019, the NASDAQ Official
Closing Price for our commeon stock was $48.09. As of February 25, 2019, there were approximately 698 holders of record of our commeon stock.

We have not paid any cash dividends on our commeon stock. We intend to retain all of our earnings to finance the development of our
business, and thus, do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common sock for the foreseeabls future, Payment of any cash dividends in the
future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, our future earnings, operations and capital
requirements, our general financial condition and general business conditions. In addition, our senior secured credit facility and senior notes
restrict, among other things, our ability to pay dividends. In addition, the Master Lease prohibits, and future financing arrangements may prohibit,
the payment of dividends under certain conditions. For further information relating to our and our subsidiaries’ dividend pelicies, sec Part H, Item 7,
Liquidity and Capital Resources, included in this report. :

Equity Compensafion Plan Information

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2018, with respect to cempensation plans under which equity securities that
we have authorized for issuance.

MNumber of securifies
remaining availabie for
future isssance under
Number of securities to Weighted average equity compensation

pe issued upon exercise exercise price af plans (excluding
of outstanding eptiens, outstanding cptions, securities refiected

Plan Category warrants and rights warrapts and rights in column (a))
_ . . () . . ® . (<}
MTR Gaming Group, Inc. 201 Long Term o . :

Incentive Plan o ' 30,600 $ - 398 —
Isle of Capri Casinos, e, Second Amended and o - . _ '

Restated 2009 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan - ' 132,548 $ 13.23 —
Fldorado Resorts, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan 1173627 § 21.89 1,363,121

The Eldorado Resorts, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, the Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2009 Long Term
Incentive Plan and the MTR Gaming Group, Inc. 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan were approved by stockholdes. No future equity awards will be
made pursuan to the Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan and the MTR Gaming Group, Inc.
2010 Long Term Incentive Plan. However, ouistanding awards granted under the acquired plans will continue unaffected.

Share Repurchase Program

fn November 2018, the Company’s board of directors authorized a common stock repurchase program of up fo $150 million of stock (the
“Share Repurchase Program”) pursuant to which the Company may, from time to time, repurchase shares of common stock on the open market
(either with or without a 10b5-1 plan) or through privately negotiated transactions. The Share Repurchase Program has no time limit and may be
suspended or discontinued at any time without notice. There is no minimum number of shares of comumon stock that the Company is required to
repurchase under the Share Repurchase Program.

The Company acquired 273,823 shares of common stock at an aggregate vatue of $9.1 million and an average of $40.80 per share during the
fourth quarter of 2018.
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Stock Performance Graph _

The foliowing graph demonstrates 2 comparison of cumaulative total returns of the Company, the NASDAQ Market Index {(which is
considered to be a broad index) and the Dow Jones US Gambling Index for the period since our common stock began trading on September 22,
2014. The following graph assumes $100 invested in each of the above groups and the reinvestment of dividends, if applicable.
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Past stock price performance is not necessarily indicative of future results. The performance graph shou 1d not be deemed filed or
incorporated by reference into any other of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act of 1934, unless we specifically
incorporate the performance graph by reference therein.

Tiem 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data of the Company as of und for each of the five years ended December 31,
2018. This information should be read in conjunction with “ftem 7 — Managemen! 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations™ and the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Anmual Report on Form 10-K. The
historical operating results for the periods presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected in future years.

The presentation of information herein for periods prior to our acquisitions of MTR Gaming Group, Inc., Circus Reno, Silver Legacy, Isle,

Elgin and Tropicana are not fully comparable because the results of operations for these acquired entities are not included for periods prior to such
acquisitions.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Net operating revenues

Ope_r.at_ing income

Net (loss) income _béfore_ __in_coﬁe_t_axes I

Net income {loss)

Less: Net loss attributable to. nonfcpnﬁoll'mg interest
Net income (loss) atiributable to the Company

Basic net income (loss) per common share
Diluted net income (loss) per common share

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Total debt (2}

Stockholders’ equily

(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 (3} 2017 (3} _2016(3) 2015 (3) 2014 (4)

'$ 2,056,007 § 1,480,798 § 900465 § 724345 $ 361823

310,103 94,810 88700 72621 17555
135622 (#3,389) (37628 | 44708 (12.554)
.9_5_,235 7380 24527 114246 {14322)
- - . .W.. L (103)

g 95235 § 73380 § 24527 5 114,246 §  (14,425)

$ 123 §$ 10908 0528 2458 (0.48)
$ 122 § 108 § 051 % 2438 (0.48)

At December 31,

2018 (3) 2017 (3} 2046 (3) 2015 (4) 2014 (4)

$ 230752 § 134596 § 61,029 § 78278 % 47,604
SO1LA62  3.S464TZ 1294044 1325008 1,171,559
3261735 2,190,193 800,426 866,237 775,059
1,029,153 941,597 295,969 768,460 151,622

Footnotes to Selected Consolidated Financial Data:

()

@

)

@&

Prior to September 19, 2014, we were taxed as a partnership under the Internal Revenue Code pursuant to which income taxes were primarily
the responsibility of the partners. On September 18, 2014, as part of the merger with MTR Gaming Group, Tne. (“MTR™), we became a C
corporation subject to the federal and state corporate-level income taxes at prevailing corporate tax rates. While taxed as a partnership, we
were not subject to federal income tax liability but made distribaticns to our equity holders to cover such liabilities.

Total debt, including the current portion, is reported net of unamortized discounts and premiums, and includes capital leases of $0.6 million,
£0.9 million, $0.5 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. There were no capital
leases in 2014.

Amounts reftect the adoption of ASC 606. The Company adopted this standard effective January 1, 218, and elected to apply the full
retrospective adoption method. See the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 5, 2018, which recast certain
financial information contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017

Amounts have not been adjusted to reflect the impact of the adoption of ASC 606.

The following events and transactions affect the year-to-year comparability of the selccted financial data presented above:

. 1n September 2014, we completed the merger with MTR Gaming Group, Inc. (“MTR”), which added Mountaineer, Presque Isle Downs
and Scioto Downs to our operations,

. In November 2015, we consummated the purchase of Circus Reno and the interest in the Silver Legacy that we did not previously
own. Prior to our acquisition of the Silver Legacy, non-controlling interest represented the minority partners’ share of our subsidiary’s
50% joint venture interest in the Silver Legacy. The non-centrolling interest was owned by certain of our affiliates and was an
approximately 4% interest in our subsidiary, representing an approximately 1.9% indirect interest in the Silver Legacy. We acquired the
remaining 50% joint venture interest pursuant 10 our acquisition of the Silver Legacy and, in connection therewith, exercised our right
to acguire such non-controliing interest.
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In May 2017, we compteted our acquisition of Isle, adding 13 gaming properties to our portfolio.

In August 2018, we acquired Elgin,

1n Ociober 2018, we completed our acquisition of Tropicana, adding seven additional properties to our portfolic.
In 2014, we incurred costs associated with the acquisition of MTR totaling $7.4 million.

In 2015, in conjunction with the acquisition of Silver Legacy and Circus Reno, we Incurred costs totaling $2.5 million and recorded a
£35.6 million gain related to the valuation of our pre-acquisition investinent in the Silver Legacy.

In 2015, in connection with the refinancing of all of our then outstanding indebtedness, we issued $375 million of senior notes and
entered into a new $425 million term loan and a new $150 million revolving credit facility. As a result of the 2015 refinancing, we
recognized a $1.9 million net loss on the eatly retirement of debt.

1n 2015, we recorded a $69.6 million net benefit for income 1axes resuiting from an adjustment to our valuation allowance.
In 2016, transaction expenses related to our acquisition of Isle totaled $8.6 million.

In 2017, legal, accounting, financial advisory services, severance, stock awards and other costs related to our acquisition of Isle totaled
$92.8 million.

11 2017, we recorded a $20.0 mitlion forfeited deposit as income relaied to the terminated sale of Lake Charles.

In 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cufs and Jobs Act. In connection
with these changes, for certain of our net deferred 1ax liabilities, we recorded a decrease of $111.9 miliion, net of the related change in
valuation allowance, with a corresponding net adjustment to deferred income tax benefit.

n 2017, we recorded impairment charges totaling $38.0 million related to goodwill and/or trade names associated with our Lake Charles,
Vicksburg and Lula reporting units.

In 2017, we recognized a loss fotaling $2+7.3 million as a result of the debt refinancing transaction related to our acquisition of Isle. 1n
connection with such acquisition, we issucd an additional $300 million of senior notes and used the proceeds of the offering to repay
all of the outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility and repay a portion of the ouistanding borrowings under our term
foan. We recognized a loss of $11.1 million on the retirement of existing debt.

fn 2018, we recorded impairment charges totaling $13.6 miltion related to the pending sale of our Nemacolin property and Vicksburg
operations as assets held for sale. Upen the termination of the sale of Vicksburg, we recognized 2 $5.0 million termination fee as income.

In 2018, transaction expenses related to our acquisitions of Isle, Elgin and Tropicana totaled $20.8 mition.

Tn 2018, we issued $600 miltion of senior notes to fund the Tropicana Acquisition. Additionaily, in connection with the Tropicana
Acquisition we incurred a £246 million interest-only mortgage note.

Tn 2018, we entered into the Master Lease with GLPY in conjunction with the Tropicana Acquisition and recorded a direct financing
obligation and corresponding asset. Minimum lease payments are recorded as interest expense and totaled $24.4 million in 2018
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Ttem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ard Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion together with the financial statements, including the related notes and the other financial
information, contained in this Annal Report on Form 10-K.

Eldorado Resorts, Inc., a Nevada corporation, is referred to as the “Company,” “ERL” or the “Registrant,” and together with its subsidiaries
may also be referred to as “ye,” “us” or “our.”

Overview

We are a geographically diversified gaming and hospitality company with 28 gaming facilities in 13 states as of December 31, 2018. Our
properties, which arc located in Ohio, Louisiana, Nevada, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Colorado, Florida, Towa, Mississippi, Hinois,
Indiana and Missouri, feature approximately 30,000 slot machines and video lotiery terminals (“VLTs™), approximately 800 table games and
approximately §2,600 hotel rooms. Our primary source of revenue is generated by gaming operations, and we utilize our hotels, restaurants, bars,
entertainment, racing, retail shops and other services to atiract customers o our properties,

We were founded in 1973 by the Carano family with the opening of the Eldorado Hotel Casino in Reno, Nevada. In 1993, we partnered with
MGM Resorts International to build Sitver Legacy Resort Casino, the first mega-themed resort in Reno. T 2005, we acquired our first propetty
outside of Reno when we purchased a casino in Shreveport, Louisiana, now known as Eldorado Shreveport. In September 2014, we merged with
MTR Gaming Group, Inc. and acquired its three gaming and racing facilities in Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia. The following year, in
November 2015, we acquired Circus Circus Reno and the 50% membership interest in the Silver Legacy that was owned by MGM Resorts
nternational. On May 1, 2017, we completed our acguisition of Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc. (“Isle” or “Isle of Capri™), adding 13 gaming properties to
our portfolio. On August 7, 2018, we acquired the Blgin Riverboat Resort = Riverboat Casino d/b/a Grand Victoria Casino (“Elgin”) {“Elgin
Acquisition”). On October 1, 2018, we completed our acquisition of Tropicana Entertainment, Inc. (“Tropicana™), adding seven properties to our
portfolio (the “Tropicana Acquisition™).

As of December 31, 2018, we owned and operated the following properties:

. Eldorado Resort Casino Reno (“Eldorado Reno™—A 814-room hotel, casino and enterfainment facility connected via an enclosed
skywalk to Silver Legacy and Cireus Reno located in downtown Reno, Nevada that includes 1,117 slot machines and 36 table games;

. Silver Legacy Resort Casino (“Siiver Legacy”)—A 1,685-room themed hotel and casino connected via an enclosed skywalk to Eldorado
Reno and Circus Reno that includes 1,119 slol machines, 4% {able games and a 13-table poker room;

. Circus Circus Reno (“Circus Reno”)y—A 1,571-room hotel-casino and entertainment complex connected via an enctosed skywalk io
Eldorado Reno and Silver Legacy that includes 722 stot machines;

. Eldorado Resort Casino Shreveport (“Eldorado Shreveport™}—a 4{3-room, all suite art deco-style hotel and tri-level riverboat dockside
casino situated on the Red River in Shreveport, Louisiana that includes 1,388 slot machines, 572 table games and an eight-table poker
FOOTIL,

. Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack & Resort {“Mountaineer”)}—A 357.ro0m hotel, casino, entertainment and live thoroughbred horse
racing facility located on the Ohio River at the northern tip of West Virginia’s northwestern panhandle that includes 1,486 slot
machines, 36 table games and a 10-table poker room;

. Presque Iste Downs & Casino {(“Presque Isle Downs”}—A casino and live thoroughbred horse racing facility with 1,596 slot machines,
32 table games and a seven-table poker room located in Erie, Pennsylvania;

. Eidorade Gaming Scioto Downs (“Scioto Downs”}—A modern “racino” offering 2,238 VLTs, harness racing and a 118-room third party
hotel connected to Scioto Downs located 15 minutes from downtown Columbus, Ohio.

. Isle Casino Hotel-—Black Hawk (“Isle Black Hawk™—A land-based casino on an approximately 10-acre site in Black Hawk, Colorado
that includes 966 slot machines, 28 table games, a 10-table poker room and a 238-room hotel;

- Lady Luck Casino—Black Hawk {“Lady Luck Black Hawk—A land-based casino across the intersection from Isle Casino Hotel in
Black Hawk Colorado, that includes 442 slot machines, seven table games and a 164-room hotel with a parking structure connecting Isle
Black Hawk and Lady Luck Black Hawlk;
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. fsle Casino Racing Pompano Park (“Pompano”™)-—A casino and harness racing track on an approximately 223-acre owned site in
Pompane Beach, Florida that includes 1,596 slot machines and a 39-table poker room;

. Isle Casino Bettendorf (“Bettendorf")—A land-based single-leve] casino located off Interstate 74 in Bettendorf, lowa that includes 969
siot machines and 15 table games with two hotel towers with 509 hotel rooms;

- Isle Casino Waterloo (“Waterloo”}—A single-level Jand-based casino in Waterloo, Iowa that includes 939 slot machines, 23 table
games, and a 194-room hotel;

. Isle of Capri Casino Hotel Lake Charles (“Lake Charles”)—A gaming vessel on an approximately 19-acre site in Lake Charles, Louisiana,
with 1,164 slot machines, 34 table games, 11 poker tables, and two hotels offering 493 rooms;

. Isle of Capri Casino Lula (“Lula”}—Two dockside casinos in Lula, Mississippi with 862 slot machines and 25 table games, two on-site
hotels with a total of 486 rooms and a 28-space RV Park;

. Lady Luck Casino Vicksburg {“Vicksburg™)—A dockside casino in Vicksburg, Mississippi that inciudes 607 slot machines and a hotel
with a total of 89 rcoms;

. Isle of Capri Casino Boonville (“Boonville”}—A single-level dockside casino in Boonville, Missouri that includes 881 slot machines, 20
table games and a 140-room hotel;

. Isle Casino Cape Girardeau (“Cape Girardeau™}—A dockside casino and pavilion and entertainment center in Cape Girardeau, Missouri
that includes 863 siot machines, 20 table games and four poker tables;

. Lady Luck Casino Caruthersviile (“Caruthersville”)—A riverboat casino Jocated along the Mississippi River in Caruthersville, Missouri
that includes 507 slot machines and nine fable games;

. Isle of Capri Casino Kansas City (“Kansas City”}y—A dockside casino located close to downtown Kansas City, Missouri offering 938
slot machines and 13 table games;

. Lady Luck Casino Nemacolin (“Nemacolin”}—A casine property located on the 2,000-acre Nemacolin Woodlands Resort in Western
Pennsylvania that includes 600 slot machines and 28 table games.

- Tropicana Casino and Resort, Atlantic City (“Trop AC™)—A casino and resort situated on approximately 15 acres with approximately
660 feet of ocean frontage in Atlantic City, New Yersey that includes approximately 2,464 slot machines, 107 table games, 18 poker tables
and 2,366 hotel rooms;

. Tropicana Evansville (“Evansviile”}-—A casino hotel and entertainment complex in Evansville, Indiana featuring 1,128 slot machines, 33
table games, eight poker tables and two on-site hotels with a total of 338 rooms;

. Lumitre Place Casino (“Lumigre”}—A casino located on approximately 20 acres, located in historic downtown St. Louis, Missouri near
business and entertainment districts and overlooks the Mississippt River with approximately 1,401 slot machines, 48 table games, 10
poker tables and 494 hotel rooms;

. Tropicana Laughlin Hotel and Casino (“Langhlin”}—A casino in (Casine Drive, Laughlin, Nevada that includes approximately 895 slot
machines, 20 table games and 1,487 hotel rooms;

. MontBleu Casino Resort & Spa (“MontBleu”}—A casino situated on approximately 21 acres in South Lake Tahoe, Nevada surrounded
by the Sierra Nevada Mountains featuring approximately 474 slot machines, 17 table games and 438 hotel reoms;

. Trop Casino Greenville (“Greenville”)—A landside gaming facility located in Greenville, Mississippi with approximately 390 slot
machines, 10 table games and 40 hotel rooms;

. Belle of Baton Rouge Casino & Hotel (“Baton Rouge”)—A dockside riverboat situated on approximately 23 acres on the Mississippi
River in the downtown historic district of Baton Rouge featuring approximately 773 shot machines, 14 table games and 288 hotel rooms,
and

. Grand Victoria Casino (“Elgin”)—A casino located in Elgin, Iilinois featuring approximately 1,088 stot machines and 30 table games.

In addition, Scioto Downs, through its subsidiary RacelineBet, Inc., also operates Racelinebet.com, a national account wagering service that
offers online and telephone wagering on horse races asa marketing affiliate of TwinSpires.com, an affiliate of Churchiill Downs Incorporated.
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Acqguisitions and Development Opportunities
Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.

On May 1, 2017, we completed our acquisition of Isle pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of September 19, 2016 with
Isle. As a resuit of the acquisition of Isle, Isle became a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours and, at the effective time of the acquisition of Isle, each
outstanding share of ksle common stock converted into the right to receive $23.00 in cash or 1.638 shares of our commeon stock, at the clection of
the applicable Isle shareholder and subject to proration such that the outsianding shares of Isle commaon stock were exchanged for aggregate
consideration comprised of 58% cash, or $552.0 million, and 42% of our common stock, or 28.5 million newly issued shares of our common stock.
The total purchase consideration was $1.93 billion,

In connection with our acquisition of Isle, we completed a debt financing transaction comprised of: (a) a senior secured credit facility in an
aggregate principal amount of $1.75 biflion with a (i) term loan facility of $1.45 biltion and (ii) revolving credit facility of $300.0 million and (b} $375.0
million of senior unsecured notes. The proceeds of such borrowings were used to pay the cash portion of the consideration payable in the
acquisition of Isle, refinance il of Isle’s existing credit facilities, redeem or otherwise repurchase all of Isle’s senior and senior subordinated notes,
refinance our existing credit facility and pay transaction fees and expenses related to the foregoing.

Grand Victoria Casino

On Augusi 7, 2018, we completed the acquisition of the Grand Victoria Casino in Elgin, [ilinois. We purchased Elgin for $328.8 million,
including a working capital adjustment totaling $1.3 million. The Elgin Acqguisition was financed using cash on hand and borrowings under the
Company’s revolving credit facility.

Tropicana Enfertainment Inc.

On October 1, 2018, we acquired Tropicana in a cash transaction valued at $1.9 billion. At the closing of the transaction Tropicana became 2
wholly-owned subsidiary of ours. Fmmediately prior to our acquisition, Tropicana sold Tropicana Aruba Resort and GLP Capital, L.P., a wholly
owned subsidiary of Gaming and Leisure Properties, fnc. (“GLPT”), acquired substantially all of Tropicana’s real estate, other than the real estate
underlying MontBleu and Lumiére, for approximately $964 million. We acquired the real estate underlying Lumizre for $246 million with the
proceeds of a $246 million loan from GLPL We funded the remaining consideration payable with our cash on hand and cash on hand at Tropicana,
borrowings under our revolving credit facility and proceeds from our offering of $600 million of 6.0% semior notes due 2026. In addition, our
borrowing capacity on our revolving credit facility increased from $300 million to $500 miltion effective October 1, 2018, and the maturity of the
revolving credit facility was extended to October 1, 2023.

Substantially concurrently with the acquisition of the real estate portfolio by GLPL we entered into a triple net master lease for the Tropicana
properties acquired by GLP! with an initial term of 15 years, with renewals of up to 20 years at our option (“Master Lease™). Under the Master
Lease, we are required to pay the following, among other things: lease payments to the underlying ground lessor for properties that are subject to
ground leases, facility maintenance costs, all insurance premiums for insurance with respect to the leased properties and the business conducted
on the leased properties, taxes levied on or with respect to the leased properties (other than taxes on the income of the lessor and all utilities and
other services necessary of appropriate for the leased properties and the business conducted on the leased properties). The annual rent under the
terms of the lease was initially approximately $87.6 million and is subject to annual esealation. We do not have the ability to terminate the
obligations under the Master Lease prior to its expiration without GLP!'s consend.

Lumiére Loan

In connection with the purchase of the real estate related to Lumiére, GLPI, Tropicana St. Louis RE LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours
(“Tropicana St. Louis RE™), and GLPI entered into a loan agreement, dated as of October 1,2018 (the “Lumire Loan”), relating to a loan of $246
miltion by GLPI to Tropicana St. Louis RE to fund the entire purchase price of the real estate underlying Lumiére. The Lumitre Loan is guaranteed
by us, bears interest at a rate equal to (1) 9.09% until October 1, 2019 and (if) 9.27% thereafter and matures on October 1, 2020, The Lumiére Loan is
secured by a first priority mortgage on the Lumiére real estate until October 1, 7019, In connection with the issuance of the Lumiére Loan, we agreed
t0 use our commercially reasonable offorts to transfer one or more of Elgin, Bettendorf, Waterloo, Lula, Vicksburg and Mountaineer or such other
property of properties mutuatly acceptable to Tropicana St. Louis RE and GLPI, provided that the aggregate vatue of such property, individually or
collectively, is at least $246 million (the “Replacement Property”), to GLPI with a simultaneous leaseback to us of such Replacement Property. In
connection with such Replacement Property sale, (i) we and GLP1 will enter info an amendment to the Master Lease {o revise the econornic terms o
include the Replacement Property, (i) GLPL or one of its affiliates, will assume the Lumiére Loan and Tropicana St. Louis RE’s obligations under the
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1 umiére Loan in consideration of the acquisition of the Replacement Property and our Tropicana St. Louis RE’s obligations under the Lumiére Loan
will be deemed to have been satisfied, (iii) the Lumiére Real Property will be released from the Hen placed on it in connection with the Lumigre Loan
(if such lien has not yet been released in accordance with the terms of the Lumiére Loan) and (iv) in the event the value of the Replacement
Property is greater than the outstanding obligations of Tropicana St. Louis RE under the Lumiére Loan, GLPT will pay Tropicana St. Louis RE the
difference between the valtue of the Replacement Property and the amount of cutstanding obligations vnder the Lumiére Loan. If such Replacement
Property transaction is not consummated prior to the maturity date of the Lumiére Loan, other than as a result of certain failures to perform by GLPI,
then the amounts outstanding will be paid in full and the rent under the Master Lease will automatically increase, subject to certain escalations.

William Hill

In September 2018, we entered into a 25-year agreement, which became effective January 2019, with Witliam Hill PLC and William Fill US, its
1.8, subsidiary (together, “William Hill”} pursuant to which we (i) granted to William Hill the right to conduct betting activities in retail channels
and under our first skin and third skin for anline channels with respect to our current and future properties located in the United States and the
territories and possessions of the United States, including Puerto Rico and the 3.8, Virgin Islands and (ii) agreed that William Hill will have the
right to conduet real money online gaming activities utilizing our second skin available with respect to properties in such territory. Pursuant to the
terms of the agreement, in January 2019 we received a 20% equity stake in William Hill US as wetl as 13.4 million ordinary shares of Wiiliam Hill PL.C,
and we will receive a revenue share from the operation of retail betting and enline betting and gaming activities.

The Stars Group

In November 2018, we entered into a 20-year agreement with The Stars Group Inc. (“TSG”) pursuant to which we agreed to provide TSG with
options to obtain access to our second skin for online sports wagering and third skin for real money online gaming and poker, in each case with
respect to our properties in the United States. Under the ferms of the agreement, we will receive a revenue share from the operation of the
applicable verticals by TSG under our licenses. Pursuant to the terms of the TSG agreement, we received 1,1 miltion TSG commen shares and we
may reccive an additional $5.0 million in TSG common shares upon the exercise of the first option by TSG. We may also receive additional TSG
common shares in the future based on TSG net gaming revenue generated in our markets.

Pompano Joint Venture

In April 2018, we entered into a joint venture with Cordish Companies (“Cordish™) to master plan and develop a mixed-use entertainment and
hospitality destination expected to be located on unused land adjacent to the casino and racetrack at our Pompano property. As the managing
member, Cordish will operate the business and manage the development, construction, financing, marketing, leasing, maintenance and day-to-day
operation of the various phases of the project. Additionally, we will be responsible for the development of the master plan for the project with our
input and will submit it for our review and approval. We and Cordish have made initial cash contributions of $250,000 sach and could be required to
make additional contributions to a maximum of $2.0 million {$1.0 million per member) at the request of the managing member. We have agreed to
contribute tand to the joint venture for the project. While we hold a 50% variable interest in the joint venture, we are not the primary heneficiary; as
such the investment in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity method. We wiil participate evenly with Cordish in the profits and losses
of the joint venture, which is included in loss from unconsolidated affiliates on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Dispositions

On February 28, 2018, we entered into definitive agreements to sell substantially alt of the assets and liabilities of Presque Isle Downs and
Vicksburg to Churchill Downs Incorporated (“CDI™). Under the terms of the agreements, CDI agreed to purchase Presque Iste Downs for cash
consideration of approximately $178.9 qmillion and Vicksburg for cash consideration of approximately $350.6 million, in each case subjecttoa
customary working capital adjustment. In conjunction with the classification of Vicksburg's operations as assets held for sale at March 31, 2018 as
a result of the announced sale to CDI, an impairment charge totaling $9.8 mitlion was recorded duc to the carrying value exceeding the estimated net
sales proceeds.
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The definitive agreements provided that the dispositions were subject to receipt of required regulatory approvals, termination of the waiting
period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act and other cusiomary closing conditions, including, in the case of Presque 1sle Downs, the prior closing of
the sale of Vicksburg or the entry into an agreement to acquire another asset of ours. On May 7, 2018, we and CDI each recetved a Request for
Additional Information and Documentary Materials, often referred toas a “Second Request,” from the Federal Trade Commission in connection
with its review of the Vicksburg acquisition.

On July 6, 2018, in consideration of the time and expense needed to reply to the Second Request, the Company and CDI entered into &
termination agreement and release pursuant {0 which the parties agreed to terminate the asset purchase agresment with respect to Vicksburg and to
enter into an asset purchase agreement pursuant to which D1 would acquire and assume the rights and obligations 0 operate Nemacolin (the
«yicksburg Termination Agreement™). The Vicksburg Termination Agreement also provided that DI would pay us a $5.0 million termination fee
upon execution of a definitive agreement with respect to the Nemacolin transaction. On August 10, 2018, we entered inte a definitive agreement to
sell substantially a1l of the assets and Liabilities of Nemacolin to CDL Under the terms of the agreement, CDI agreed to purchase Nemacolin for cash
consideration of approximately $0.1 million, subject to a customary working capital adjustment.

As a result of the agreement to scll Nemacolin, an impairment charge of $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 was recorded due
to the carrying value of the net property and equipment being sold exceeding the estimated net sales proceeds.

We closed on the sale of Presque Isle Downs on Tanuary 11, 2019. We expect to close on the sale of Nemacolin in the first quarter of 2019,
subject to satisfaction of closing conditions, including receipt of Pennsylvania regulatory approvals.

Reportable Segments

The executive decision maker of our company reviews operating resulls, assesses performance and makes decisionson a “gignificant
market” basis. Our management views each of its properties as an operating segment. Operating segments are aggregated based on their similar
sconomic characteristics, types of customers, types of services and products provided, the reguliatory environments in which they operate, and
their management and reposting structure. Prior to our acquisition of Isle, our principal operating activities occurred in three geographic regions:
Nevada, Louisiana and parts of the eastern United States. Following the Isle Acquisition, the Company’s principal operating activities occurred in
four geographic regions and reportable scgments: West, Midwest, South and East. Following the Tropicana Acquisition and Elgin Acquisition, an
additional scgment, Central, was added increasing our reportable segments to five.

Presentation of Financial Information

The financial information included in this liem 7 for periods prior to our acquisitions of Isle, Elgin, and Tropicana are those of ERT and its
subsidiaries. The presentation of information herein for pertods prior to our acquisitions of Isle, Elgin and Tropicana and after our acquisition of
Isle, Elgin and Tropicana are not fully comparable because the results of operations for Isle, Elgin and Tropicana are not included for periods prior
to their respective acquisition dates.

Summary financial results of Isle for the three and nine months ended January 22, 2017 are inciuded in Iste’s Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission {*SEC™). In conjunction with our acquisition of Isle, Isle is no longer required to file
quarterty and annual reporis with the SEC and terminated its re gistration on May 11, 2017,

Summary financial results of Tropicana for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 are included in Tropicana’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as filed with the SEC. In conjunction with our acquisition of Tropicana, Tropicana is no longer required to file quarterky and annual
reports with the SEC and terminated its registration on October 1, 2018, -

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”} is intended to provide information to
assist in better understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations. Our historical operating resulis may not be
indicative of our future results of operations because of these factors and the changing competitive landscape in each of our markets, as well as by
factors discussed clsewhere herein. We recommend that you read this MD&A in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements
and the notes to those statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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The following table summarizes our segments as of December 31, 2018 and reporting periods based on acquisition dates:
Segment Property Date Acquired State
West Eldorado Reno (@) Nevada
Silver Legacy (@) Nevada
Circus Reno (a) Nevada
MoniBleu ~ October 1,2018 Nevada
Laughlin October 1, 2018 Nevada
 Isle Black Hawk May 1, 2017 ~ Colorado
Lady Luck Black Hawk . May 1, 2017 Colorado
Midwest Waterloo " May 1, 2017 lowa
Bettendorf - May 1, 2017 lowa
Boonville “May 1, 2017 Missouri
Cape Girardeau May 1, 2017 Missouri
- Caruthersville May 1, 2017 Missouri
Kansas City May 1, 2017 Missouri
South Pompano ‘May 1, 2017 Florida
Eldorado Shreveport (2) Louisiana
_ Lake Charles May 1, 2017 Louisiana
Baton Rouge October 1, 2018 {ouisiana
Lula o ~ May 1, 2017 ~ Mississippl
Vicksburg May 1, 2017 Mississippi
Greenville October 1, 2018 Mississippi
East _ Presque Isle Downs _ (@) _ Pennsylvania
Nemacolin ' May 1, 2017 " Pennsylvania
Scioto Downs {a) Ohio
" Mountaineer {2 West Virginia
Trop AC October 1, 2013 New Jersey
Central ~ Elgin August 7, 2018 ~ Hineis
' Lumiére October 1,2018 Missouri
Evansville October 1, 2018 Indiana

(a) Property was aggregated into segment prior to January 1, 2016.
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Significant Factors Irnpacting Financial Results

2016.

The following summary highlights the sigpificant factors impacting our financial results during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and

Isle Acquisition - Our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 include incremental revenues and
expenses atiributable to the 13 properties we acquired in our acquisition of Isle on May 1, 2017. Transaction {credits) expenses refated
10 our acquisition of Isle for legal, accounting, financial advisory services, severance, stock awards and other costs totaled $(1.4)
million for the year ended December 31, 2018 and $92.8 miliion for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Elgin Acquisition — Qur results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 include incremental revenues and expenses for the
period of August 7, 2018 through December 31, 2018 atiributable to Elgin. Transaction expenses related to our acquisition of Elgin
totaled $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Tropicana Acquisition — Qur results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 include incremental revenues and expenses
atiribuiable to the seven properties we acquired in our acquisition of Tropicana on October 1, 2018, Transaction expenses related to our
acquisition of Tropicana totaled $18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Master Lease — We accounted for the Master Lease with GLPI as a direct financing obligation effective October 1,2018. Asa result, we
recorded minimum lease payments and amortization of the direct financing obligation totaling $24.4 million as interest expense during
the year ended December 31, 2018.

Lake Charles Terminated Sale — On August 22, 2016, Isie entered into an agreement to gell its casino and hotel property in Lake
Charles, Louisiana, for $134.5 miilion, subject to a customary purchase price adjustment, to an affiliate of Laguna Development
Corporation, a Pueblo of Laguna-owned business based in Albuquerque, New Mexico. On November 21, 2017, we terminated the
agreement. The closing of the {ransaction was subject Lo certain closing conditions, including obtaining certain gaming approvals, and
was to occur on or before the termination date, which had been extended by the parties to November 20, 2017. The buyer did not obtain
the required gaming approvals prior to the termination date, and pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the $20.0 million deposit was
forfeited upon termination of the agreement and recorded as operating income in the fourth quarter of 2017.

In periods prior to the termination of the agreement, the operations of Lake Chartes were classified as discontinued operations and as
an asset held for sate. As a result of the termination of the sale in the fourth quarter of 2017, Lake Charles was no longer classified as
an asset held for sale and as discontinued operations.

Dispositions — The sales of Presque Isle Downs and Wemacolin met the reguirements for presentation as assets held for sale under
generally accepted accounting principles. However, they did not meet the requirements for presentation as discontinued operations
and are included in income from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.

In conjunction with the classification of Vicksburg’s operations as assets held for sale at March 31, 2018 as a result of the
announced sale to CDI, an impairment charge totaling $9.8 million was recorded due to the carrying value exceeding the estimated
net sales proceeds. Effective July 6. 2018, the sale of Vicksburg was terminated, and Vicksburg was no longer presented as an asset
held for sale as of September 30, 2018. In connection with this termination, CDI paid us a $5.0 million termination fee, which is

included in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2013.

On August 10, 2018, we entered into an agreement Lo sell our rights and obligations to operate Nemacolin. Due to the carrying value
of the property and equipment being sold exceeding the estimated net sales proceeds, we recorded an impairment charge for the year
ended December 31, 2018 totaling $3.8 million refated to Nemacolin.

The sale of Presque Isle Downs closed on January 11, 2019 and the sale of Nemacolin is expected to close in in the first quarter of
2015.

Jsle Debt Refinancing — In connection with the Isle Acquisition, we completed a debt financing transaction comprised of: (i) a senior
secured credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1.75 billion with a term loan facility of $1.45 billion and revolving credit
facitity of $300.0 million and (if) $375.0 miflion of 6.0% senior notes due 2025. The proceeds of such borrowings were used to pay the
cash portion of the consideration payable in the Isle Merger, refinance all of Isle’s existing credit facilities, redeem or otherwise
repurchase alt of Isle’s senior and senior subordinated notes, refinance our existing credit facility and pay transaction fees and
expenses related to the foregoing. We recognized a foss totating $27.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 as a result of the
Isle debt refinancing transaction (See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for more information related to the debt refinancing).
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Add-on Notes — On September 13, 2017, we issued an additional $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.0% senior notes due
2025 at an issue price equal to 105.5% of the principal amount. We used the proceeds of the offering to repay all of the outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility totaling $78.0 millior and used the remainder to repay outstanding borrowings totaling
$444.5 million under the term foan plus related accrued interest. We recognized a loss of $11.1 million as a result of the issuance of
additional debt and retirement of existing debt for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Tropicana Financing — On September 20, 2018, we issued $600.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.0% senior notes due 2026.
The proceeds from the potes were used to fund the Tropicana Acquisition which clased on October 1, 2018. We incurred $10.1 miilion
of incremental interest expense on these notes for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act — On December 22, 2017, the 1.8, government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act made broad and complex changes to the 11.S. tax code, including, but not
limited to, reducing the U.S. federal corporate fax rate from 35% to 21%. In connection with our initial analysis of the impact of the Tax
Act, for certain of our net deferred tax liabilities, we recorded a decrease of $111.9 million, net of the related change in valuation
allowance, with a corresponding net adjustment to deferred income tax benefit for the year ending December 31,2017 as aresult of the
corporate rate reduction resuiting in a positive kmpact on net income.

Impairment Charges - On October 1, 2017 we conducted annual impairment tests of our intangible assets. Based on lower than
expected operating performance and projected future operating results, it was determined that the value of goodwill and/or trade names
associated with our Lake Charles, Vicksburg and Lufa reporting units were impaired resulting in impairment charges totaling $38.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Severe Weather — During the third quarter of 2017, Hurricanes Harvey and Irma negatively impacted our South region, specifically our
Pompano, Lake Charles and Eldorade Shreveport properties, and made travel to those properties impossible or difficult. While Pompano
did not sustain any major physical damage, we incurred incremental expenses as a result of the storms and were forced to close the
casino for four days and experienced disruption to our business for a longer period of time.

Our Wesl segment’s operations are subject to seasonal variation, with our lowest business volume generally ocourring during the
winter months. The northern Nevada region experienced record snowfall and severe weather conditions, including major Snow
storms during eleven of the fourteen weekends in the 2017 first quarter, making travel to Reno from northern California, our main
feeder market, difficult or impossible due to road closures. As a result, there was a significant adverse effect on business levels,
especially hotel occupancy and gaming volume, during the first quarter of 2017, and our operating performance for the vear ended
December 31, 2017 compared fo 2016.

Execution of Synergies and Cost Savings Programs — We continue to identify areas to improve property level and consolidated
margins through operating and cost efficicncies and exercising financial discipline throughout the company without impacting the
guest experience. In addition fo cost savings relating to duplicative executive compensation, legal and accourting fees and other
corporate expenses that have been eliminated as a result of our acquisitions, we have achicved savings in marketing, food and
beverage costs, selling, general and administrative expenses, and other operating departments as a result of operating efficiencies and
purchasing power of the combined Eldosade organization.

Property Enhancement Capital Expenditures — Property enhancement initiatives and targeted investments that improve our guesis’
experiences and elevate our properties’ overall competitiveness in their markets continued throughout 2016, 2017 and 2018,

As part of the continuing evolution of the Reno tri-properties, we buiit a new 21,000 square foot spa at Silver Legacy which opened
in early October 2018. We have substantially renovated every room at Circus Reno and will start the first phase of renovations of 400
rooms at Silver Legacy and 42 high-end suites at Eldorado in the second half of 2019, In Black Hawk we expect to regovate alt 402
hotel rooms during the first half of 2019. In addition, our joint venture with Cordish continues making progress on development
plans of a new world-class, mixed-use entertainment and hospitality destination anchored by our Isle Casino Racing Pompano Park.

A 118-room Hampton Inn Hotel at Seioto Downs developed by a third party opened it March 2017 and since opening has driven
visitation and spend at the property.

New Regulation — Effective January 1, 2016, the Ohio Lottery Commission enacted new regulation which resulted in the establishment
of a $1.0 million progressive slot liability and a corresponding decrease in net slot win for the year ended December 31, 2016, The
changes are non-cash and related to jackpots established in prior years. The net non-cash impact to Scioto Down’s gaming revenues
and operating income was $1.0 million and $0.6 million, respectively for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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Results of Operations

The following table highlights the results of our operations (doltars in thousands):

Year Ended
Pecember 31, Change %
) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs 2017 2617 vs 2016
Net revenues Co $ 2,056,007 $ 1,480,798 §$ 900,465 388 % 644 %
Operating income _ 310,103 54 810 88,700 2211 % 69 %
Net income : 95,235 73,380 24,527 298 % 1992 %

Operating Results. Including incremental Isle, Eigin and Tropicana net revenues totaling $575.5 million generated following their respective
acquisition dates, net revenucs increased 38.8% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, Excluding incremental Isle, Elgin and
Tropicana net revenues, net revenues remained flat for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017.

Isle contributed $600.1 million of incremental net revenues from the date we acquired Isle on May 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017
consisting primarity of gaming revenues. Including these incremental net revenues, net revenues increased 64.4% for the year ended December 31,
2017 compared to 2016. Excluding these incremental net revenues, net revenues dectined 2.2% for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
2016, primarily due to decreased revenues associated with severe weather during the first and third guarters of 2017,

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, operating income increased 227.1% mainly due to incremental operating income
contributed by Iste, Elgin and Tropicana foliowing their respective acquisition dates, Incremental operating income totaling $80.7 million represents
operating income for four months of operations for Isle, five months of operations for Elgin and three months of operations for Tropicana.
Excluding the incremental operating income, operating income rose 141.9% for the year ended December 3 1, 2018 compared to 2017 due to margin
improvement resulting from synergies and deparimental operating efficiencies, a $34.2 million decrease in impairment charges and a $71.9 miilion
decline in transaction expenses. These increases in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 were partially offset
by higher depreciation associated with additional assets.

Operating income increased 6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016. This increase was primarily due to $82.3 million of
incremental operating income contributed by Isle for the year ended December 31, 2017 and a $26.0 million deposit recorded as operating income in
conjunction with the termination of the sale our Lake Charles property. These increases were partially offset by the $83.6 milfion increase in
transaction expenses associated with our acquisition of Isle and the $38.0 million impairment charge recorded in 2017 to reduce the carrying value
of goodwill and/or trade names related to our Lake Charles, Lula and Vicksburg reporting units.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, net income increased 29.8% due to the same factors impacting operating income
combined with the $38.4 million loss on the early retirement of debt for the year ended December 31, 2017 associated with our refinancing completed
in May 2017. These increases were partially offset by higher interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 resulting from
increased debt and amortization of the direct financing obligation associated with the Master Lease following our acquisitions. Additionally, the
increase in our tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 due to the favorable impact of the Tax Act in 2017 also
partiatly offset the increases in net income.

Net income increased 199.2% in 2017 compared to 2016 primarily due to the $111.9 million net adjustment to our deferred income tax benefit
for the year ending December 31, 2017 as a result of the corporate tax rate reduction due to the Tax Act, combined with the other factors impacting
operating income. This increase was partially offset by higher intercst expense resulting from the issuance of new debt and the loss on the early
retirement of debt recorded in 2017

The following table highlights our net revenues and operating inceme (loss) by reportable segment (dollars in thousands):

Net Revenues Operating Income (Loss)
for the Year Ended December 31, for the Year Ended December 31,
) o _ 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016

West : o g 483532 8 410319 $ 327,541 $ 84548 3 66,108 § 41451
Midwest _ _ 397,008 268,879 — $05,809 62,071 —
South : : s 461,181 338,259 133,557 64,851 3,680 23,378
East ST 462,835 439,367 97,963 68,101 53,361
Central : S 142,485 — — 24,240 — —
Corporate - - 529 506 — (67,308) __ (105,150) (29,490)

Total ' $ 2056007 § 1,480,798 $ 900465 $ 310,103 3§ 94810 § 48,700
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Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Net revenues and operating expenses were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2018 2017 Variance __ Change
Revenues: ' ' C
Gaming and Pari-Mutuel Commissions: _ _ :
West . e : ' $ 230571 0§ - 186779 § 43,792 : 234 % =
Midwest . L ds4% 231366 433 493 %
South . r : o 375,748 268,680 107,068 398 %
East L 485,047 402202 T84S 11T %
Central 116,526 ' — 116,526 100.0 %
Total Gaming and Pari-Mutuel Commissions 1,553,391 1,099,027 454,364 413 %
Non-gaming; ' o ' I
West o _ o _ 252,961 223,540 29,421 132 %
Midwest ' ' _ ' 51,509 37,513 13,996 373 %
South - _ - 85433 69,579 15854 228 %
East - 86,225 50,633 35,592 703 %
Central y _ o 25,959 — 25959 1000 %
Corporate 529 506 23 45 %
Total Non-gaming - o 502,616 381,771 120,845 317 %
- Total Net Revenues _ C ' 2,056,007 1,480,798 575,209 388 %
Expenses:
(Gaming and Pari-Mutue] Commissions: R .
West L | o se622 73304 1338 182 %
Midwest o T : . - 141,641 96,989 44,652 460 % ;
South _ . 180,325 134,661 45,664 339 %
East : E 286,202 256,135 30,067 117 %
Central _ 54,499 — 54499 1000 %
- "Total Gaming and Pari-Mutue] Commissions ' © 749289 Tt 561,089 188200 " 3335 %
Non-gaming . . e N o L N _ o
West _ _ o ' 151,211 141,510 ' 9,701 ' 69 %
Midwest o o 30951 26271 4680 118 %
South : 36,607 49,280 - 71,327 149 %
East | L 11 S - X 16018 451 %
Central o - _ S 15,998 — 15,998 100.0 %
Total Non-gaming o _ 306303 252,579 53,724 213 %
Marketing and promotions o _ _ 106,161 83,174 _ 2987 0 276 %
General and administrative - o o ' 349,598 241,037 108,561 T 430 %
Corporate _ o 46,632 _ 30,739 15,893 517 %
Impatrment charges ' 13,602 38,016 (24,414) {64.2) %
) __Dcpreciatiqn_andarnortizat_ion N o 157,429 105,891 ] 51,538 487 %
‘Total Operating Expenses $ 1,729,014 . § 1,312,525 % 416,489 317 %

Gaming Revenues and Pari-Mutuel Commissions. Tor the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, Isle, Elgin and Tropicana
contributed $454.7 million of gaming and pari-mutuei commissions driving a 41 .3% year over year increase. Excluding these incremental revenues,
gaming and pari-mutuel commissions were flat for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017.

Non-gaming Revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, Isle, Elgin and Tropicana coniributed $121.0 million of
incremental non-gaming revenues resulting in an increase of 31.7% year over year, Excluding these incremental revenues, non-gaming sevenues for
the year ended Decernber 31, 2018 compared to 2017 remained flat.
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Gaming FExpenses and Pari-Muiuel Commissions. For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, Isle, Elgin and Tropicana
contributed $197.5 million of incremental gaming and pari-mutuel commissions resulting in an increase of 33.5% year over-year. Excluding these
incremental expenses, gaming and pari-mutuel commissions declined 1.7% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 mainly due to
savings initiatives targeted at reducing variable expenses. Successful efforts to control costs and maximize departmental profit across ajl segments
also drove the margin improvements for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017.

Non-gaming Expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, Isle, Eigin and Tropicana contributed $74.2 million of
incremental non-gaming expenses resulting in an increase of 21.3% year over year. Excluding incremental expenses, non- gaming expenses declined
8.1% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017. This decrease was atiributable to continued efforts to reduce variable costs with a
focus on labor, food and beverage cost of sales, marketing spend and synergies achieved via company-wide purchasing consolidation programs.

Marketing and Promotions Expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, ksle, Elgin and Tropicana coniributed $35.6
million of incremental marketing and promotions expenses resulting in an increase of 27.6% year over year. Exciuding these incremental expenses,
marketing and promotions declined 15.1% for the vear ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 mainly due to synerpies achieved via the
elimination or consolidation of certain marketing contracts and company-wide reductions in marketing, direct mail and promotional spend.

General and Administrative Expenses. Isle, Elgin and Tropicana contributed $114.8 million of incremental general and administrative
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 resulting in an increase of 45.0% year over year. Excluding these incremental
expenses, general and administrative expenses declined 2.6% for the year ended Decenber 31, 2018 compared to 2017 primarily due to the
centralization of certain corporate services provided to our properties and reatized savings.

Corporate Expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, corporate eXpenses increased $15.9 million, a 51.7% increase
year over year, due to higher payroli and other expenses associated with additional corporate costs, including stock compensation expense,
associated with growth related to our acquisitions.

Impairment Charges. Based on the pending disposition, we recorded an impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 2018 fotaling
$3.8 million related to our Nemacolin properiy. Additionally, in conjunction with the classification of Vicksburg’s operations as assets held for sale,
we recorded an impairment charge totaling $9.8 million.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Tsle, Elgin and Tropicana contributed $50.1 million of incremental depreciation and amortization

expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 resulting in an increase of 48.7% over 2017. Excluding the incremental expense, depreciation and
amortization expense rose 1.3% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 mainly due to asset additions at our three Reno properties.
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Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2016

Net revenues and op'crat"ing exXpenses were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Revenues:
Gaming and Pari-Mutuel Commissions:
West h _ _ oL
Midwest
South
East
Central

Total Gaming and Pari-Mu’guel Commissions

Non-gaming:
West
Midwest
South
Fast
. Central
Corporate
Total Non-gaming
Total Net Revenues
Expenses: _ _
Gaming and Pari-Mutuel Commissions:
. West
- Midwest -
South
East
. Central B
" Total Gaming and Pari-Mutuel Commissions
Non-gaming
CWest -
Midwest
South
Fast
Central
Total Non-gaming

Marketing and promotiions
“ (eneral and administrative
Corporate
Irnpairment charges
Depreciation and amortization
Total Operating Expenses

Gaming Revenues and Pari-Mutuel Commissions. Isle contributed $504.2 million of gami
period from the date we acquired Iste through December 3

0 2016,

2017 2016 Variance Change
6 et § 0 1163 8 65,156 536
231,366 - 231,366 1000
268,680 192,108 176,572 1917
412,202 386,284 25,918 6.7
1,009,027 600,015 499,012 83.2
223,540 205,918 17,622 8.6
37513 — 37,513 100.0
69,579 4L,449 28,130 619
50,633 53,083 (2,450) (4.6)
506 — 506 © 1000
381771 300,450 81,321 27.1
1,480,798 900,465 580,333 644
73304 55,092 18,212 33.1
96,989 S 06,989 - 100.0
134,661 sLTI2 82,949 1604
256,135 245,416 10,719 44
561,089 152,220 208,869 59.3
141,510 130,981 10,529 8.0
26,271 - 26,271 1000
49,280 © 24,141 25,139 104.1
35,518 39,464 (3,946) - (10.0)
252,579 194,586 57993 29.8
83,174 40,890 42284 103.4
241,037 130,720 110,317 84.4
30,739 19,880 10,859 546
18,016 — 38,016 100.0
_ 105,891 63449 42,442 669
§ 1312525 § 801745 $ 510,780 63.7

1, 2017 resulting in an increase of 83.2%
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Excluding incremental Isle gaming revenues and pari-mutuel commissions of $504.2 miilion, gaming revenues declined 0.9% for the year
ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 primarily due to a decrease in gaming revenues across all segments. The decline in the West segment
was mainly attributable to decreases in visitor traffic due to severe weather the northem Nevada region experienced throughout the first quarier of
2017 that resulted in limited access from our main feeder markets combined with the absence of a major bowling tournament in the Reno market.
Additionalty, reductions in gaming volume driven by decreased high-end play, the continued weakness in the energy sector and historically lower
table games hold percentage impacted the Shreveport market and severe weather in the third quarter of 2017 negatively impacted the South
segment in 2017. Efforts to eliminate unprofitable gaming play via reductions in marketing promotions and incentives across the properties also
contributed to the declines in casino volume and positively impacted margins across all segments.

Non-gaming Revenues. Isle contributed $96.0 million of non-gaming revenues for the period from the date we acquired Isle through
December 31, 2017 resulting in an increase of 27.1% over 2016.

Excluding incremental Isle non-gaming revenues of $96.0 million, non-gaming revenues decreased 4.9% for the year ended December 31,
2017 compared to 2016. The West scgment declined for the year ended Decembet 3 1, 2017 compared to 2016 principally due to lower hotel, food
and beverage revenues resulting from reduced customer traffic due to fewer convention room nights, severe weather in the porthern Nevada region
throughout the first quarter of 2017 and the absence of a major bowling tournament during 2017. The South segment decrease in non-gaming
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 was primarily due to decreased food and beverage revenues associated with
revisions to marketing strategies resulting in fewer complimentary food offers and severe weather negatively impacting visitation in 2017. Non-
gaming revenues in the East segment decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 primarily due to decreased food and
beverage revenues resulting from reductions in complimentary food offers and the consolidation of restaurants in an cffort to maximize capacity
utilization.

Gaming Expenses and Pari-Mutuel Commissions. Isle contributed $228.2 million of gaming expenses and pari-mutuel commissions for the
period from the date we acquired Isle through December 31, 2017 resulting in an increase of 59.3% over 2016.

Excluding incrementat Isie gaming expenses and pari-mutuel commissions, gaming expenses and pari-mutuet commissions decreased 5.5%
for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 primarily due to decreases in gaming volume combined with savings initiatives targeted at
reducing variable cxpenses along with continued synergies related to the integration of the Reno properties in the West segment. Additionally,
successful efforts to conirol costs and maximize departmental profit across all segments alse drove the decline in expenses during the current

period.

Non-gaming Expenses. Isle contributed $71.4 million of non-gaming expenses for the period from the date we acquired Isle through
December 31, 2017 resulting in an inerease of 29.8% over 2016.

Excluding incremental Isle nop-ganing expenses, non-gaming expenses decreased 6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
2016 in conjunction with non-gaming revenue declines and successful efforts to control costs and maximize profit across all segments.

Marketing and Promotians Expenses. Isle contributed $36.4 miltion of marketing and promotions expense for the period from the date we
acquired Esle through December 31, 2017 resulting in an increase of 103.4% over 2016.

Excluding incrementai Isle marketing and promotions expenses, consolidated marketing and promotions expense increased 14.4% for the
year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016. This increase was primarily attributable to marketing promotionat costs associated with casino
initjatives that are charged to this category to provide consistency among properties following our acquisition of Isle.

General and Administrative Expenses. Isle contributed $113.6 million of general and administrative expense for the period from the date we
acquired Iste through December 31, 2017 resulting in an increase of 84.4% over 2016.

Excluding incremental Isle general and administrative expenses, consolidated general and administrative expenses decreased 2.5% for the
year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016. Savings associated with lower property and general liability insurance costs were partially offset
by higher expenses associated with information systems maintenance contracts and professional services. These incremental costs resulted from
information technology infrastructure projects targeted at consofidating systems for future savings and efficiencies.
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Corporate Expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016, corporate eXpenses increased due to payroil and other
expenses associated with additional corporate expenses driven by growth related to the isle acquisition. Also, the increase was the result of higher
stock compensition expense for thie year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 due to {he three-year vesting schedule associated with our
long-term incentive pian established in 2015 resulting in three years of grants and related expense in 2017 versus two years of grants and related
expense in 2016.

Impairment Charges. On October 1, 2017 we conducted annual tmpairment tests of our intangible assets. Based on less than expected
operating performance and projected future operating rosults, it was determined that the value of goodwill and/or trade names associated with our
Lake Charles, Vicksburg and Lula reporting units were impaired resulting in impairment charges totaling $38.0 million ($34.9 milljon reiated to
goodwill and $3.1 miilion related to trade names) recorded in the current year.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Isle contributed $47.1 million of depreciation expense for the period from the date we acquired Isle
through December 31, 2017 resulting in an increase of 66.9% over 2016.

Excluding incremental Iste depreciation and amorlization expense, depreciation and amortization expense decreased 7.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 mainly due to lower depreciation in all segments due to assets becoming fully depreciated.

Supplemental Unaudited Presentation of Consafidated Adjusted Earuings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA™) for
the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Adjusted EBITDA (defined below), a non-GAAP financial measure, has been presented as a supplemental disclosure because it isa widely
used measure of performance and basis for valuation of companies in our industry and we believe that this non-GAAP supplemental information
will be helpful in understanding the Company’s ongoing operating results. Management has historically used Adjusted EBITDA when evaluating
operating performance because we believe that the inclusion or exclusion of certain recurring and non-recurring items is necessary to provide a full
understanding of our core operating results and as a means to evaluate period-to-period results. Adjusted EBITDA represents operating income
(loss) before depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, transaction expenses, SEVETance EXpense, selling cosis associated with the
disposition of properties, proceeds from the terminated sales of Vicksburg and Lake Charles, preopening exXpenses, business interruption insurance
proceeds, real estate tax settlements, other than temporary jmpairments on investments, impairmeni charges, equity in income (loss) of
unconsolidated affiliates, (gain) loss on the sale or disposal of property and equipment, and other non-cash regulatory gaming assessments.
Adjusted EBITDA also excludes expense associated with our Master Lease with GLPT as the {ransaction was accounted for as a financing
obligation. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of performance of liguidity calculated in accordance with accounting prineiples generally accepted
in the United States {“US GAAP™), is unaudited and should not be considered an alternative fo, or more meaningful than, net income {(loss) as an
indicator of our operating performance. Uses of cash flows that are not reflected in Adjusted EBITDA include capital expenditures, interest
payments, income {axes, debt principal repayments and certain regulatory gaming assessments, which can be significant. As aresult, Adjusted
EBITDA should not be considered as a measire of our liquidity. Other companies that provide EBITDA information may calculate EBITDA
differently than we do. The definition of Adjusted EBITDA may not be {he same as the definitions used in any of our debt agreements.
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Excluding Pre-Acquisition:
West
Midvest
South
East
Central
Corporate and Other
Total Excluding Pre-Acquisition

Pre-Acquisitien (1):

West

Midwest

South

Fast

Central

Corporate and Other
Total Pre-Acquisition

Icluding Pre-Acquisition:
West
Midwest
South
East
Centra}
Corperate and Other
Total Incinding Pre-Acquisition (2)

Excluding Pre-Acquisition:
West

Midwest

South

East

Cenal
Corporate and Other

Total Excluding Pre-Acquisition

Pre-Acquisifion (3):

West

Midwest

South

East

Central

Corporate and Other
Total Pre-Acquisition

Including Pre-Acquisition:
West
Midwest
South
East
Central
Corporate and Other
Total Including Pre-Acquisition (4)

(1) Figures are for Tropicana for the nine mo
August 6, 2018. Such figures are based o

Year Ended Deceraber 31, 2018

nths ended Septernber 30, 2018 an
n internal financial statements and
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Operating Depreciation and Stock-Based Transaction : Adjusted
Income (Loss)  Amortization Compensafion Expenses() Other (6) EBITDA
$ 84,548 § 40,131 3 (321 % — 3 1,542 3 126,189
105,809 33,083 106 — 244 139,242
64,851 37,357 59 — 10,265 112,532
97,963 27,013 14 — 5,447 131,337
24,240 13,583 - — 1,676 35,499
(67,308} 5,302 12,937 20,842 (3,702) (31,869) i
3 310,103 § 157,429 § 13,084 3 20,842 § 15,472 $ 516,930
§ 13,635 § 2,271 § — % — 8 8 $ 22,514
355 6,076 —_ — 20 6,451
46,261 24,444 — — 159 70,864
70,105 22,939 — — 647 93,691
_ (52,127) 1,537 — 4,259 31,101 (15,230)
s 78,229 § 64,267 § — 8 4,259 § 31,935 § 178,690
98,183 § 49,402 § (32) § — % 1,550 $ 149,103
105,809 33,083 106 e 244 139,242
65,206 43,433 59 — 10,285 118,983
144,224 52,357 14 — 5,606 202,201
94,345 36,522 - e 2,323 133,190
(119,435) 6,899 12,937 25,101 27,399 (47,099)
b3 388,332 § 221,696 3 13,084 3 25,501  § 47,407 $ 695,620
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Operating ~ Depreciation and Stock-Based  Transaction Adjusted
Income {1.05s) Amortization Compensation  Expenses ) Other M EBITDA
3 66,108 26,950 § 182§ — § 364 593,604
62,071 20,997 210 — 193 83,471
3,680 25,307 147 — 41,144 70,278
68,101 30,517 14 — 369 99,001
{105,150} 2,120 5,769 92777 _ (19,689) (24,173}
$ 94,816 $ 105,891 § 6,322 3 92,777 § 22,381 $ 322,181
22,983 % 16,261 § 2 8 — 5 8 $ 39,260
34,819 13,952 51 — 34 46,856
32,809 14,343 35 — 148 47,335
79,135 28,818 — —  (19,396) 88,557
85,717 30,299 - — (3,228) 112,788
{28,503) 2,576 1,631 286 557 (23,453)
b 226,960 $ 104,249 § 1,725 § 286 § (21,877) $ 311,343
$ 89,091 § 43211 % 19¢ $ — % 372 % 132,864
96,890 32,949 261 — 227 130,327
36,489 39,650 182 —  412% 117,613
147,236 59,335 14 — (19,027} 187,558
85,717 30,299 — — (3,228) 112,788
(133,653) 4,696 7,400 93,063 (19,132} (47,626)
b 321,770 % 210,140 § 8,047 3 93,063 § 504 $ 633,524

d for Elgin for the period beginning January 1, 2018 and ending
have not been reviewed by the Company’s auditors.



(2) Total figures for the year ended December 31, 2018 include combined results of operations for Tropicana, Elgin and the Company for periods
preceding the date that the Company acquired Tropicana and Elgin. Such preseniation is unaudited and does not conform with GAAP or the
Securities and Fxchange Commission rules for pro forma presentation; however, we believe that the additional financial information will be
helpful to investors in comparing current results with results of prior periods. This is non-GAAP data and should not be considered a
substitute for data prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should be viewed in addition to the results of operations reported by the
Company.

(3} Figures are for Tropicana and Elgin for the year ended December 31, 2017 and for Isle for the four months ended Aprit 30, 2017. The Isle
figures were prepared by the Company to reflect Isle’s unandited consolidated historical operating revenues, operating income and Adjusted
EBITDA for periods corresponding to the Company’s fiscal calendar. Such figures are based on the unaudited internal financial statements
and have not been reviewed by the Company’s suditors and do not conform to GAAP.

{(4) Total figures for the year ended December 31, 2017 include combined results of operations for Tropicana, Elgin, Isle and the Company for
periods preceding the dates that the Company acquired Tropicana, Elgin and Isle, Such presentation dees not conform with GAAP or the
Securities and Exchange Commission rules for pro forma presentation; however, we believe that the additional financial information will be
helpful to investors in comparing current resuits with results of prior periods. This is non-GAAP data and should not be considered a
substitute for data prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should be viewed in addition to the results of operations reported by the
Company.,

(5) Transaction expenses represent costs related to the acquisition of Iste for the year ended December 31, 2017 and costs related to the
acquisition of Tropicana, Elgin and Isle for the year ended December 31, 2018,

(6)  Other, for the year ended December 31, 2018, is comprised of severance expense, gain (loss) en the sake or disposal of property and
equipment, equity in income (loss) of an unconsolidated affiliate, precpening expenses at Trop AC, impairment charges at Vicksburg and
Nemacolin, proceeds from the terminated sale of Vicksburg, other non-cash regulatory gaming assessments and selling costs associated with
the dispositions of Presque Isle Downs, Nemacolin, the terminated sale of Vicksburg and the purchase of Tropicana and Elgin.

{7y Other, for the year ended December 31, 2017, is comprised of severance expense, gain (loss) on the sale or disposal of property and
equipment, equity in income (loss) of an unconsolidated affiliate, preopening expenses at Evansville, business interruption insurance
proceeds received at Lumigre, proceeds from a real estate tax settlement at Trop AC, impairment charges recorded at Lake Charles, Lula and
Vicksburg, proceeds from the terminated sale of Vicksburg, non-cash regulatory gaming assessments, selling costs associated with the
terminated sale of Lake Charles, proceeds from the terminated sale of Lake Charles and a permanent impairment of invesiments held by Trop
AC. :

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We are a holding company and our only significant assets are ownership interests in our subsidiaries, Our ability to fund our obligations
depends on the cash flow of our subsidiaries and the ability of our subsidiaries to distribute or otherwise make funds available to us.

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources have been existing cash, cash flow from operations, borrowings under our revolving
credit facility, proceeds from the isstance of debt securities and proceeds from our recent disposition of Presque Isle.

Our cash requirements can fluctuate significanily depending on our decisions with respect to business acquisitions or dispositions and
strategic capital investments 1o maintain the quality of our properties. We expect that our primary capital requirements going forward will relate to
the operation and maintenance of our properties, taxes, servicing our cutstanding indebtedness, rent payments under our Master Lease and
continued costs associated with the recent Elgin and Tropicana acquisitions. During 2019, we plan to spend approximately $200.0 miltion on capital
expenditures including capital expenditures for the properties purchased in the Elgin and Tropicana acquisitions. Our capital requirements have
increased significantly following the consummation of the acquisitions of Tropicana and Elgin, the related obligation to pay annual rent in an initial
amount of approximately $87.6 miltion under the Master |ease with respect to certain of the Tropicana properties and the required payments under
the Lumiére Note.
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We funded the $328.8 million of cash consideration for the Elgin Acquisition using cash from ongoing operations and borrowings under our
revoiving credit facility. We funded the $246 million purchase of the real estate underlying Lumiére with the proceeds of the Lumi¢re Note. We
funded the $640 million consideration in the Tropicana Acquisition and the repayment of amounts outstanding under the Tropicana credit facility
with our cash on hand and cash on hand at Tropicana, borrowings under our revelving credit facility and proceeds from our offering of $600 miilion
of 6.0% senior notes due 2026. In addition, our borrowing capacity on our revolving credit facility increased from $300 million to $500 million
effective substantially concurrentty with the consummation of the Tropicana Acquisition on October 1, 2018 and we extended the maturity of the
revolving credit facility to October 1, 2023, We expect that cash generated from operations will be sufficient to fund our operations and capital
requiremnents, and scrvice our outstanding indebtedness for the next twelve months.

At December 31, 2018, we had consolidated cash and cash equivalents of $230.8 million, excluding restricted cash. At December 31, 2017, we
had consolidated cash and cash equivalents of $134.6 million, excluding restricted cash. This increase in cash was primarily due to cash acquired 1n
the Elgin and Tropicana acquisitions.

Operating Cash Flow. In 2018, cash flows provided by operating activities totaled $323.3 million compared to $129.9 miltion in 2017. The
increase in operating cash was primarily due to incremental operating cash generated by the acquired Elgin and Tropicana propertics and
decreased transaction cosis combined with changes in the balance sheet accounts in the normal course of business.

In 2017, cash flows provided by operating activities totaled $129.9 million compared to $95.4 million in 2016, The increase in operating cash
was primarity due to incremental operating cash generated by the acquired Isle properties offset by transaction expenses associated with our
acquisition of Isle combined with changes in the balance sheet accounts in the normal course of business.

Investing Cash Flow and Capital Expenditures. Net cash flows used in investing activities totaled $1.3 billion in 2018 compared to $1.4
bitlion in 2017, Net cash flows used in investing activities in 2018 were primarily due to $307.3 million cash paid in the Elgin Acquisition and $806.0
million cash paid in the Tropicana Acquisition. Additionally, capital expenditures totaled £147.4 million for the year ended Decenber 31,2018
related to growth and mainienance capital projects.

Net cash flows used in investing activities totaled $1.4 billion in 2017 compared to $41.8 miilion in 2016. Net cash flows used in investing
activities in 2017 were primarily due to cash paid to acquire Isle in addition to $83.1 million in capital expenditures for various property ephancement
and maintenance projects and equipment purchases.

Financing Cash Flow. Net cash provided by financing activities in 2018 totaled $1.1 billion and was principally due to $600.0 million of
proceeds from the issuance of the 6.0% senior notes due 2026 in conjunction with the Tropicana Acquisition, $246.0 million of proceeds from the
Lumigre Loan (defined below) and $245.0 million of net borrowings under our revolving credit facility related to the Elgin Acquisition.

Net cash used for financing activities in 2017 totaled $1.4 billion and consisted mainly of the issuance of debt associated with our
acquisition of Isle, the refinancing of our term loan and revolving credit facility in May 2017 and the issuance of additional 6.0% senior notes due
2025 in Septermber 2017. This increase was partiatly offset by net payments made on our credit facilities throughout 2017 and taxes paid retated to
net share settlements of equity awards associated with the Isle transaction.

Income Taxes. The Company will pay approximately $45 million in cash taxes in 2019 as a result of the Tropicana Acquisition. In addition,
the Company expeets to be a cash taxpayer in 2019 due to the complete utilization of its net operating fosses and tax credit carryovers for federal
income tAX purposes.

Debt Obligations
794 Senior Notes due 2023

On July 23, 2015, we issued at par $375.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7 (% senior notes due 2023 (“7% Senior Notes due 20237}
pursuant to the indenture, dated as of July 23, 2015 (the *2023 Indenture™), between us and U.S, Bank, National Association, as Trustee. The 7%
Senior Notes due 2023 will mature on August 1, 2023, with interest payable semi-annually in arrears on February 1 and August 1 of cach year.
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On or after August 1, 2018, we may redeem all or a portion of the 7% Senior Notes due 2023 upon not fess than 30 nor more than 60 days’
notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amount) set forth below plus acerued and unpaid interest and additional
interest, if any, on the 7% Senior Notes due 2023 redeemed, to the applicable redemption date, if redeemed during the twelve month period
beginning on August 1 of the years indicated below:

Year Percentage

2018 . _ ' ' 105250 %
2019 L . ms0%
2020 101.750 %
2021 and thereafter 100,000 %

If we experience certain change of control events (as defined in the 2023 Indenture), we must offer to repurchase the 7% Senior Notes due
2023 at 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unipaid interest to the applicable repurchase date. If we sell asset under certain
circumstances and does not use the proceeds for specified purposes, we must offer to repurchase the 7% Senior Notes due 2023 at 100% of their
principal amount, pius accrued and unpaid interest to the applicable repurchase date. The 7% Senior Notes due 2023 are subject to redemption
imposed by gaming laws and regulations of applicable gaming regulatory authorities.

The 2023 Indenture contains certain covenants limiting, among other things, our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries (other thar its
unresiricted subsidiaries) to:
. pay dividends or distributions or make certain other restricted payments or investments;

. incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or issue disqualified stock or create subordinated indebtedness that is not subordinated to
the 7% Senior Notes due 2023 or the guarantees of the 7% Senior Notes due 2023;

. create liens;

transfer and sell assets;

- merge, consolidate, or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;
- enter into certain fransactions with affiliates;

- engage in lines of business other than our core business and refated businesses; and

. create resirictions on dividends or other payments by restricted subsidiaries.

These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications as set forth in the 2023 Indenture. The 2023 Indenture also
provides for customary events of default which, if any of them occurs, would permit or require the principal of and accrued interest on such 7%
Senior Notes due 2023 to be declared due and payable.

6% Senior Notes due 2025

On March 29, 2017, Eagle T Acquisition Company LLC (“Fagle II"}, our wholly-owned subsidiary, issued $375.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of 6.0% Senior Notes due 2025 (the “6% Senior Notes duc 2025} pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 29, 2017 (the “2025
Indenture™), between Eagle I and 11.S. Bank, National Association, as Trustee. The 6% Senior Notes due 2025 will mature on April 1, 2025, with
interest payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1,2017. The proceeds of the offering, and additional funds
in the amount of $1.9 million in respect of interest expected to be accrued on the 6% Senior Notes duc 2025, were placed in escrow pending
satisfaction of certain conditions, including consummation of our acquisition of Iste. In connection with the consummation of our acquisition of
Isle on May 1, 2017, the escrowed funds were released, and we assumed Eagle I's obiigations under the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 and the 2023
Indenture and certain of our subsidiaries (including Iste and certain of its subsidiaries) executed guarantees of our obligations under the 6% Senior
Notes due 2025. :

On September 13, 2017, we issued an additional $500.0 million principal amount of the 6% Seqior Notes due 2025 at an issue price equal io
105.5% of the principal amount of the 6% Senior Notes due 2025. The additional notes were issued pursuant to the 2025 Indenture that governs the
6% Senior Notes due 2025, We used the proceeds of the offering to repay $78.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit
facility and used the remainder to repay $444.5 million outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility and related accrued interest, As aresult
of the offering and retirement of existing debt, we recognized a loss of $11.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2017
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On or after April 1, 2020, we may redeem all or a portion of the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’

notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages ofthe-principal ameunt) sct forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional -~ - -

interest, if any, on the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 redeemed, 1o the applicable redemption date, if redeemed during the 12-month period beginning
on Aprit 1 of the years indicated below:

Year Percentage

2020 ' 104.500 %
2021 N _ S 103,000 %
2022 101.500 %
2023 and thereafter 100.000 %

Prior to Aprit 1, 2020, we may redeem atl or a portion of the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 at a price equal to 100% of the 6% Senior Notes due
2025 redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, plus & make-whole premium. At any time prior to April 1, 2020, we are also
entitled to redeem up to 35% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 with proceeds of certain equity financings
at a redemption price equal to 106% of the principal amount of the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest. I we
experience certain change of control events (as defined in the 2025 Indenture), we must offer to repurchase the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 at 101%
of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the applicable repurchase date, If we sell asseis under certain circumstances and do
not use the proceeds for specified purposes, we must offer to repurchase the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 at 100% of their principal amount, plus
acerued and unpaid interest to the applicable repurchase date.

The 6% Senior Notes due 2025 are subject to redemption imposed by gaming laws and regulations of applicable gaming regulatory
authorities.

The 2025 Indenture contains certain covenants limiting, among other things, our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries (other than its
unrestricied subsidiaries) to:

. pay dividends or distributions or make certain other restricted payments or investments;

. incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or issue disqualified stock or create subordinated indebtedness that is not subordinated to
the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 or the guarantees of the 6% Senior Notes due 2025;

. create liens;

. transfer and seil assets;

. merge, consolidate, or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;

. enter into certain transactions with affiliates;

. engage in lines of business other than out core business and related businesses; and

. create restrictions on dividends or other payments by restricted subsidiaries.

These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications as set forth in the 6% Senior Notes Indenture due 2025, The 2025
Indenture also provides for customary events of default which, if any of them occurs, would permit or require the principal of and accrued interest
on such 6% Senior Notes due 2025 to be declared due and payable.

6% Senior Notes due 2026

On September 20, 2018, Delta Merger Sub, Inc. (“Escrow Issuer™), a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
issued $600 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.0% senior notes due 2026 (the “6% Senior Notes due 2026™) pursuant to an indenture, dated
as of September 20, 2018 (the «3026 Indenture™), between Escrow Issuer and U.S. Bank, National Association, as Trustee. Interest on the 6% Senior
Nates due 2026 will be paid semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15, commencing March 15, 2019. The Company and the subsidiary

guarantors assumed the obligations under the 2026 Indenture in connection with the consummation of the Tropicana Acqguisition.
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On or afler September 15, 2021, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 upon not less than 30 nor more
than 68-days® notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amount} set forth below plus acerued and unpaid interest
and additional interest, if any, on the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 redeemed, to the applicable redemption date, if redeemed during the 12-month
period beginning on September 15 of the years indicated below:

Year Percentage

2021 ' ' , ' 104.500 %
2022 | D S 100 %
2023 10L.500 %
2024 and thereafter 100.000 %

Prior to September 13, 2021, we may redeem alt or a portion of the 6% Senjor Notes due 2026 at a price equal to 100% of the 6% Senior Notes
due 2026 redeemed plus acerued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, plus a make-whole premium, At any time prior to September 15, 2021,
we are also entitled to redeem up to 35% of the original aggregate principat amount of the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 with procecds of certain equity
financings at 2 redemption price equal to 106% of the principal amount of the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid
interest. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control {if the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 do not have investment grade status) or 2 Change of
Control Triggering Event (each as defined in the 2026 Indenture), the Company must offer to repurchase the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 at 101% of
their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the applicable repurchase date.

If the Company sells assets under certain circumstances and does not use the proceeds for specified purposes, the Company must apply
the net proceeds of such sale to make an offer to repurchase the 6% Senior Notes due 2026 at 100% of their principat amount, pius accrued and

unpaid interest to the applicable repurchase date.

The 6% Senior Notes due 2026 are subject to redemption imposed by gaming laws and regulations of applicable gaming regulatory
authorities.

The 2026 Indenture contains certain covenants limiting, among, other things, the Company’s ability to:

. incur additional indebtedness;

. create, incur or suffer to exist certain liens;

. pay dividends or make distributions on capital stock or repurchase capital stock;

. make certain investments;

. place restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions to the Issuer;
. sell certain assets or merge with or consolidate into other companies; and

- enter info certain types of transactions with the stockholders and affiliates.

These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications as set forth in the 2026 Indenture. The 2026 Indenture also
provides for events of default which, if any of them oceurs, would permit or require the principal of and accrued interest on such 6% Senior Notes
due 2026 to be declared due and payable.

The Company applied the net proceeds of the sale of the 6% Senior Notes due 2026, together with borrowings under its existing revolving
credit, cash on hand and Tropicana’s cash on hand, to pay the consideration payable by the Company pursuant to the merger agreement, repay all
of the debt outstanding under Tropicana’s existing credit facility and pay fees and costs associated with the Tropicana Acquisition that closed on
October 1, 2018.

Credit Facility

On April 17, 2017, Bagle [1 entered into a credit agreement by and among Eagle 11, as initial borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., a5
administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto dated as of April 17, 2017 {the “Credit Facility”), consisting of a $1.45 billion term loan facility
{the “Term Loan Facility” or “Term Loan™) and a $300.0 million revoiving credit facility {the “Revolving Credit Faciiity™), which was undrawn at
closing, The proceeds of the Term Loan Facility, and additional funds in the amount of $4.5 million in respect of interest expected to be acerued on
the Term Loan Facility, were placed in escrow pending satisfaction of certain conditions, including consummation of our acquisition of Isle. In
connection with the consummation of our acquisition of Isle on May 1, 2017, the escrowed funds were released, and we assumed Eagle 1I's
obligations under the Credit Facility and certain of our subsidiaries (inciuding Isle and certain of its subsidiaries) executed guarantees of our
obligations under the Credit Facility.
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As of December 31, 2018, we had $956.8 million of borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan and $245.0 million of borrowings

outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility-We had $242.3 million of available borrowing capacity, after consideration of $12. 7 milfionin- -~

outstanding lefters of credit, under our Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2018. At December 31, 2018, the weighted average interest rate
on the term loan was 4.3%, and the weighted average interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility was 4.6%.

We applied the net proceeds of the Term Loan Facility and borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility totaling $135 million, together
with the proceeds of the 6% Scnior Notes due 2025 and cash on hand, to (i) pay the cash portion of the consideration payable in our acquisition of
Isle, (it) refinance all of the debt outstanding under Isle’s existing credit facility, (iii) redeem or otherwise repurchase alt of Isle’s outstanding 5.875%
Senior Notes due 2021 and 8.875% Senior Suberdinated Notes due 2020, (iv) repay all amounts outstanding under our Prior Credit Facility and
{v) pay fees and costs associated with our acquisition of Isle and such financing transactions.

Our obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility will mature on April 17, 2022, Qur obligations under the Term Loan Facility will mature
on April 17, 2024, We were required to make quarterly principal payments in an amount equal to $3.6 million on the Term Loan Facility on the last
day of each fiscal quarter beginning on June 30, 2017. We satisfied this requirement as a resuit of the principal prepayment of $444.5 million on
September 13, 2017 in conjunction with the issuance of the additional 6% Senior Notes due 2025, In addition, we are required to make mandatory
payments of amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility with the proceeds of certain casualty events, debt issuances, and asset sales and,
depending on its consolidated total leverage ratio, we are required to apply a portion of its excess cash flow to repay amounts outstanding under
the Credit Facility.

The interest rate per annum applicable to loans under the Revolving Credit Facility is, at our option, either (i) LIBOR plus a margin ranging
from 1.75% to 2.50% or (ii) a base rate phis a margin ranging from 8.75% to 1.50%, which margin is based on out total leverage ratio. The interest
rate per annum applicable to the loans under the Term Loan Facility is, at our option, either (i) LIBOR plus 2.25%, or (ii) a base rate plus 1.25%;
provided, however, that in no event will LIBOR be less than zero or the base rate be less than 1.00% over the term of the Term TLoan Facility or the
Revolving Credit Facility, Additionally, we pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility not being utilized in the
amount of 0.50% per annuim.

The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our personal property assets and substantially all personal property assets of each
subsidiary that guarantics the Credit Facility (other than certain subsidiary guarantors designated as immaterial), whether owned on the closing
date of the Credit Facility or thereafter acquired, and mortgages on the real property and improvements owned or leased us or the credit facility
guarantors. The Credit Facility is also secured by a pledge of all of the equity owned by us and the credit facility guarantors {subject to certain
gaming law restrictions). The credit agreement governing the Credit Facility contains a aumber of customary covenants that, among other things,
restrict, subject to certain exceptions, our ability and the ability of the Credit Facility guarantors to incur additional indebtedness, create liens,
engage in mergers, consolidations or asset dispositions, make distributions, make investments, loans or advances, engage in certain transactions
with affiliates or subsidiaries or make capital expenditures.

The Credit Facility contains a number of customary covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject 1o certain exceptions, our ability
and the ability of the subsidiary guarantors to incur debt; create liens; engage in mergess, consolidations or asset dispositions; pay dividends or
inake distributions; make investments, loans or advances; engage int certain transactions with affiliates or subsidiaries; or modify their lines of
business.

The Credit Facility also includes certain financial covenants, including the requirements that we maintain throughout the term of the Credit
Facility and measured as of the end of each fiscal quarter, and solely with respect to joans under the Revolving Credit Facility, a maximum
consolidated total leverage ratio of not more than 6.50 to 1.00 for the period beginning on the closing date and ending with the fiscal quarter ending
December 31, 2018, 6.00 to 1.00 for the period beginning with the fiscal guarter beginning January 1, 2019 and ending with the fiscal quarter ending
December 31, 2019, and 5,50 to 1.00 for the period beginning with the fiscal quarter beginning January 1, 2020 and thereafter. We will also be
required to maintain an interest coverage ratio in an amount not less than 2.00 to 1.00 measured on the Jast day of each fiscal quarter beginning on
the closing date, and ending with the fiscal quarter ending December 31,2018, 2.50 to 1.00 for the period beginning with the fiscal quarter beginning
January 1, 2019 and ending with the fiscal quarter ending December 31,2019, and 2.75 to 1.00 for the period beginning with the fiscal quarter
beginning January 1, 2020 and thereafter.

The Credit Facility contains & number of customary events of default, including, among others, for the non-payment of principal, interest or
other amounts, the inaccuracy of certain representations and warranties, the failure to perform or observe certain covenants, a cross default to our
other indebtedness including the 6% Senior Notes due 2025 and 7% Senior Notes due 2023, cerlain events of bankruptey or insolvency; certain
ERISA events, the invalidity of certain loan documents, certain changes of control and the loss of certain classes of licenses to conduct gaming. If
any event of default occurs, the lenders under the Credit Facility would be entitled to take various actions, including accelerating amounts
outstanding thereunder and taking all actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.
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On June 6, 2018, we execuled an amendment that modified certain covenants in the Credit Facility to allow for considerations related to the
acquisition of Tropicana. The borrowing capacity of the Revolving Credit Facility increased from $300 million to $500 million effective substantially
concurrently with the consummation of the Tropicana Acquisition on October 1, 2018 and the maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility
extended to October 1, 2023,

Lumiére Loan

We borrowed $246 million from GLPI to fund the entire purchase price of the real estate underlying Lummiére, The Lumiére Loan bears interest
at a rate equal to (i) 9.09% until October 1, 2019 and (ii) 9.27% until October 1, 2020, and matures on October 1, 2020, The Lumigre Loan is secured
by a first priority mortgage on the Lumidre real property until October 1, 2019. In copnection with the issuance of the Lumiére Loan, we agreed to
use our commercially reasonable efforts to transfer one or more of the Grand Victoria Casino, Isle Casino Bettendorf, Isle Casino Hotel Waterloo,
Isle of Capri Lula, Lady Luck Casino Vicksburg and Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack and Resort or such other property or properties mutually
acceptable to us and GLPL provided that the aggregate value of such property, individually or collectively, is at least $246 million (the
“Replacement Property”), to GLPI witha simultancous leaseback to us of such Replacement Property. In connection with such Replacement
Property sale, (i} we and GLPX will enter into an amendment to the Master Lease to revise the economic terms to include the Replacement Property,
(ii) GLPYL, or one of its affiliates, will assume the Lumiére Loan and Tropicana $t. Louis RE’s obligations under the Lumiére Loan in consideration of
the acquisition of the Replacement Property and our obligations under the Lumiére Loan will be deemed to have been satisfied, (iif) the Lumiére
Real Property will be released from the lien placed on it in connection with the Lumiére Loan (if such lien has not yet been released in accordance
with the terms of the Lumiére Loan} and (iv) in the event the value of the Replacement Property is greater than the our outstanding obligations
under the Lumiére Loan, GLPT will pay us the difference betwees the value of the Replacement Property and the amount of outstanding obligations
under the Lumiére Loan, I such Replacement Property transaction is not consummated prior fo the maturity date of the Lumiére Loan, other than as
a result of certain failures to perform by GLPI, then the amounts outstanding will be paid in full and the rent under the Master Lease will
automatically increase, subject to certain escalations.

Master Lease

Our Master Lease is accounted for as a financing obligation and totaled $959.8 million as of December 31, 2018. See Note 10 to our
consolidated financial statements for additional information about cur Master Lease and relaied matters.

Debt Covenant Compliance

As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under the 7% Senior Notes due 2023, 6% Senior Notes due 2025,
6% Senior Notes due 2026, the Credit Facility, the Master Lease and the Lumiére Loan.

Contractual Commitments

The following table summarizes our estimated contractual payment obligations as of December 31,2018:

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1 -3 yeaxs 3 - 5 years 5 years

_ {in millions)
Contractual cash obligations: '

Long-term debt obligations(1) _ $ 33008 § 65 % 2464 6203 % 2,433.6
Estimated interest payments on long-term debi(2) - 1,0584 1933 359.7 3285 176.0
Operating leases(3) _ . _ 275.1 233 38.8 348 178.2
Gaming tax and license fees(4) : 63.6 12.8 255 ' 253  Seenote (4)
Purchase and other contractual obligations(5) N 403 _ 20.5 16l 05 02
Minimum purse obligations(6) ' _ 111 11.1 g S S
Contingent earn-out payments(7) o 05 03 0.3 0.1 o
Regulatory gaming assessments(8) 1.8 11 0.7 — —
Finaneing Obiigation to GLPI(S) 3.958.9 87.9 179.6 184.7 3,506.7
Total $ 87105 3 3601 § 861.1  § 1,1946 6,294.7

(I}  These amounts are included in our consolidated balance sheets, which are included elsewhere in this report. See Note 11 to our consolidated
financial statements for additional information about our debt and related matters.
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(2) Estimated interest payments on fong-tesm debt arc based on LIBOR rates and principal amounts outstanding on the Credit Facility at
December 31, 2018,

(3) Our operating lease obligations are described in Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements.

4)  Includes an annual table gaming license fee of $2.5 million for Mountaineer which is due on July st of each year for as long as Mountaineer
operates table games. Includes our obligation for gaming taxes at Presque Isle Downs, which is set at a minimum of $10.0 million per year, as
required by the Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board. Also includes our obligation at Presque Isle Downs, as the holder of a Category 1
license, to create a fund to be used for the improvement and maintenance of the backside area of the racetrack with an amount of not less
than $250,000 or more than $1 million annually for a five-year period beginning in 2017. We sold Presque Isle Downs in January 2019.

(5) Includes any construction or other contracts which are not operating or capital leases.

(6)  Pursuant to an agreement with the Mountaineer Park Horsemen'’s Benevolent and Protective Association, Inc. and/or in accordance with the
West Virginia racing statute, Mountaineer is required to utilize its best efforts to conduct racing for a minimum of 210 days and pay average
daily minimum purses established by Mountaineer prior to the first live racing date each ycar ($85,000 for 2019) for the term of the agreement,
which expires on December 31, 2019

() In connection with the 2003 purchase of Scioto Downs, certain stockholders of Scioto Downs alected the option fo receive cash and
contingent earn-out payments (“CEP Rights”) in lieu of all cash for their outstanding shares of Scioto Downs’ common stock. The triggering
event oceurred when Scioto Downs received its permanent VLT License in May 2012 and commenced gaming operations. As a result, we
recorded a liability for the estimated ten-year payout to the stockholders who elected to receive the CEP Rights. The future obligation was
calculated based on Scioto Downs’ projected EBITDA for the ten calendar years beginning January 1, 2013.

(8) These amounts are included in our consolidated balance sheets, which are included elsewhere in this report. See Note 17 to our consolidated
financial statements for additional information regarding our regulatory gaming assessments.

(9)  The Master Lease annual estimated payments consist of building base rent totaling $60.9 million, land base rent totaling $13.4 million and
variable rent totaling $13.4 million. The building base rent includes an annual 2% escalation.

The table above excludes certain commitments as of December 31, 2018, for which the timing of expenditures associated with such
commitments is unknown, or contractual agreements have not been exccuted, or the guaranteed maximum price for such contractual agreements
has not been agreed upon.

The repayment of our Jong-term debt, which consists of indebtedness evidenced by the 6% Senior Notes due 2025, 6% Senior Notes due
2026, 7% Senior Notes due 2023 and the Credit Facility, is subject to acceleration upon the cocurrence of an event of default under the indentures
governing these obligations.

We routinely enter into operational contracts in the ordinary course of our business, including construction contracts for minor projects
that are not material 1o our business or financial condition as a whole. Our commitments relating to these contracts are recognized as liabilities in
our consolidated balance sheets when services are provided with respect to such contracts.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on our revenues, results of operations or cash flows since inception.

Other Liquidity Matters

We are faced with certain contingencies involving litigation and environmental remediation and compliance. These commitments and
contingencies are discussed in greater detail in “Part L, ftem 3. Legal Proceedings” and Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements, both of
which are included elsewhere in this report. In addition, new competition may have a material adverse effect on our revenues and could have a
similar adverse effect on our liquidity, See “Part [, ltem 14. Risk Fuactors—Risks Related to Our Business™ which is included elsewhere in this
report.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are included in Note 2 to cur consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this
report, These policies, atong with the underlying assumptions and judgments made by our management in
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their application, have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements. These judgments are subject to an inherent degree of
uncertainty and actual results could differ from our estimates.

Business Combinations

We applied the provisions of Accounting Standards Coditication {(*ASC™) Topic 805, “Business Combinations,” in the accounting for our
acquisitions of Isle, Elgin, Tropicana and our previous acquisitions. 1t required us fo recognize the assets acquired and the Habilities assumed at
their acquisition date fair vaiues. Goodwill as of their respective acquisition dates were measured as the excess of consideration transferred over
the net of the acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

Accounting for business combinations required our management to make significant estimates and assumptions, including our estimate of
intangible assets, such as gaming licenses, trade names and loyalty programs. Although we believe the assumptions and estimates made have
been reasonable and appropriate, they are inherently uncertain. For our gaming license valuation, our properties estimated future cash flows were
the primary assumption in the respective intangible vahuations. Cash flow estimates included assumptions regarding factors such as recent and
budgeted operating performance, net win per unit (revenue), patron visits and growth percentages. The growth percentages were developed
considering general macroeconomic conditions as welt as competitive impacts from current and anticipated competition through areview of
custorner market data, operating margins, and current regulatory, social and economic climates. The most significant of the assumptions used in the
valuations inchuded: (1) revenue growth/decline percentages; (2) discount rates; (3) effective income tax rates; (4) future terminal values and
(5) capital expenditure asssmptions. These assumptions were developed for each of our properties based on historical trends in the current
compelitive markets in which they operate, and projections of future performance and competition. The primary assumptions with respect to our
trade names and loyalty program intangibles primary assumpiions were selecting the appropriate royalty raies and cost estimates for replacement

cost analyses, respectively.

Casino Revenue and Pari-mutuel Commissions

The Company recognizes net win from gaming activities as casino revenue, which is the difference between gaming wins and losses, not the
total amount wagered. Progressive jackpots are acerued and charged to revenue at the time the obligation to pay the jackpot is established. Gaming
revenues are recognized net of certain cash and free play incentives. Pari-mutuel commissions consist of commissions earned from thoroughbred
and harness racing and importing of simulcast signals from other race tracks and are recognized at the time wagers are made. Such commissions are
a designated portion of the wagering handle as determined by state racing commissions and are shown net of the taxes assessed by state and local
agencies, as well as purses and other contractual amounts paid to horsemen associations. The Company recognizes revenues from fees earned
through the exporting of simulcast signals to other race tracks at the time wagers are made and recorded on a gross basis. Such fees are based
upon a predetermined percentage of handle as contracted with the other race tracks.

Non-gaming Revenue

Hotel, food and beverage, and other operating revenues are recognized as services are perforined. The revenue for hotel, food and beverage
contracts is the net amount collected from the customer for such goods and services. Hotel, food and beverage services have been determined to
be separate, stand-alone performance obligations and the transaction price for such contracts is recorded as revenue as the good or service is
transferred to the customer over the customer’s stay at the hotel or when the delivery is made for the food and beverage. Advance deposits for
future hotel occupancy, convention space or food and beverage services contracts are recorded as deferred income until the revenue recognition
criteria has been met. The Company also provides goods and services that may inciude multiple performance obligations, such as for packages, for
which revenues are allocated on a pro rata basis based on each service's stand-alone selling price.

Complimentaries

The Company offers discretionary coupons and other discretionary complimentaries to customers outside of the loyalty program. The retail
value of complimentary food, beverage, hotel rooms and other services provided to cusiomers is recognized as a reduction to the revenues for the
department which issued the complimentary and a credit to the revenue for the department redeemed. Complimentaries provided by third parties at
the discretion and under the control of the Company is recorded as an expense when incurred.

For information with respect to our adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (Topic 606) effective Janvary
1, 2018, see “Nofe 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements”, in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Income Taxes

We and our subsidiaries file US federal income tax returns and various state and local income tax returns. Our income tax returns are subject
to examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™) and other tax authoritics. Positions taken in tax returns are sometimes subject to uncertainty
in the tax laws and may not ultimately be accepted by the IRS or other tax autherities. See Note 12 in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for a discussion of the status and impact of examinations by tax authorities.

We record incomne taxes under the asset and Habiity method, whereby deferred tax assets and labilities are recognized based on the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences hetween the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases, and as attributable to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
by a valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it is more Hkely than not that such assets will not be reatized. Accordingly, the need to
establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed periodically based on the “more likely than not” realization threshold. This
asscssment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency, and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability,
the duration of statutory carryforward periods, our experience with operating loss and tax credit carryforwards not expiring unused, and tax
planning alternatives.

A valuation allowance is recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion, or all, of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized, Management must analyze all available positive and negative evidence regarding realization of the deferred
tax assets and meke an assessment of the likelihood of sufficient future taxable income.

Under the applicable accounting standards, we may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more-likely-than-not
that the tax position wilt be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technicai merits of the position. The tax benefits
recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the fargest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelibood
of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The acconnting standards also provide guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties
on income taxes, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. We have recorded no fiability associated
with uncertain tax positions at December 31,2018 and 2017.

Property and Equipment and Qther Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, except for assets acquired in our business combinations, which were adjusted for fair value
under ASC 895 and are depreciated over their remaining estimated useful life or lease term. Judgments are made in determining estimated useful
lives and salvage values of these assets. The accuracy of these estimates affects the amount of depreciation expense recognized in our financial
results and whether we have a gain or loss on the disposal of assets. We review depreciation estimates and methods as new events 0CCur, more
experience is acquired, and additional information is obtained that would possibly change our current cstimates.

Property, equipment and other long-lived assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment.
We evaluate our long-lived assets periodically for impairment issues or, more frequently, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the net carrying value to the sum of the
estimated future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by these assets. The amount of impairment loss, if any, is measured by the
difference between the net carrying value and the estimated fair value of the asset which is typically measured using a discounted cash flow model
{Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy). For assets to be disposed of, impairment is recognized based on the lower of carrying value or fair value less
.costs of disposal, as estimated based on comparable asset sales, offers received, or a discounted cash flow model. As a result of the agreement to
sell Nemacolin, an impairment charge of §3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 was recorded to property and equipment due to the
carrying value of net property and equipment being sold exceeding net sales proceeds, Based on the results of our periodic reviews we have not

recorded any long-Fved assets impairment charges during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

For undeveloped properties, including non-operating real properties, when indicators of impairment are present, properties are evaluated for
impairment and losses are recorded when undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by an asset or market comparisons are less than the
asset’s carrying amount. The amount of the impairment loss is cateulated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, which is
determined using a discounted cash flow analysis, management estimates or market comparisons. The fair value measurements employed for our
impairment evaluations, which are subject to the assumptions and factors as previously discussed, were generally based on a review of comparable
activities in the marketplace, which fali within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Goodwill and Other Indefinite-lived Intangible dssets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair market value of net assets acquired in business combinations, Intangible assets
acquired in business combinations are recorded based upon their fair vatue at the date of acguisition. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets must be reviewed for impairment at feast annually and between annual test dates in certain circumstances. As a result of our annual
impairment tests, none of our reporting units incurred any goodwiil impairment charges in 2018 and 2016. For our 2017 annual goodwill impairment
tests, we utilized the option to perfosm a step zero analysis for each of our reporting units and concluded it was more likely than not that the fair
values of certain reporting units were less than their carrying values. We then utilized the two-step quantitative analysis for these reporting units.
As a result of the two-step quantitative analysis performed m 2017, we recorded impairment charges of $34.9 million and $3.1 million related to
goodwill and trade names, respectively. In conjunction with the classification of Vicksburg’s operations as assets held for sale at March 31, 2018,
an jmpairment charge totaling $9.8 million to goodwill was recorded.

Our indefinjte-fived intangible assets consist of racing and gaming licenses and trade names and are evaluated for impairment annuaily by
comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying vatue. Any excess of carrying vatue over the fair vaiue is recognized as an impainnent within the
consolidated statements of income in the period of review.

The gaming and racing licenses wese valued in aggregate for each respective property, as these licenses are considered to be the most
significant asset of the properties and the gaming licenses could not be obtained without holding the racing licenses. Therefore, a market
participant would consider the licenses in aggregate. The fair value of the licenses is calcutated using an excess earnings methodology. which is an
income approach methodology that allocates the projected cash flows of the property to the gamiag license intangible assets less charges for the
use of the other identifiable assets of the property, including working capital, fixed assets, and other intangible assets. We believe this
methodology is appropriate as the gaming licenses are the primary asset to the properties, the licenses are linked to each respective facility and it’s
{he lowest level at which discrete cash flows can be directly attributable to the assets. Under the gaming legislation applicable to our properties,
licenses are property specific and can only be acquired if a buyer acquires the existing facility. Because existing licenses may not be acquired and
transferred for use at a different facility, the estimated future cash flows of each of our properties was the primary assumption in the valuation of
such property.

We value trade names using the relief-from-royalty method with royalty rates range from 0.5% - 1.0%. Trade names recorded as part of the
merger with MTR are amortized on a straight-line basis over a 3.5-year usefu! life and the trade names recorded as part of our acquisition of
Tropicana, Elgin, Isle and acquisition of the Reno propetties are not amortized {deemed indefinite-lived).

The loyalty programs were valued using a combination of a repiacement cost and lost profits analysis and the loyalty programs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over a one- to five-year useful life.

Assessing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment is a process that requires significant judgment and involves
detailed quantitative and qualitative business-specific analysis and many individual assumptions which fluctuate between assessments, Cur
properties’ estimated future cash flows are a primary assumption in the respective impairment analyses. Unforeseen events, changes in
circumstances and market conditions and material differences in estimates of future cash flows could negatively affect the fair vatue of our assets
and result in an impairment charge, which could be material. Cash flow estimates include assumptions regarding factors such as recent and
budgeted operating performance, net win per unit {revenue), patron visits, growth percentages which are developed considering general
macroecononic conditions as well as competitive impacts from current and anticipated competition through a review of customer market data,
operating margins, and current regulatory, social and economic climates. These estimates could also be negatively impacted by changes in federal,
state, or local regulations, economic downturns ot developments and other market conditions affecting travel and access to the properties. The
most significant of the assumptions used in our vabuations include: (1) revenue growth/decline percentages; (2) discount rates; (3) effective income
tax rates; (4) future terminal values and (5) capital expenditure assumptions. These assumptions were developed for each property based on
historical trends, the current competitive markets in which they operate, and projections of future performance and competition.

We believe we have used reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of our goodwill reporting units and other
indefinite-lived intangible assets; however, these estimates and assumptions could be materially different from actual resulis, If actual market
conditions are less favorable than those projected, or if events oceur or circumstances change that would reduce the fair value of our licensing
intangibles below the carrying value reflected on the consolidated balance sheet, we may be required to conduct an interim test or possibly
recognize impairment charges, which may be material, in future periods.
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Self-Insurance Reserves

We are self-insured for various levels of general liability, employee medical insurance coverage and workers’ compensation coverage.
Insurance claims and reserves include accruals of estimated seitlements for known claims, as welt as accruals of estimates for claims incurred but
not yet reported. We utilize independent consultants to assist management in its determination of cstimated insurance liabilities, While the total
cost of claims incurred depends on future developments, in managements’ opinion, recorded reserves are adequate to cover future claims
payments. Self-insurance reserves for employee medical claims and workers’ compensations are included in accrued payroll and related on the
consolidated balance sheets. Self-insurance reserves for general Hability claims are included in accrued other Habilities on the consolidated balance
sheets.

Player Loyalty Program

We offer programs at our properties whereby participating customers can accumulate points for wagering that can be redeemed for credits
for free play on slot machines, lodging, food and beverage, merchandise and, in limited situations, cash. The incentives earned by customers under
these programs are based on previous revenue transactions and represent separate performance obligations. Points earned, less estimated
breakage, are recorded as a reduction of casino revenues at the standalone selling price of the points when earned based upon the retail value of
the benefits, historical redemption rates and estimated breakage and recognized as departmental revenue based on where such points are redeemed
upon fulfillment of the performance obligation. The loyalty program liability represents a deferral of revenue until redemption eccurs, which is
typically less than one year.

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

We utilize estimates for litigation, claims and assessments. These estimates are based on our knowledge and experience regarding current
and past events, as well as assumptions ahout future events. If our assessment of such a matter should change, we may have to change the
estimates, which may have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent aceonnting pronouncements and the impact of these pronouncements on our consolidated financial
statements, see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Ttem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market risk is the risk of toss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
and commaodity prices. We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily from variable rate long-term debt arrangements. At December 31, 2018,
interest on borrowings under our Credit Facility was subject to fluctuation based on changes in short-term inferest rates.

As of December 31, 2018, our fong-term variable-rate borrowings under the Credit Facility totaled $1.2 billion, representing approximately
36% of our long-term debt. In conjunction with the issuance of the 6% Senior Notes due 2026, this percentage declined from 43% as of December
31, 2017. During 2018, the weighted average interest rates on our variable and fixed rate debt were 4.3% and 6.4%, respectively.

The Company evaluates its exposure to market risk by monitoring interest rates in the marketplace and has, on occasion, utilized derivative
financial instruments to heip manage this risk. The Company does not ulilize derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. There were no
material quantitative changes in our market risk exposure, or how such risks are managed, for the year ended December 31, 2018,

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2018 about our debt obligations, including debt that is sensitive to changes in
interest rates, and presents principal payments and related weighted-average interest rates by expected manurity dates. Implied forward rates

should not be censidered a predictor of actual future interest rates.
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The scheduled maturities of our long-term debt outstanding for the years ending December 31 arc as follows:

(in thousands)

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
Fixed Rate Debt
6% Senior Notes due 2025 Tt — $  — § — 5§ — 3§ - § 875000 385000
6% Senior Notes due 2026 ' : ' 600,000 606,000
7% Senior Notes due 2023 — . — - o 375,000 — 375,000
Lumiére Note o U — 246,000 T e - — — 246,000
Fixed InerestRate 655 %  648% 620% 620%  613% 600 %  625%
Variable Rate Debt _ B 3
Term Loan (1) § — 3 — % — %5 — % — % 956750 % 956,750
Revolving Credit Facility o~ - — - 245,000 — 245,000
Average Interest Rate 434 % 434 % 434 % 434 % 443 % 475 % 437 %

(1) Based upon the weighted average interest rate of borrowings outstanding under our Credit Facility as of December 31, 2018, Borrowings
under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum of, at our option, ejther LIBOR or base rate plus an applicable spread.

As of December 31, 2018, borrowings outstanding under our Term Loan were long-term variable-rate borrowings. Assuming a 100 basis-
point increase in LIBOR (in the case of the tenn loan, over the 1% floor specified in our credit agreement), our annual inferest cost would change by
$9.6 million based on gross amounts cutstanding at December 31, 2018.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemenfary Data.

Our consolidated financial statements and notes to consolidated financial statements, including the report of Ernst & Young LLP thereon,
are included at pages 67 through 135 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Ttem 9A. Conitrols and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Contrels and Procedures

We have established and maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclesed
in our reports that we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), is recorded, processed, summarized,
evajuated and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Tn designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and managerment necessarily
is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial
Officer (principal financial officer), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15
(¢) promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K Annual Report and as required by Rules 13a-15(b)
and 15d-15(b) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2018, ai a reasonable assurance level.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
or 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act) for Eldorado Resorts, Inc. and its subsidiaries. This system js designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company’s management regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of consolidated financial statements for
external purposes.

Management, with the pasticipation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated and assessed the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K_Annual Report based upon the framework set
forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission.
Rased on this evaluation and assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2018, our internal control over financial reporling was
effective based on those criteria.

The Company completed its acquisitions of the Grand Victoria Casino (“Elgin”™) on August 7, 2018 and Tropicana Entertainment, Inc.
(“Tropicana™) on October 1, 2018. Since the Company has not yet fully incorporated the internal controls and procedures of Elgin and Tropicana
into the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, management excluded Elgin and Tropicana from its assessment of the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. The Elgin and Tropicana acquisitions constituted 37% of total

assets as of December 31, 2018, and 13% of net revenues for the year then ended December 31, 2018.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firnm, has audited our internal control over financiat reporting as of
December 31, 2018, as stated in its report which follows below.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except as noted below, during the quarter ended December 31, 2018, there were no significant changes in our {nternal control over financial
reporting that have materially affected, or arc reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

On August 7, 2018 we completed the acquisition of Elgin and on October 1, 2018 we completed the acquisition of Tropicana. See Part IV,
Ttern 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 3; Acquisitions, Purchase Price Accounting and Pro forma Information, for a discussion
of the acquisitions and related financial data. The Company is in the process of integrating Elgin and Tropicana in to our internal controls over
financial reporting. As a result of these integration activities, certain controls will be evatnated and may be changed. The Elgin and Tropicana
acquisitions constituted 37% of total assets as of December 31, 2018, and 13% of net revenues for the year then ended Decernber 31, 2018,
Excluding the Elgin Acquisition and Tropicana Acquisition, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonable likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Fldorado Resorts, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting

We have audited Eldorade Resorts, Inc.’s internal confrol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, hased on criteria established in Internal
Controb—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) {the COSO

griteria). In our opinion, Eldorado Resorts, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financiai reporting
as of December 31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Elgin Riverboat Resort -
Riverboat Casino and Tropicana Entertainment, Inc, which are included in the 2018 consolidated financial staternents of the Company and
constituted 37% of total assets as of December 31, 2018 and 13% of net revenues for the year then ended. OQur andit of internal control over
financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Elgin Riverboat Resort —
Riverboat Casino and Tropicana Entertainment, Inc.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balanee sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, stockho!ders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes and the
financial stafement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (a)(ii) of the Company and our report dated March 1, 2019 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinien

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control aver financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting included in Item $A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit, We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required 1o be independent with respect io the Company in accerdance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable ruies and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Comimission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonabie assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Chur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definifion 2ud Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external putposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that fransactions are recorded as necessary to perinit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendjtures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and {3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention oy timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control aver financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness {o future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Exnst & Young LLP

Las Vegas, Nevada
March 1, 2019

Ttem 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.
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PARTII

Ttem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governaunce. - -

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (our “Proxy Stateracnt™) to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than April 30, 2019, pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Securities Act.

We have adopted a code of ethics and business conduct applicable to all directors and employees, including the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financiat Officer and Principal Accounting Officer. The code of ethics and business conduct is posted o our website,
http:/fwww.eldoraderesorts.com (accessible through the “Corporate Governance” caption of the Investor Relations page} and a printed copy will
be delivered on request by writing to the Corporate Secretary at Eldorado Resorts, Inc., /o Corporate Sccretary, 100 West Liberty Street,
Suite 1150, Reno, NV 89501. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement regarding ceriain amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of is
code of ethics and business conduct by posting such information on our website.

Ttem 11. Executive Compensation,

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement, to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than Aprii 30, 2019, pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Acl.

Ttem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement, to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than April 30, 2019, pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Act.

Item 13. Clertain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this ftem is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement, to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than April 30, 2019, pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Act.

Ttem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference fo our Proxy Statement, to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than April 30, 2019, pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Act.
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PART IV

Ttem 15, Financial Statement Schedules. -

(a)(i) Financial Statements

Included in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Incomne for the Vears Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(ii) Financial Staternenit Schedule

Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(a)(iii) Exhibits
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EXHIBIT
NO.

ITEM TITLE

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

32

33
4.1
432

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

AT

4.8

4.9

410

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Isle of Capri Casinos, Fnc., Fidorado Resorts, Inc., Fagle I Acquisition Corp. and Eagle {1
Acquisition Company LLC, dated as of September 19, 2016 {incorperated by reference to our Current Repost on Form 8-K filed on
September 22, 2016).

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., Deita Merger Sub, Inc., GLP Capital, L.P. and Tropicana
Entertainment Inc., dated as of April 15, 2018 {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K fited on April 16, 2018).

Interest Purchase Agreement by and among MGM Elgin Sub, Inc., Illinois RBG, L..L.C., Eldorado Resorts, Inc., Elgin Holdings I LLC,
Eigin Holdings I1 LLC, ¥lgin Riverboat Resort-Riverboat Casino and MGM Resorts International, dated as of April 15, 2018
(incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-, filed on April 16, 2018).

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19,
2014).

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incotporation (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
August 7, 2018).

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorperated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8K filed on September 19, 2014).
Specimen Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to our Form S-4/A filed on April 21, 2014).

Indenture dated as of June 23, 2015, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, and Capital One, N.A., as Collateral Trustee, and Form of Note (incorporated by reference to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2013).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2015, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2023 Notes Indenture {incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement
on Form S-4 filed on January 14, 2016).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 26, 2016, by and among Fidorado Resorts, Inc,, the guarantors party therete, and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2023 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement
on Form $-4 filed on June 16, 2017).

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 16, 2017, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
11.5. Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2023 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Cusrent Report on
Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2017).

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2017, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
.S Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2023 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on
Form 8-K fifed on May 1, 2017).

Fifth Suppiemental Indenture, dated as of June 18, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thercto and
U.S. Rank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2023 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on August 7, 2018),

Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 7, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2023 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q} filed on August 7, 2018).

Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
1.8, Bank National Association, as Trustee under the 2023 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form
8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2017, by and between Isle of Capri Casinos LLC formerly known as Eagle I Acquisition Company
LLC and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 29, 2017},
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EXHIBIT
NO.

ITEM YITLE

4.11

412

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

10.1

10.2

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9%

10.10%

10.11*

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2017, by and among Eldorado Resorls, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and U.8. Bank _.
National Association {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 1, 2017).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 18, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc,, {he guarantors party thereto and
17.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2025 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on August 7, 2018).

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 7, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
.S, Bank National Association, as Trustee, under the 2025 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Fonn 10-Q filed on August 7, 2018).

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2018, by and among Eldorade Resorts, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and
15.5. Bank National Association, as Trustee under the 2025 Notes Indenture (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form
8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

Indenture dated as of September 20, 2018 by and among Delta Merger Sub, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee under
the 2026 Notes Indenture {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8K filed on September 20, 2018}.

Supplemental Indentare dated as of October 1, 2018 by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc. the guarantors party thereto and €1.S. Bank
National Association, as Trustee, under the 2026 Notes Indenture {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on October 1, 2018).

Agreement dated November 1, 2008 between Mountaineer Park, Inc. and Racetrack Employees Union Local Ne. 101 {incorporated by
reference to the Anaual Report of MTR Gaming Group, Ine. on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2009).

Agreement dated December 29, 2009 by and between Mountaineer Park, Inc. and Mountaineer Park Horsemen’s Benevolent and
Protective Association, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of MTR Gaming Group, Inc. on Form 10-K filed on
March 16, 2010}

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 17, 2018, by and between Eldorado Resorts, Inc. and
Gary Carano (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Janvary 22, 2018).

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated September 28, 2018, by and between Gary Carano and
Eldorado Resorts, Inc. {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 17, 2018, by and between Elderado Resorts, Inc. and
Thomas Reeg (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form §-K filed on Janvary 22, 2018).

Amendment No. I to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated September 28, 2018, by and between Thomas Reeg and
Eldorado Resorts, Inc. (incorporated by reference to our Current Repott on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 17, 2018, by and between Eldorado Resorts, Inc. and
Anthony Carano (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 22,2018).

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated September 28, 2018, by and between Anthony Carano
and Eldorado Resorts, Inc. {incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Gctober 1, 2018).

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 17, 2018, by and between Eldorado Resorts, Inc. and
Edmund L. Quatmann, Jr. (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2018).

2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorperated by reference to the Quarterly Report of MTR Gaming Group, Inc. on Form 10-Q filed on
August 9, 2010}
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10.13*

10.16*

10,174

10.18%

10.19*

10.20

10.21

1022

10.23

10.24

1025

10.26

10.27

16.28

10.29

1023

16.31

Form of Nongualified Stock Option Award Agreement (2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan} (incorporated by reference to the Current
Report of MTR Gaming Group, Inc. on Form &-K. filed on February 3, 2011).

Fldorado Resorts, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 o the Registration Statement on
Form S-8 filed by Eldorado Resorts, Inc. on April 3, 2015 (File No. 333-203227)).

Form of Director Non-Deferred Restricted Stock Unit Aw ard Agreement pursuant to the Eldorado Resorts, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed by Eldorade Resorts, Inc. on
July 14, 2015 (File No. 333-205654)).

Form of Director Deferred Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Eldorado Resorts, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed by Eldorado Resorts, Inc. on July 14,
2015 (File No, 333-205654)).

Yorm of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Eldorado Resorts, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (filed herewith).

Ground Lease dated as of May 19, 1999 between City of Shreveport, as landlord, and Eldorado Casine Shreveport Joint Venture
{formerly known as QNOV) as tenant {incorporated by reference fo our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015).

First Amendment to Lease Agreement made and entered into as of August 13, 2012, by and between City of Shreveport, as landlord,
and Eldorado Casino Shreveport Joint Venture {formerly known as QNOV) as tenant (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 20135).

1.ease between C, § & Y Associates, as lessor, and Fldorado Hotel Associates, as lessee, dated as of July 21, 1972 {(incorporated by
reference to our Anmual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015).

Addendum, dated as of March 20, 1973, to jease between C. § & Y Associates, as lessor, and Eldorado Hotel Associates, as lessee,
dated as of Tuly 21, 1972 (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015).

Amendment, dated as of January 1, 1978, t0 lease between C. . & Y. Associates, as lessor, and Eldorado Hotel Associates, as lessee,
dated as of July 21, 1972 (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015).

Amendment, dated as of January 31, 1985, to lease between C. S. & Y. Associates, as lessor, and Eildorado Hotel Associates, as
jessee, dated as of July 21, 1972 (incorporated by reference to our Annuai Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015).

Amendment, dated as of December 24, 1987, to lease between C. S. & Y. Associates, as lessor, and Eldorado Hotel Associates, as
lessee, dated as of Tuly 21, 1972 (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form £0-K filed on March 16,2013).

Reimbursement and Indemnification Agreement and Lease Amendment, entered into as of March 24, 1994, by and between Eldorado
Hotel Associaies Limited Partnership, and CS&Y Associates {incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
March 16, 2015).

Fourth Amendment, dated as of June 1, 2011, by and betweern Eldorado Resorts LLC and CS&Y Associates, to Reimbursement and
Indemnification Agreement and Lease Amendment, entered into as of March 24, 1994, by and between Eldorado Hotel Associates
Limited Parmership, and CS&Y Associates (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015).

Credit Agreement, dated as of Aprii 17,2017, by and among Isle of Capri Casinos LLC (ik/a Eagle 1 Acquisition Company LLC), the
Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to our Cusrent Report on
Form §-K filed on Aprit 17, 2017).

Borrower Joinder and Assumption Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, by and among Bldorado Resorts, Inc., Isle of Capri Casinos
LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed cn May 1, 2017).

Guaranty Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, by and among the guarantors party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
(incorperated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 1, 2017).
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10.32 _ Amendment Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2017, by and between the Eldorade Resorts, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase, NJA. as
Administrative Agent in connection with the Credit Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2017 (incorporated by reference te our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2017.

10.33 Amendment Agreement No. 2, dated June 6, 2018 by and between Eldorado Resorts, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase N.A., as adminisirative
agent in connection with the Credit Agresment dated as of April 17, 2017 (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on August 7, 2018).

{0.34 Amendment Agreement No. 3, dated October 1, 2018 by and between Eldorado Resoris, Inc, and JPMorgan Chase NLA., as
administrative agent in connection with the Credit Agreement dated as of April 17, 2017 (incorporated by reference to our Carrent
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

1035 Loan Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts and GLP Capital, L.P. (incerperated by reference to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

10.33 Master Lease, dated as of October |, 2018, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc. and GLP Capital L.P. (incorporated by reference to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

10.36 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, by and among Eldorado Resorts, Inc., Recreational Enterprises, Inc., GFIL
Holdings, 1.1.C and certain of its affiliates (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 1, 2017).

10.37* Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2009 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Isle of
Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2015).

10.41% Esle of Capri Casino, Inc. Form of Non-Quatified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 17, 2015). '

10.42% Isle of Capri Casino, Inc. Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Isie of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 17, 2015).

10.43* Isle of Capri Casine, Inc. Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Isie of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K. filed on June 17, 2013).

10.44 Amended and Restated Lease, dated as of April 19, 1999, among Port Resources, Ine. and CRU, Inc., as landlords and St. Charles
Gaming Company, Inc., as tenant (8t. Charies) (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on July 2, 1999).

10.45 Lease of property in Coahoma, Mississippi, dated as of Novermber 16, 1993, by and among Roger Allen Johnson, Ir., Chartes Bryant
Johnson and Magnolia Lady, Inc. (incorporated by reference to isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Form S-4/A filed on June 19, 2002).

10.46 Addendum to Lease, dated as of June 22, 1994, by and among Roger Allen Tohnson, Jr., Charles Bryant Fohnson and Magnolia Lady,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Tnc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on July 28, 2000).

§0.47 Second addendum to Lease, dated as of Octeber 17, 1995, by and among Roger Allen Johnson, Jr., Charles Bryant Johnsen and
Maggnolia Lady, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on Juky 28, 2000},

10.48 Master Lease, dated as of July 18, 1997, by and between The City of Boonville, Missouri and 10C-Boonville, Inc. formerly known as
Travis Gaming Boonville, Inc. (ircorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on July 11,
2008).

1049 Amendment to Master Lease, dated as of April 19, 1999, by and between The City of Boonville, Missouri and IOC-Boonville, Inc.
formerly known as Davis Gaming Boonville, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-
X filed on July E1, 2008).

10.50 Second Amendment to Master Lease, dated as of September 17, 2001, by and between The City of Boonville, Missouri and IOC-

Boonville, Inc. formerly known as Davis Gaming Boonville, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on Fuly 11, 2008).
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10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

10.62

10.63

10.64

10.65

Third Amendment to Master Lease, dated as of November. 19, 2001, by and between The City of Boonville, Missouri and I0C-.
Boonville, Ine. formerly known as Gold River's Boonville Resort, Inc. and Davis Gaming Boonville, Inc. (incorperated by reference to
Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed o Tuly 11, 2008).

Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated as of August 21, 1993, by and between the Port Authority of Kansas City, Missouri
and Tenant (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Anmaal Report on Form 10-K filed on June 23, 2009).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated as of October 31, 1995, by and between the Port Authority of
Kansas City, Missouri and Tenant (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annnal Report on Form 10-K filed on
Tune 25, 2009).

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated as of JTune 10, 1996, by and between the Port Authority of
Kansas City, Missouri and Tenant (incorporated by reference to Iste of Capri Casinos, Ine¢.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
June 235, 2009).

Assignment and Assumplion Agreement (Lease Agreement), dated as of June 6, 2000, by and among Flamingo Hilton Riverboat
Casino, LP, Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc, and I0C-Kansas City, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10K filed on July 11, 2008).

Lease and Agreement-Spring 1995, dated as of August 15, 1995, by and between Andrianakos Limited Liabifity Company and Isle of
Capri Black Hawk, L.1..C. {incorporated by reference to Tsle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-X filed on July 11,
2008).

Addendum to the Lease and Agreement-Spring 1995, dated as of April 4, 1996, by and between Andrianakos Limited Liability
Company and Isle of Capri Biack Hawlk, L.L.C. (incorporased by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on July 11, 2008).

Second Addendum to the Lease and Agreement-Spring 1995, dated as of March 21, 2003, by and between Andrianakos Limited
Liability Company and Isle of Capri Black Hawk, 1..L.C. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Torm 10-K filed on July 11, 2008).

“Fhird Addendum to the Lease and Agreement-Spring 1995, dated as of April 22, 2003, by and between Andrianakos Limited Liability
Company and Isle of Capri Black Hawk, L.L.C. {incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annuat Report on Form 10-K
filed on July 11, 2008).

Fourth Addendum to the Lease and Agreement-Spring 1995, dated as of December 11, 2013, by and between Andrianakos Limited
Liability Company and Isle of Capri Black Hawk, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annuai Report on
Form 10-K filed on June 23, 2014)}.

Development Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2010, by and between 10C-Cape Girardeay, L.LC and the City of Cape Girardeau,
Missouri (incorporated by reference to [sle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on December 3, 2010).

Amended and Restated Operator’s Contract, dated as of November 9, 2004, by and between Black Hawk County Gaming Association
and 10C Black Hawk County, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annval Report on Form 10-K filed on
June 23, 2014).

Operator's Contract, dated as of August 11, 1994, by and between the Riverhend Regional Authority, Green Bridge Company,
Bettendorf Riverfront Development Company, 1..C., Lady Luck Gaming Corporation and Lady Luck Bettendorf, L.C. (incorporated by
reference to Tsle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 23, 2014).

Amendment to Operator's Contract, dated as of August 27, 1998, by and among Green Bridge Company, Bettendorf Riverfront
Deveiopment Company, L.C., Lady Luck Gaming Corporation, Lady Luck Bettendorf, L.C. and Riverbend Regional Authority
(incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 23, 2014).

Second Amendment to Operator's Contract, dated as of Fune 30, 2004, by and between Isle of Capri Bettendorf, L.C. and Scott County
Regionat Authority (incorporated by reference to Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 23, 2014).
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NO. ITEM TYTLE
. 10.66 " Third Amendment to Operator's Contract, dated as of October 30, 2007, by and between Isle of Capri Bettendorf, 1..C. and Scott

County Regional Authority {incorporated by reference 1o Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annuai Report on Form 10K filed on June 23,
2014),

10.67 Fourth Amendment to Operator's Contract, dated as of March 11, 2015, by and between Isle of Capri Bettendorf, L.C. and Scott
County Regional Authority (incorporated by reference to Iste of Capri Casinos, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 17,
2015}

10.68 Amended and Restated Net Lease Agreement by and between Park Cattle Co. and Desert Palace, Inc. dated January 1, 2000.
(Incorporated by reference to the Tropicana Entertainment, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 11, 2010}

10.6%9 Amendment and Reservation of Rights Regarding MontBleu dated April 2, 2008 by and between Park Cattle Co. and Columbia
Properties Tahoe, LLC. {Incorporated by reference 1o Tropicana Entertainment Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 11,
2010}

10.70 MontBleu Lease Amendment No. 2 by and between Park Cattie Co. and Columbia Properties Tahoe, LLC, dated June 12, 2009.
{Incorporated by reference to Tropicana Entertainmrent Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 11, 2010}

10,71 MontBleu Lease Amendment No. 3 by and between the Edgewood Companies and Columbia Properties Tahoe, LLC, made effective
May 10, 2010. (Incorperated by reference to Tropicana Entertainment Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended June
30, 2010}

10.72 MontBleu Lease Amendment No. 4 by and between the Edgewood Companies, a Nevada corporation formerly known as Park Cattle
Co., and Columbia Properties Tahoe, LLC, made effective October 1, 2014, (Incorporated by reference to Tropicana Entertainment
inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014)

211 Subsidiaries of the Regjstrant {filed herewith).

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP (filed herewith).

311 Certification of Thomas R. Reeg pursuant io Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

32.1 Certification of Thomas R. Reeg in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (filed herewith).

99.1 Description of Governmental Regulations and Licensing {filed herewith).

10L.1 XBRL Instance Document

101.2 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.3 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

1014 KBRI, Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

1015 XBRI, Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.6 ¥BRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

The Company has omitted schedules and similar attachments to the subject agreement pursuant to Item 601(b) of Regulation S-K. The

Company will fornish a copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to the SEC upon request and hereby underiakes to furnish
supplemental copies of awy of the omitted schedules or similar attachments upon request by the SEC; provided, however, that the Company
may request confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act for any schedules or attachments so furnished.

* Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections-13-or-15(dy of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this reportto be -

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ELDORADO RESORTS, INC.
By: /s/ THOMAS R. REEG

Thomas R. Reeg
Chief Fxecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Dated; March 1, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

/s! THoMas R, REEG (Principal Executive Officer and Principat Financial Officer) March 1, 2019
Thomas R. Reeg and Director
/s STEPHANIE D. LEPORL . . . . L .
Stephanic D. Lepori Chief Administrative Officer (Principal Accounting Officer) March 1, 2019
/8! GARY L. CARANO Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors March 1, 2019
Gary L. Carano
s/ BONTSIE-BIQMI Director March 1, 2019
Bonnie Biumi
/s! FRANK J. FAHRENKOPF JR. .
Frank J. Fahrenkopf Ir. Director March 1, 2019
fs/ JnEs B. Hawiing Director March 1, 2019
James B. Hawkins
/sf GrEGORY J. Kozlcz Director March 1, 2019
Gregory J. Kozicz
/s! MICHAEL E. PEGRAM .
Michael E. Pogram Director March 1, 2019
/s/ DaviD P, TOMICK .
David P. Tomick Director March 1, 2019
/s/ ROGER P, WAGNER Director March 1, 2019

Roger P. Wagner
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Eldorado Resorts, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eldorado Resorts, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
reiated consolidated stalements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes and the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (a)(ii) (collectively referred to as
the “consalidated financial statements™). [n our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in ali material respects. the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company's intetnal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated March 1, 2019
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements ars the responsibility of the Company's management, Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOR.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Thosc standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond (o those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.

Las Vegas, Nevada
March 1, 2019
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FLDORADO RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands)

December 31, December 31,
_ 2018 2017
ASSETS o
CURRENT ASSETS: _ _
Cash and cash equivalents o : o $ 230,752 8 134,596 i
Restricted cash and invesiments S o o 24,892 o 3267 '
Marketable securities ' a L o - o ' 16,957 17,631
Agccounts receivable, net o o L _ 60,169 _ 45,797
Due from affiliates - _ _ : 327 243
Inventories o N o _ 20,595 16,870
Income taxes receivable _ ' : : 15,731 4,805 .
Prepaid expenses S _ _ o 48,002 27,823
Assets held for sale B ' o 155,771 —
Total current assets _ 573,156 251,032
Property and equipment, net ' : . 2,882,606 1,502,817
Gaming licenses and other intangibles, net o _ _ 1,362,006 996,816
Goodwill : o 1,008,316 747,106
Other assets, net o ' o 85,338 48,701
Total assets _ ' j _ $ 5,911,462 b 3,546 472
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES: '
_ Cuirent portion afkong-tcrm debt o o e $ . 462 % 613
- Accounts payable - 58,524 34,778
Accrucd property, gaming and other taxcs o s 83212
Accrued payroll and related ' _ ' 87,332 ; 53,330
Accrued interest . o . am0 25607
Income taxes payable S h : ' ' ' T 41415 o
 Accrued other liabilitics R R o 102982 66038
Liabilities related to assets held for sale o S 10,691 —
Total current Jiabilities ) o _ _ _ o 402,177 223,751
Long-term financing obligation to GLPI ' S _ S 959,835 -
Long-term debt, less current portion _ _ o _ _ 3,261,273 2,189,578
Deferred income taxes h - _ R ' To200,010 162,967
Other long-term labilities o - 59,014 28,579
Total liabilities o ' T - B 4882309 0 2,604,875
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common stock, 200,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares authorized, 77,438,889
and 76,825,966 issued and outstanding, net of treasury shares, par value
$0.00001 as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively _ _ 1 _ —
Paid-in capital o 748,076 746,547
Retained earnings _ o _ 290,206 194,971
Treasury stock at cost, 223,823 shares held at December 31, 2018 o T 9,131) —
~ Accumulated other comprehensive income o ) 1 75
Total stockholders’ equity -~ : ' ' ' 1,029,153 T 941,597
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 3 5,911,462 $ 3,546,472

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ELDORADO RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(déllars in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,
) 2018 2017 2016
REVENUES: N I ' : '
Casino o . . o § 1534954 $  LO0850M § 59471
Pari-mutuel commissions S : 18,437 14,013 8,544
Food and beverage . e S o N 247332 198246 155217
Hotel ' ' ' S 183,798 133,338 100,462
Other _ o N N B 71,486 50,187 44,771
Net revenues ' : ' : 2,056,007 " 1,480,798 900,465
EXPENSES: o o | | |
Casino ' o 732,580 547,438 342,433
Pari-mutuel commissions _ . 16,709 - 13,651 - 5,787
Food and beverage ' 202,618 169,848 122,598
Hotel _ _ _ 65,009 50,575 41212
Other o ' - 38,676 32,156 30,776
Marketing and promotions o L o o 106,161 _ 83,174 o 40,890
General and administrative ' _ 349,598 241,037 130,720
Corporate o _ - o o o 46,632 30,739 19,880
Tmpairment charges - ' 13,602 38,016 : —
Depreciation and amortization - _ _ 157,429 105,891 63,449
Total operating expenses . ' ' 1,726,014 1,312,525 801,745
Loss on sale or disposal of property and equipm_ent o o o o (835) 319 - (836)
Proceeds from terminated sales g : S o 5,000 20,000 —
Transaction expenses _ (20,842) (92,777) (9,184)
Loss from unconsolidated affiliates -~ - o ) - ' ) '(213) (367 —
Operating income o _ - 310,103 94,810 88,700
OTHER EXPENSE: - ' Lo o h ' - '
Interest expense, net U 7732y (99769 - (50917)
Loss on early retirement of debt, net - ' S (162) (38,430) CO(155)
Unrealized loss on restricted investment . _ _ (2,587) — —
Total other expense : o (174.481) (138,199) -~ {5L,O72)
Net income (foss) before income taxes o o - 135,622 _ (43,389) 37,628
(Provision) benefit for income taxes ' . : ' (40,387) 116,769 (13,101)
Net income $ 95235 % 73,380 & 24,527
Net income per share of common stock: ' ' o ' o . S T
Basic $ 123§ 1.9 § 0.52
Diluted S $ Y T U 051 -
Weighted average basic shares outstanding 77,458,902 67,133,531 47033311
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding C 73282101 68,102,814 47,701,562

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ELDORADO RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREBENSIVE INCOME

{dollars in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,
_ _ _ _ 2018 2017 2016
Net income SR ' - $ 95235 § 73380 8 24,527
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Defined benefit pension plan—amortization of net (loss) income, " - R

net of tax of $(1) and $36 for 2018 and 2017, respectively (78) 67 —
Other comprehensive {loss) income (18) 67 —
Comprehensive income, net of tax $ 95157 % 73447 § 24,527

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ELDORADO RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

(dollars in thousands)}

Commen Stock TFreasury Stock
Accumulated
Other
Paid-in =~ Retained Comprehensive
) ) B ) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Shares  Amount Total
Balance, December 31, 2015 ' 46817829 § — $ 170,897 § 957,551 % Co12 T — § — % 268460
Issuance of restricted stock units 217,997 e 3341 — - = — 3,341
Netincome S — — — 24527 _ — B — 24,527 .
Exercise of stock options 132900  — 385 — — — — 385
Shares withheld related o net share settlement of R ’ - ‘ o . o
stock ' ' _— : : o ' ' o
awards L (6298) — (744) — — L — 4
Ratance, December 31, 2016 47,105,744 % — $ 173,879 §$ 122078 % 12 e §  — § 2950869
Isle common stock exchanged at merger - 28,468,182 — 574,811 . — — — — 574,811
Issuance of restricted stock units 1,070,552 s 6,322 = _— — — 6,322
Other ST - — (487) — — — (487)
Netincome _ _ o e — — 73,380 — _— = 73,380
Other comprehensive income : ' — — - = - 67 ' —— &7
Exercise of stock options 1,185,745 - 290 0 0 — ) — — 2900
Shares withheld related to net share seftfement of - - ' o ' - : Lo -
awards ' - ‘ (1,004,257) —  {1L365) — — S — {11,365)
Balance, December 31, 2017 - 76,825966 &  — § 746547 § 194,971 § 79 — § — % 941597
Issuance of restricted stock umits ' " 848,737 1 13,088 — — p— — 13,084
Purchase of treasury shares = — — — — 223823  (5,131) (5,131}
Net income - ' ' - — 95235 — — —_ - 95,235
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (78) - — (78}
Exercise of stock options ~ 67,336 — 154 — - e - 154
Shares withheld related to net share settlement of
stock
awards _ _ o _ (303,150} —  (1L708) — — e o (11,708)
Balance, December 31, 2018 o 77438889 % 1 § 748076 § 290206 $ 1 223,823 $(9.131) § 1,029,153

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ELDORADO RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{dofllars in thousands)

o 1018 1017 2016
CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: ’
Net income 95,235 3 93,380 24,527
Adjustments to reconcde net income to aet cash provsded by opcratmg B ’ -
activities;
Deprecxatmn and amortization 157,429 . 103,891 63,449
Amortization of deferred financing costs, discount and deht premium 8,175 6,289 3,520
Loss on essly retirement of debt 162 38,430 155
Unreatized loss on restricied invesiment ‘2,587 — -
Stock compensation expense 13,084 4,322 3,341
Provision for bad debt 1,552 531 161
Impairment charges 13,602 38,016 —
Provision (benefi) for deferred income taxes 33,865 {112,561) £1,201
Other 1,662 723 393
Change in operating assets and fabilities:
Sale of trading securities . 674 101 e
Accounts Teceivable 6,104 (15,110) {4,874)
Inventories 596 i0s 687
Prepaid espenses and uther assels {1,215} {629) (995}
Accrued interest 1,490 10,974 (344)
Income taxes payable 6,943 (470)
Accounts pgy_al_:lc and acerued other liabilitles (18,667} {18,106) {6,349)
‘Net eash provided by operating activities 323,280 129,886 95,372
CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: o
Purchase of property and equipment, net (147,415) (83,161} (43,173)
Purchase of resiricted investments i {8,008} — —.
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . 1,602 135 1,560
MNet cash used in business combinations (1,113,227) (1,313,051} {194)
Investments in and Joans to unconsolidated affiliates {581) (604) L
Net cash used in investing activities (1,268,229) {i,3596.681) (41.807)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: .
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 846,000 2,325,000 .
Borrowings under Revolving Credit Facility 315,358 201,953 73,000
Payments under long-tarn debt — (511,875) (4,250}
Payments under Revolving Credii Facility (70,358) (236,953) {137,500)
Debt premivm proceeds - 27,500 o
Debt issuance costs (25,758) (51,526) (4,288}
Taxes paid r relaied to net share setilement of equlty awards S {1,108) {11,365) (744)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 154 2,900 385
Purchase of treasury stock (%,131) — e
Payments on other long-term payables ) {666) (533) (274}
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,043,891 1,351,101 {73.671)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 98,942 84,306 (20,106)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of i)er‘md 147,749 63,443 83,549
Cash, cash equivalents and resiricled cash, end of period 246,691 3 147,749 53,443
RECONCILIATION OF CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASHTO
AMOUNTS REPORTED WITHIN THE CGNSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
"Cash and cash equsvalenks 230,752 $ : 134,596 61,029
_ Restricted cash 8,884 3,267 2,414
Restrictad cash included in mher noacusrent assets 7,053 2,886 —
Total cash, onsh equwalcms and rcstrlcted cash 246,691 $ 147,749 $3,443
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW ]NFORMATION o . . X
Interest pmd 166,007 5 84,604 47,696
Income taxes {refumded) paid (4,134} 246 1,662
NON-CASHFINANCING ACTIVITIES: a
Net change in liabilities for capital expenditures o (2,786) 31D 4,222
Change in real properiy subject to financing cbligation (957,300) o —

Year Ended D ber 31,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ELDORADO RESORTS, INC.
 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31,2018

Note 1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Eldorado Resorts, Inc. (“ERI” or the “Company™), a Nevada
corporation formed in September 2013, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The Company is 2 geographically diversified paming and hospitality company with 28 gaming facilities in 13 states as of December 31, 2013.
The Company’s properties, which are focated in Ohio, Louisiana, Nevada, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Colorado, Florida, lowa,
Mississippi, Ilinois, Indiana and Missouri, feature approximately 30,000 slot machines and video lottery terminals (“VLTs”), approximately 800 table
games and approximately 12,600 hotel rooms. The Company’s primary source of revenue is generated by gaming operations, and the Company
utilizes its hotels, restaurants, bars, entertainment, racing, retail shops and other services to atiract customers to its properties.

The Company was founded in 1973 by the Carano family with the opening of the Eldorade Hotel Casino in Reno, Nevada. In 1993, the
Company partnered with MGM Resorts International to build Sitver Legacy Resort Casino, the first mega-themed resort in Reno. In 2005, the
Company acquired its first property outside of Reno when it purchased a casine in Shreveport, Louisiana, now known as Eidorado Shreveport. In
September 2014, the Company merged with MTR Gaming Group, Inc. and acquired its three gaming and racing facilities in Chio, Pennsylvania and
West Virginia. The following vear, in November 2015, the Company acquired Circus Circus Reno and the 50% membership interest in the Silver
Legacy that was owned by MGM Resorts International, On May 1, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.
“Isle” or “Isle of Capr™, adding 13 gaming properties to its portfolio. On August 7, 2018, the Company acquired the Elgin Riverboat Resort —
Riverboat Casino d/b/a Grand Victoria Casino (“Elgin™} (“Elgin Acquisition”). On October 1, 2018, the Company completed its acquisition of
Tropicana Entertainment, Inc, (“Tropicana™), adding seven properties to its portfolio (the “Tropicana Acquisition”).

As of December 31, 2018, ERI owned and operated the following properties:

. Eldorado Resort Casino Reno (“Eldorado Reno”)y—A §14-room hotel, casino and entertainment facitity connected via an enclosed
skywalk to Silver Legacy and Circus Reno located in downtown Rene, Nevada that includes 1,117 slot machines and 36 table games;

. Silver Legacy Resort Casino (“Silver Legacy”}—A 1,685-room themed hotel and casino connected via an enclosed skywalk to Eldorado
Reno and Circus Reno that includes 1,119 sloi machines, 48 table games and a 13-table poker room;

. Circus Circus Reno (“Circus Reno™—Aa 1,571-room hotel-casino and entertainment complex connected via an enclosed skywalk to
Eldorado Reno and Silver Legacy that includes 722 slot machines;

T Eldorado Resort Casino Shreveport (“Eldorado Shreveport”y—aA 403-room, all suite art deco-style hotel and tri-level riverboat dockside
casino situated on the Red River in Shreveport, Louisiana that includes 1,388 slot machines, 52 table games and an eight-table poker
room,

. Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack & Resort (“Mountaineer”}—A 357-room hotel, casino, entertainment and live thoroughbred horse
racing facility located on the Ohio River at the northern tip of West Virginia’s northwestern panhandle that includes 1,486 slot
machines, 36 table games and a 10-table poker room;

. Presque Isle Downs & Casino (“Presque Iste Downs™)—A casino and live thoroughbred horse racing facility with 1,590 stot machines,
32 table games and a seven-table poker room located in Erie, Pennsylvania;

. Eldorado Gaming Scioto Downs (“Scioto Downs”)—A medern “racino” offering 2,238 VLTs, harness racing and a 11 8-room third party
hotel connected to Scioto Downs located 15 minutes from downtown Columbus, Ohio,

. Isle Casino Hotel—Black Hawk (“Isle Black Hawk™)—A land-based casino on an approximately 10-acre site in Black Hawk, Colorado
that includes 966 slot machines, 28 table games, a 10-table poker room and a 238-room hotel;
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Lady Luck Casino—Black Hawk (“Lady Luck Black Hawk™}—A land-based casino across the intersection from Isle Casine Hotel in
Black Hawk Colorado, that includes 442 slot machines, seven table games and a 164-room hotel with a parking structure connecting Isle
Black Hawk and Lady Luck Black Hawk;

Isle Casino Racing Pompano Park (“Pompano™)—A casino and harness racing track on an approximately 223-acre owned site in
Pompano Beach, Florida that includes 1,596 siot machines and a 39-table poker room,

Isle Casino Bettendorf (“Bettendorf”}—A land-based single-level casine located off Interstate 74 in Bettendorf, Jowa that includes 969
slot machines and 15 table games with two hotel towers with 509 hotel rooms;

Isle Cagino Waterloo (“Waterloo™)—A single-level land-based casino in Waterloo, fowa that includes 939 slot machines, 23 table
games, and a 194-room hotel;

Isle of Capri Casino Hotel Lake Charles (“Lake Charles”}—A gaming vessel on an approximately 19-acre site in Lake Charles, Louisiana,
with 1,164 slot machines, 34 table games, 11 poker tables, and two hotels offering 493 rooms;

Isle of Capri Casino Lula (“Lule”)}—Two dockside casinos in Lula, Mississippt with 862 slot machines and 25 table games, two on-site
hotels with a total of 486 rooms and a 28-space RV Park;

Lady Luck Casino Vicksburg (“Vicksburg™—A dockside casino in Vicksburg, Mississippt that includes 607 slot machines and a hotel
with a total of 89 rooms;

Isie of Capri Casino Boonville (“Boonville”}—A single-level dockside casino in Boonvilte, Missouri that includes 881 slot machines, 20
table games and a 140-room hotel;

Isle Casino Cape Girardeau (“Cape Girardeauw”—A dockside casino and pavilion and entertainment center in Cape Girardeau, Missouri
that includes 863 siot machines, 20 table games and four poker tables;

Lady Luck Casino Caruthersville (“Caruthersville”y—A riverboat casino located atong the Mississippi River in Caruthersville, Missouri
that includes 507 slot machines and nine table games;

Isle of Capri Casino Kansas City (“Kansas City”}—A. dockside casino located close to downtown Kansas City, Missouri offering 938
slot machines and 13 table games;

Lady Luck Casino Nemacolin (“Nemacolin”™}—A casino property located on the 2,000-acre Nemacolin Woodlands Resort in Western
Pennsylvania that includes 600 slot machines and 28 table games;

Tropicana Casine and Resort, Atlantic City (“Trop AC™)}—A casino and resort situated on approximately 15 acres with approximately
660 feet of ocean frontage in Atlantic City, New Jersey that includes approximately 2,464 slot machines, 107 table games, 18 poker tables
and 2,366 hotel rooms;

Tropicana Evansville (“Evansville™}—A casino hotel and entertainment complex in Evangville, Indiana featuring 1,128 slot machines, 33
_ table games, eight poker tables and two on-site hotels with a total of 338 rooms;

Lumigre Place Casino (“Lumiére”)—A casino located on approximately 20 acres, located in historic downtown St. Louis, Missouri near
business and entertainment districts and overlooks the Mississippi River with approximately 1,401 slot machines, 48 table games, 10
poker tables and 494 hotel rooms;

Tropicana Laughlin Hotel and Casino (“Laughlin”}—A casino in Casino Drive, Laughlin, Nevada that includes approximately 895 slot
machines, 20 table games and 1,487 hotel rooms;

MontBleu Casino Resort & Spa (“MontBlew)--A casine situated on approximately 21 acres in South Lake Tahoe, Nevada surrounded
by the Sierra Nevada Mountains featuring approximately 474 slot machines, 17 table games and 438 hotel rooms;

Trop Casino Greenvitle (“Greenville”}—A landside gaming facility located in Greenville, Mississippi with approximately 590 slot
machines, 10 table games and 40 hotel rooms;

Belle of Baton Rouge Casino & Hotel (“Baton Rouge™)—A dockside riverboat situated on approximately 23 acres on the Mississippi
River in the downtown historic district of Baton Rouge featuring approximately 773 slot machines, 14 table games and 288 hotel reoms;
and

Grand Victoria Casino (“Elgin’}-—A casino located in Elgin, Ylinois featuring approximately 1,088 slot machines and 30 table games.
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In addition, Scioto Downs, through its subsidiary RacelineBet, Inc., also operates Racelinebet.com, a national account wagering service that
offers online and telephone wagering on horse races as a markeling affiliate of TwinSpires,com, an affiliate of Churchifl Downs Incorporated.

The Company sold Presque Isle Downs in J anuary 2019 and has entered into an agreement to sell Nemacolin. Fhe Nemacolin sale is
expected to close in the first quarter of 2019 (See Note 5),

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company as described in
Note 1. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financiai statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and Habilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and Habilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Significant estimates incorperated into the Company’s consolidated financial statements include useful lives for depreciable and
amortizable assets, allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, cash flows in assessing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment and the recoverability of long-lived assets, self-insurance reserves, players’ loyalty program liabilities, contingencies and litigation,
claims and assessments, and fair value measurements related o the Company’s long-term debt. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Cash equivalents include investments in money market funds. Investments can be redeemed immediately at
the current net asset value per share. A money market fund is a mutual fund whose investments are primarily in short-term debt securities desi gned
to maximize current income with liquidity and capital preservation, usually maintaining per share net asset value at a constant amount, such as one
dollar. Cash and cash eguivalents also include cash maintained for gaming operations. The carrying amounts approximate the fair value because of
the short maturity of those instruments (Level 1).

Restricted Cash and Investments. Restricted cash includes cash and certificates of deposit; restricted investments consist primarily of
trading securities hetd by the Company’s captive insurance subsidiary. The trading securities are primarily debt and equity securities that are
purchased with the intention to resell in the near term. The trading securities are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in current
period income. Balances are reserved for unredeemed winning tickets from the Company’s racing operations, funds related to horsemen’s fines
and certain simulcasting funds that are restricted to payments for improving horsemen’s facilities and racing purses, cash deposits that serve as
collateral for letters of credit, surety bonds and certificates of deposit that serve as collateral for certain bonding requirements, and serve as
security for certain insurance coverage and land leases. In addition, the Company helds shares in a publicly traded company with a time restriction
on when they can be sold. The restriction expires in November 2019,

The estimated fair values of our restricted cash and investments are based upon quoted prices available in active markets (Level 1), or
quoted prices for similar assets in active and inactive markets {Level 2), or unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data (Level 3)
and represent the amounts we would expect to receive if we sold our restricted cash and investments. Restricted cash and investments are reported
on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Other assets, net.

Marketable Securities. Marketable securities consist primarily of trading sccurities held by the Company’s captive insurance subsidiary.
The trading securities are primarily debt and equity securities that are purchased with the intention to resetl in the near term. The trading securities
are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in current period income. ¥or the year ended December 3 1, 2018, we recorded a $43,000
loss refated to the change in fair value which is included in corporate expenses in the accompanying statements of income.

CRDA Investments. The New Jersey Casino Reinvestment Development Authority (“CRDA™) cash deposits made by Trop AC are carried at
fair value. The CRDA deposits are used to purchase CRDA bonds that carry below market interest rates. An allowance is established by a charge
to the Consolidated Statements of Income as part of general and administrative expense. When the CRDA deposits are used to purchase CRDA
bonds, the allowance is transferred to the bonds as a discount, which is amortized to interest income using the interest method. The CRDA honds
are classified as held-to-maturity securities and are carried at amortized cost less any adjustments for other than temporary impairments.
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